
  
 
 

Principal Scrutiny Adviser: 
Rob Clayton 
Tel: 37 88790 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES) 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on 

Monday, 22nd July, 2024 at 10.30 am 
 

(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 10.00 a.m.) 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
E Carlisle - Hunslet and Riverside; 

A Carter - Calverley and Farsley; 

D Chapman - Rothwell; 

B Flynn - Adel and Wharfedale; 

P Grahame - Cross Gates and Whinmoor; 

S Hamilton - Moortown; 

T Hinchcliffe - Bramley and Stanningley; 

A Khan (Chair) - Burmantofts and Richmond Hill; 

W Kidger - Morley South; 

A Parnham - Armley; 

E Thomson - Guiseley and Rawdon; 

C Timmins - Calverley and Farsley; 

Note to observers of the meeting: We strive to ensure our public committee meetings 
are inclusive and accessible for all. If you are intending to observe a public meeting in 
person, please advise us in advance by email (FacilitiesManagement@leeds.gov.uk) of 
any specific access requirements, or if you have a Personal Emergency Evacuation Plan 
(PEEP) that we need to consider. Please state the name, date and start time of the 
committee meeting you will be observing and include your full name and contact details.  
 
To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the ‘View the Meeting Recording’ link 
which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead of the meeting. 
 

Council and democracy (leeds.gov.uk) 
 

Public Document Pack

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1041&MId=12714


 

B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded). 
 
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of 
an appeal must be received in writing by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting). 
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 
resolution:- 
 

RESOLVED – That the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows: 

 
 No exempt items have been identified. 
 

 



Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 
C 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration. 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes.) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
To disclose or draw attention to any interests in 
accordance with Leeds City Council’s ‘Councillor 
Code of Conduct’. 
 

 

5   
 

  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND 
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES 
 
To receive any apologies for absence and 
notification of substitutes. 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES - 17 JUNE 2024 
 
To confirm as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting held on 17 June 2024. 
 

7 - 16 

7   
 

  FINANCIAL HEALTH MONITORING 2023/24 -  
OUTTURN FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 
MARCH 2024 AND FINANCIAL HEALTH 
MONITORING 2024/25 - QUARTER 1 
 
To consider a report from the Head of Democratic 
Services providing the Board with the latest update 
on the in year financial position in respect of the 
Revenue Budget and the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) and the financial outturn position 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2024 
(financial year 2023/24). 
 
(Please note Appendix 2 to follow as a 
supplementary item) 
 

17 - 
90 



Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 
D 

8   
 

  INTEGRATED DIGITAL SERVICE UPDATE 
 
To consider a report from the Chief Digital 
Information Officer providing an update on IDS 
Digital Strategy and progress made within the 
service since IDS last reported to the Strategy & 
Resources Scrutiny Board in 2021. 
 

91 - 
102 

9   
 

  BEING OUR BEST - ORGANISATION PLAN 
REFRESH 
 
To receive a report from the Director of Strategy 
and Resources setting out details on the Council’s 
Being Our Best Organisation Plan refresh. 
 
(Please note Appendices 1 and 2 to follow as a 
supplementary items) 
 

103 - 
106 

10   
 

  WORK PROGRAMME 
 
To consider the Scrutiny Board’s work programme 
for the 2024/25 municipal year. 
 

107 - 
128 

11   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
The next public meeting of the Board will take 
place on 16 September 2024 at 10.30am. There 
will be a pre-meeting for all board members at 
10.00am. 
 

 



Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

 
E 

   THIRD PARTY RECORDING 
 
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those 
not present to see or hear the proceedings either as 
they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of 
those proceedings.  A copy of the recording protocol is 
available from the contacts on the front of this agenda. 
 
Use of Recordings by Third Parties – code of practice 
 

a) Any published recording should be 
accompanied by a statement of when and 
where the recording was made, the context 
of the discussion that took place, and a clear 
identification of the main speakers and their 
role or title. 

b) Those making recordings must not edit the 
recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the 
proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be no 
internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at 
any point but the material between those 
points must be complete. 

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 22nd July, 2024 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (STRATEGY AND RESOURCES) 
 

MONDAY, 17TH JUNE, 2024 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor A Khan in the Chair 

 Councillors E Carlisle, D Chapman, 
S Hamilton, T Hinchcliffe, W Kidger, 
A Parnham, K Renshaw, S Seary, 
E Thomson and C Timmins 

 
CHAIR'S OPENING REMARKS 
 
Before moving on to the formal meeting agenda the Chair, Cllr Khan, put on 
record his thanks for the work of past members of the Board who have either 
stepped down from public office or moved to other boards, and also 
welcomed new board members for the 2024/25 municipal year. 
 
 

102 Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents  
 

There were no appeals. 
 
 

103 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 

There was no exempt information. 
 

104 Late Items  
 

There were no late items. 
 
 

105 Declaration of Interests  
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

106 Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes  
 

Apologies were received from: 
 
Cllr Billy Flynn, with Cllr Simon Seary as substitute 
Cllr Pauleen Grahame, with Cllr Karen Renshaw as substitute 
Cllr Andrew Carter 
Cllr Debra Coupar 
 
 
 

107 Minutes - 25 March 2024  

Public Document Pack

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 22nd July, 2024 

 

 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 25 March 
2024, be approved as an accurate record. 
 
 
MATTERS ARISING 
 
The Principal Scrutiny Adviser raised the following matters arising from the 
March meeting of the Board: 
 
Min 96 – On Procurement the Board were asked to note that in line with the 
25 March minutes, procurement has been added to the draft work programme 
which is considered in more detail at item 9. 
Min 97 – Similarly IDS Service Desk features in the draft work programme in 
line with the March 2024 minutes. 
Min 98 – The Statement on workforce Equality Diversity and Inclusion that 
was approved by the Board in March is due to be considered by the Executive 
Board this Summer in line with scrutiny board procedure rules. 
 
 

108 Co-Opted Members  
 

RESOLVED – That the options for appointments of co-opted members to the 
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) are noted. 
 
 

109 Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference  
 

The Board received a report from the Head of Democratic Services, which 
presented the terms of reference for the Scrutiny Board (Strategy & 
Resources).  
 
In attendance for this item were:  
 

 Mariana Pexton - Director of Strategy and Resources  

 John Mulcahy - Chief Officer Elections and Regulatory  

 Rob Clayton - Principal Scrutiny Advisor  
 
The Director of Strategy and Resources provided a presentation which 
introduced the services that are in the Directorate and fall under the Board’s 
remit.  
 
Challenges and opportunities for the council as a whole and the Directorate 
were identified as: demographic changes that will be described in the 
upcoming Joint Strategic Needs assessment, continuing impacts of Covid-19 
especially on inequality and demand for services, increases in cost of living 
pressures, increased demand for services as well as increased complexity of 
issues within communities, financial challenges and efficiencies and an 
increase in Section 114 notices issued by other local authorities, embedding 
digital approaches, improving customer experience, recruitment and retention, 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 22nd July, 2024 

 

workloads and burnout, collaboration between services and organisations 
including the anchor network through the Team Leeds approach, managing 
major risks such as safeguarding, cyber threats and major incidents.  
 
The Director noted the positive comments made through the recent Peer 
Challenge, as well as the recommendations made by the Peer Review and 
also provided the strategic context for the work delivered by the council and 
within the Directorate. The Best City Ambition (BCA) underpins the three 
pillars; inclusive growth, health & wellbeing and zero carbon. With the 
Organisational Plan (which will feature at the July Board meeting) being the 
main planning document for the council and a key strategy document for the 
authority including setting out manager expectations. 
 
It was also noted that the BCA is a city-wide approach not just unique to the 
Council. The BCA underwent a refresh in 2023/24 with updates made to the 
Health and Well Being Strategy and Inclusive Growth Strategy along with 
updates messaging linked to Net Zero. Other changes included embedding 
the Marmot work as a key way of tackling inequality in the city as well as 
sharpening Team Leeds descriptions. 
 
The Director of Strategy and Resources provided an oversight into how the 
Directorate works. The following services are delivered from within the 
Strategy & Resources Directorate’s with staffing levels at around 5,000 
working in the services listed;  
• Front line services often provided to the most vulnerable, alongside 

organisational leadership for key support services such as business 
administration.  

• Civic Enterprise Leeds – including facilities management, passenger 
transport, catering, fleet, building and cleaning. 

• Integrated Digital Service – digital & technology strategy, digital change & 
inclusion and data analytics.  

• Legal, Democratic & Information Governance - legal advice across 
council, democratic and governance services including member support, 
information governance, committee support and the Lord Mayor’s office. 

• Financial - budget, financial monitoring, treasury management, internal 
audit, council tax, business rates, core business transformation. 

• Freedom to Speak Up Guardian. 
• Human Resources including equality, diversity and inclusion, and health 

and safety.  
• Business Administration and Business Support Centre (including Payroll).  

 
The Chief Officer Elections and Regulatory provided an overview of services 
that fall under the Board’s remit; 
• Entertainment licensing – licensing committee sets policy, licensing 

subcommittees make majority of decisions where representations 
received, personal licence holders, premises licenses, TENS, gambling 
and other licensable activities such as scrap metal  

• Registrars – births, marriages and civil partnerships, deaths, citizenships  
• Elections – conducting all polls, maintaining the register of electors. This 

service reported to scrutiny in 2023/24 on the introduction of voter ID.  

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 22nd July, 2024 

 

• Taxi and private hire licensing – licencing committee agrees policy, most 
decisions made by officers, Private Hire (PH) operators, PH vehicle 
proprietors, PD drivers, HC proprietors, HC drivers  

• Land and property search services – Local land charges, searches, street 
registration – dealing with property inquiries linked to transactions and 
purchases and on street registration. 

 
Resolved – The Board noted the Terms of Reference as they relate to the 
Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) and further noted the remit of the 
board as set out through presentation. 
 
 

110 Sources of Work and Draft Work Programme 2024/25  
 

The Board received a report from the Head of Democratic Services on 
potential sources of work for the Scrutiny Board and an initial draft work 
programme for the 2024/25 municipal year. 
 
The Principal Scrutiny Adviser introduced the report and highlighted the focus 
on adding value through scrutiny and on pre-decision scrutiny where 
appropriate as a positive way of working and on making the biggest impact 
from a scrutiny perspective. 
 
In response to questions, the following points were covered: 
 

 In response to a question on external partners the Board were informed 
that the scrutiny function has made some initial links with the University of 
Leeds but that there is a possibility of seeking wider expertise from other 
sources and this will be done as opportunity arises. 

 The Board expressed an interest in receiving an update from Civic 
Enterprise Leeds in 2024/25 and the scrutiny adviser said that this will be 
factored into the work programme for the next meeting. 

 The Core Business Transformation work was also highlighted as a 
possible area of work and depending on timing it was agreed that this will 
be brought forward during 2024/25 either as an update item for comment 
or pre-decision, if that is possible. 

 Board members were keen to understand how the Council captures the 
voices of young people and on the 12 wishes in the Children and Young 
People’s Plan. In response the Board were informed that whilst 
consultation sits in the remit of this Board, it would be better to be 
captured by the Children and Families Board through links being 
developed with the Voice and Influence Team by that scrutiny board. 

 
Resolved - Members noted the information and guidance provided within the 
report when considering potential areas for scrutiny for the forthcoming 
municipal year and noted the draft work programme provided at appendix 2. 
 
 

111 Performance Report  
 

Page 10



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 22nd July, 2024 

 

The Board considered a report from the Director of Strategy and Resources 
which presents a summary of performance data relating to Council and city 
priorities that fall within the remit of the Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 
including coverage of Office for Local Government (OFLOG) indicators. 
 
In attendance for this item were 
 

 Mariana Pexton, Director of Strategy and Resources 

 Emma Kamillo-Price, Senior Intelligence and Policy Officer 

 Richard Ellis, Deputy Chief Finance Officer 

 Lisa Colver, Head of Health, Safety and Well-Being 
 
The Senior Intelligence and Policy Officer introduced the item setting out the 
twice yearly reporting approach, the OFLOG indicators and that performance 
covers quarter 4 from 2023/24. 
 
The following key points were highlighted: 
 

 Healthy Workforce - showing a small increase in absence rates and also 
that long-term sickness accounts for between 65% and 70% of all time 
lost through sickness. 

 Gender pay gap – this has dropped since the last reporting period to 
3.4%. 

 Customer complaints – performance in some directorates remains below 
target albeit it this is up on the previous year’s Quarter 4 position. 

 Information Management and Governance – both targets have been met 
and performance is improving with a target of 95% having been set for 
future performance. 

 OFLOG – where the metrics have been established these are covered in 
today’s report, but as further metrics are announced these will be built into 
scrutiny performance reporting based on where they fall in terms of board 
remits. 

 
Responding to comments and questions from board members the following 
areas were discussed: 
 

 Board members requested comparison with previous year’s performance 
where it is possible and where it would add value in terms of analysis and 
spotting changes and trends. The Board were informed that this will be 
looked into for the next report where that yearly comparison is possible, 
some indicators would not be as suitable to this type of approach.  

 Members also asked about comparison with other authorities and core 
cities and around musculoskeletal sickness absence which is increasing. 
On the comparison issue, this will be looked at for the next report in 
January, on musculoskeletal conditions members were informed that this 
issue sits in the ergonomic work stream (within the Health and Safety 
work) and that joint work is ongoing across services to make more data 
informed choices to tackle the issue. In addition, work is ongoing to 

Page 11



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 22nd July, 2024 

 

develop a musculoskeletal toolkit for priority services which will offer free 
training and will be launched next year. 

 The Board inquired about SENSAP service complaints and delays in 
EHCPs being delivered linked to education psychologists (EPs). Members 
had concerns about delays and complaints within this service and the 
impacts on families. In response the Board heard that this issue has been 
picked up by the Children and Families Scrutiny Board who conducted a 
scrutiny inquiry on the provision of EHCP Support in Leeds, with plans 
also for these issues to be considered through a report to Executive 
Board in June that builds on previous reports in October and December 
2023. On EPs the board heard that there has been a national shortage of 
these staff and that more widely demand for EHCP support is a national 
issue that has increased significantly in recent years. 

 The Board asked about long-term sickness and whether waiting times for 
health treatment being experienced by the public are impacting long-term 
sickness for LCC colleagues. This will be taken away with a view to 
seeing if there is any data available to assist with the query. 

 In relation to KPI 1 the board asked about city wide disability data and the 
gap between city demographics and the workforce the Council has. In 
response it was noted that work is ongoing with recruitment processes 
through HR and the staff networks to remove barriers and to also support 
disabled colleagues to progress more. It was also noted that the DAWN 
Network supports disabled colleagues through their employment at the 
Council and as a specific example support disabled colleagues through 
the provision of reasonable adjustments. 

 The Board wanted to hear more about how staff are supported to 
progress at the Council. The Be Your Best Manager Programme has 
been introduced to support managers and provide training, coaching and 
shadowing opportunities. In addition, the appraisal process is aimed at 
drawing out personal development requirements and trying to support 
staff to meet their career ambitions. The Council has also launched the 
Aspiring Leaders Programme with a detailed training and support 
programme to support their development. 

 The Board welcomed the support for managers as set out. However, 
there was also concern that support should be given to staff more 
generally. In response the Board heard that the appraisal process is there 
to support staff development and that appraisal completion rates are good 
albeit there is work to do and support for managers will help in improving 
appraisals and ensuring that all staff receive a quality appraisal. 

 On support for local businesses members asked about longer-term trends 
on contractual engagement with Leeds businesses. It was noted that 
procurement is on the work programme, and it will come through as part 
of that item but also that, if available, a note will be provided on that to the 
Board. 

 Board members expressed an interest in hearing more about the 
improvements that have taken place in Information Management and 
Governance and that this should feature on the work programme for the 
board this municipal year, whilst recognising this also features on the 
Corporate Governance and Audit work programme annually. 

 

Page 12



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 22nd July, 2024 

 

Resolved – The Board noted the performance information contained in 
Appendix 1, and where appropriate highlighted areas for further scrutiny. 
 
 

112 Employee Mental Health and Well Being  
 

Members considered a report from the Director of Strategy and Resources 
setting out the Council’s approach to employee mental health and well-being 
support. This follows consideration of these issues in 2023/24 and a request 
for further updates to the Board. 
 
In attendance for this item were: 
 

 Mariana Pexton, Director of Strategy and Resources 

 Lisa Colver, Head of Health, Safety and Well-Being 
 
To introduce the item the Board heard a presentation from the Head of 
Health, Safety and Well-Being, which covered the following points: 
 

 Bringing the vision for Health, Safety and Well Being to life in the 
workplace through additional well-being advisers, business partnering 
arrangements with chief officers, Director engagement with personal 
pledges to take action and the use of toolkits to facilitate support to staff. 

 Positive examples of good work being developed on the ground across a 
range of services for example in the Care Delivery Service has a "men 
working in care" support group and in City Development face to face 
sessions for 120 depot staff on a whole range of topics including 
neurodiversity, stress, and mental health support. 

 On Well Being the Board heard about Promote, Prevent, Support 
approaches focussing on leadership accountability, developing the 
workplace wellbeing community of champions and enhancing the 
management training offer. 

 On Mental Health, joining up internal mental health experts through the 
Mental Health Action Group, developing and supporting our community of 
Mental Health First Aiders and preventing and supporting mental health-
related sickness absence were emphasised. 

 
In response to questions and comments from Board members the following 
was discussed: 
 

 Members wanted to know if approaches to tackle staff absence were 
working across all services given that staff absence has increased based 
on the data provided in the performance report. In response the Board 
heard that some services are performing better but that in areas where 
additional support is needed this is provided. It was noted that 
approaches on health and safety and on well-being can take time to 
embed but through the business partnering approach and the additional 
support approach, positive changes are being and will continue to be 
delivered. 

Page 13



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 22nd July, 2024 

 

 Members were concerned that Mental Health First Aiders (MHFA) may 
not be represented across all services and whether efforts are made to fill 
any gaps where there are not any trained MHFAs, a suggestion being that 
they could work across services or directorates. In response, an 
assurance was provided that colleagues can seek support from any 
MHFA rather than just one within their service area. It was noted that 
there are some gaps and work is ongoing to fill those and to provide 
addition mental health first aiders where job demands make them more 
necessary. The role played by mental health first aiders was recognised 
as being hugely valuable to the Council along with the mental health first 
aid trainer who works for the Council. On a wider note, the Board were 
informed that the team attended extended BCLT this week about well-
being and promoted the role of mental health first aiders and to 
emphasise the need to have enough of them, and that training is available 
in house for staff that are interested in the role. 

 The Board asked about mid-year appraisals and whether not having them 
in 2023/24 was a missed opportunity in terms of addressing health and 
well-being issues given that they are key parts of the appraisal process. 
The Board heard that a key reason for not doing mid-year appraisals was 
to balance workloads and to reduce pressure on staff and managers as a 
result of wider workload pressures resulting from budget challenges. 
There is an ongoing commitment to well-being through regular one to 
ones. In the past consideration had been given to a one size fits all 
approach to one-to-one supervision but given the diversity and complexity 
of the council in terms of services it was believed it would not work. Re-
introducing mid-year appraisals will be considered in the future and staff 
communications regularly emphasise the importance of well-being 
discussion in one to ones and the availability of support for staff through 
the Vivup service and other support measures. 

 Responding to questions on management development the Board heard 
about the Council’s approach to supporting and developing managers 
through the Be Your Best Manager programme. This is a key support 
programme offering training in key areas such as relationship building, 
project management and how to manage workload pressures in addition 
to key areas of focus such as equality, diversity and inclusion and training 
to support embedding EDI principles in the workforce. 

 The Board heard about accessibility to staff survey results for managers 
to understand how their staff are feeling, this was available to managers 
through the dashboard that was demonstrated to the previous scrutiny 
board, and enabled more detailed analysis of survey results, whilst still 
retaining anonymity. It was also noted that the Board heard in detail about 
staff survey results last year and it might be that a further update is 
brought back on the Be Your Best Manager Programme, in 2024/25 there 
is a focus on health, safety and well-being. 

 In response to member queries around comparison and collaboration with 
other local authorities the Board were informed that work is developing in 
this area particularly in respect of occupational health with positive 
relationships developing with other Councils on mental health support, 
stress and workloads. In addition, the use of data is an area for future 

Page 14



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Monday, 22nd July, 2024 

 

development and that later in the municipal year more could be brought to 
the Board from a data perspective. 

 
 
Resolved – The Board noted the content of the report and the ongoing work 
and progress to promote positive workplace mental health and wellbeing. 
 
 

113 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 

The next public meeting of the Board will take place on 22 July 2024 at 
10.30am. There will be a pre-meeting for all board members at 10.00am 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



 
 

 

 

Brief summary 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendations 

a) Members are asked to note the content of the report and appendices within the wider Board 

remit linked to financial sustainability and long-term budgetary robustness.  

b) Board members are also asked to highlight any future areas of scrutiny work should any 

arise during discussion of this item. 

 

 

 

 

Financial Health Monitoring 2023/24 -  Outturn Financial Year Ended 31 
March 2024 and Financial Health Monitoring 2024/25 – Quarter 1  

Date: 22 July 2024 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Rob Clayton 

Tel: 0113 378 8790 

Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has a standing commitment to monitor financial 
performance throughout the financial year as part of its remit and to identify emerging issues 
and suggest alternative approaches as appropriate.  
 
Appendix 1 to this report provides the outturn position for the financial year 2023/24. This 
covers the 2023/24 revenue and capital budgets, the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), the 
Schools Budget and the Council Tax and Business Rates Collection Fund. This will be 
provided as a supplementary item due to publication of the Executive Board papers taking 
place after the publication deadline for this meeting. 
 
Appendix 2 provides details on Quarter 1 performance in the current financial year (2024/25) 
which is due to be considered at Executive Board on 24 July 2024 featuring an update on 
budgetary performance in respect of the revenue budget and HRA. Due to publication 
deadlines, and the fact that Executive Board takes place two days after the meeting of this 
board, this appendix will be circulated as a supplementary item once it is published.  
 
The role of scrutiny as a ‘critical friend’ on financial performance and management contributes 

to supporting the Best City Ambition in ensuring a sustainable and robust financial position 

from which to deliver against the objectives set out in the Three key pillars. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



What is this report about?  

1 Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has several key financial functions within its remit. 

These include scrutiny of the Council’s functions with regard to the setting of the Budget and the 

Council’s financial Strategy, i.e. ensuring effective financial management and controls; setting, 

supporting and monitoring the Council’s policies and procedures for budgets; administering 

effective financial management and controls; and setting, supporting and monitoring the 

Council’s financial strategy. As a consequence, the Board closely monitors financial 

performance as part of its remit. Appendix 1 provides the financial outturn position for the 

2023/24 financial year and Appendix 2 provides latest financial health monitoring report for 

2024/25.  

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

2 Scrutiny Board Strategy and Resources has a clear interest in the financial health of the 

authority established through its remit. Ongoing scrutiny of budgetary matters will support the 

Council in terms of budgetary robustness and long-term sustainability and will support the 

delivery of the three pillars contained in the Best City Ambition. 

 

3 The Vision for Scrutiny agreed by full Council sets out the nationally agreed four principles of 

good scrutiny. Within these is a commitment to ‘Promote Scrutiny as a means by which the 

voice and concerns of the public can be heard.’ Given the concern linked to financial difficulty 

being experienced across the public sector this item has a clear reference point in terms of 

addressing those concerns from a Leeds perspective. 

 

How does this proposal impact the three pillars of the Best City Ambition? 

☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Zero Carbon 

4 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards continue to promote a strategic and outward 

looking Scrutiny function that focuses on the Best City Ambition.  

 

5 Having a robust and sustainable budgetary position will enable the Council to deliver against its 

priorities including the three key pillars set out above. 

 

6 The Council manages its budget through the context of the Best City Ambition, the Council’s 

strategic plan which sets out the ambitions, outcomes and priorities for the city of Leeds and for 

the local authority. 

 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

 

7 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation. 
  

8 The Authority’s Financial Strategy is driven by its ambitions and priorities as set out in the Best 
City Ambition. The determination of these ambitions was subject to consultation with Members 
and officers throughout its development, with additional extensive stakeholder consultation 
carried out on the range of supporting plans and strategies. 

 
 
 

Wards affected:  

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☒ No 

 

Page 18



What are the resource implications? 

9 All resource implications are detailed in appendices to this report. 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?  

10 As noted when the Scrutiny Board considered the Annual Corporate Risk report in December 
2023, the risk of the in year financial position being in deficit and the Council being unable to 
balance the Medium-Term Financial Strategy were rated ‘very high’, reflecting the wider 
national context and the uncertainty of funding for future years. 
 

What are the legal implications? 

11 The council has a statutory duty to ensure that it maintains a balanced budget and to take any 
remedial action as required in year.  
 

Appendices 

• Appendix 1: Financial Health Monitoring 2023/24 -  Outturn Financial Year Ended 31 March 

2024 (considered at Executive Board on 19 June 2024). 

• Appendix 2 - Financial Health Monitoring 2024/25 – Quarter 1 (due to be considered at 

Executive Board on 24 July 2024 and to be circulated to board members as a 

supplementary item) 

 

 

Background papers 

• None 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

 

Ed we will 

 

Financial Health Monitoring 2023/24 - Outturn financial year ended 31st March 2024 

Date: 19th June 2024 

Report of: Chief Officer - Financial Services 

Report to: Executive Board 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☒ Yes  ☐ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Brief summary 
 

 

Report author: Victoria Bradshaw 

Tel: 88540 

1. The purpose of this report is to update the Executive Board on financial performance against the 2023/24 
revenue and capital budgets, which have targeted resources towards the council’s strategic priorities as set 
out in the Best City Ambition whilst also supporting our ongoing journey to strengthen the authority’s financial 
resilience and sustainability. The report also updates the Board on the outturn position in respect of the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA), the Schools Budget and the Council Tax and Business Rates Collection 
Fund. For full details, please refer to appendices 1 to 6 to this report. 

2. At Outturn a balanced position for the General Fund is reported, following the application of reserves as set 
detailed in Paragraph 1 at Appendix 1. This includes the use of the £17.7m WYCA refund agreed in October 
2023, and £5.2m from the Merrion House reserve.  

3. Although this overall position represents no variation from the position reported to the Board in April, 
variations in directorate positions are detailed in Appendix 1. Where Directorates have identified an 
overspend, any savings actions implemented to mitigate these pressures are included in the reported 
overspend position. Any ongoing pressures identified in the current year have been built into the 2024/25 
budget.   

4. The budget for 2023/24 required delivery of £58.6m of savings, with £7.2m of in year savings also identified. 
At Outturn, £50.6m of savings have either been delivered or mitigating actions found with £15.2m of planned 
savings not delivered, primarily due to the delayed delivery of savings within Children’s social care. Further 
details are provided in Paragraph 1 of Appendix 1 and detailed Budget Action Plans are provided at Appendix 
3.   

5. Increased inflation and the rising cost of living, including the unfunded 2023/24 agreed pay award, have been 
incorporated into this reported financial Outturn position. The position incorporates the work undertaken 
during the year to review the highest cost / spend areas (notably Children Looked After, Transport and Leeds 
Building Services) and to secure in-year savings and maximise income. The position also reflects the 
continued freeze on recruitment, agency and overtime spend originally introduced in 2022/23 and the freeze 
on non-essential spend. 

6. The budget assumed planned use of capital receipts flexibilities, Invest to Save and Innovation funding and 

Covid backlog funds to support transformation and the delivery of savings and to support services with the 

ongoing impact of COVID-19. Paragraph 3 of Appendix 1 updates the Board on planned spend in 2023/24 

and Appendix 4 provides more detail regarding the use of Flexible Capital Receipts. 

 

7. Collection Fund variances since declaration are as follows: a Business Rates improvement of £3.0m and a 
Council Tax shortfall of £2.7m arising in 2023/24 which will impact on the Revenue Budget in 2025/26. 

8. This report provides the Board with an update on the reserves positions for the General Fund, schools and the 
HRA at Outturn for the 2023/24 year. Overall reserves balances have reduced by £44.5m since 1st April 
2023. 

9. The Outturn for the year on the HRA shows a net underspend of £0.9m when compared against the 
2023/24 budget. This underspend will be transferred to HRA reserves giving a balanced position.  

 

 

10.  Page 21



   

 

   

 

10. At 31st March 2024, maintained school reserves stand at £19.6m, a reduction of £6.6m. The ringfenced 
DSG reserve has reduced by £2.6m to £6.4m.  

 
11. Treasury Management - The net borrowing of the Council as at 31st March 2024 is £2.49bn, which is 

£17m lower than the most recent update to Executive Board provided in February 2024 as part of the 
Treasury Strategy report and £82m lower than the level on which the 2023/24 revenue budget was based. 
The revenue budget for debt is reporting a £17.8m underspend. Further details are presented in the 
Treasury Management Outturn 2023/24 report to this Executive Board. 

 
12. The financial difficulties which have been experienced during 2023/24 need to be understood within the 

wider national context: local government finances are in a critical state and there is growing concern as a 
significant number of councils have had to deal with overspends in 2023/24 and are estimating significant 
budget gaps in future financial years which provide a challenge to their financial sustainability. The 
increasing cost of social care, particularly within Children’s Services where the increasing numbers of 
external placements and significantly higher costs of those placements, combined with the impact of pay 
and price pressures which are in excess of the level of government resources provided, has not yet been 
recognised by Government. As a result, a number of local authorities are issuing or raising the possibility 
of issuing Section 114 notices, effectively giving notice that a council cannot balance its budget. This 
current and future financial climate for local government represents a significant risk to Leeds City 
Council’s priorities and ambitions. This is set against a backdrop of the impact of the Government’s 
austerity agenda and the resultant reduction in funding to local authorities since 2010 and uncertain future 
funding following a further one-year financial settlement announcement in 2024/25.  

 

 

Recommendations 

Executive Board are asked to: 
 
a) Note that at Outturn the authority’s General Fund revenue budget is reporting a balanced position 

after application of reserves and one off measures.  

b) Note that during the year where an overspend was projected Directorates, including the Housing 

Revenue Account, were required to present action plans to mitigate their reported pressures, in line 

with the amended Revenue Principles agreed by Executive Board in February 2024, the details of 

which are contained in appendix 11 of the linked document. Savings actions identified are included in 

the reported overspend position.  

c) Note that known inflationary increases, including demand and demographic pressures in Social 

Care, known impacts of the rising cost of living, and the agreed 2023/24 pay award, have been 

incorporated into this reported financial position. 

d) Note that at Outturn the authority’s Housing Revenue Account is reporting a balanced position after a 
contribution of £0.9m to reserves. 

e) Approve the updated planned use of flexible use of capital receipts, following Full Council’s approval 
of the Strategy for the flexible use of capital receipts at the February 2023 Budget, as set out at 
paragraph 3.1 at Appendix 1: 

• £1.52m Voluntary Leaver Scheme costs and flexible retirements. 

•  £0.35m Strategy & Resources’ staff supporting transformational projects/ work. 

•  £0.35m Communities’ staff supporting transformational projects/ work in climate change and 
Community Hubs. 

f) In accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, approve the creation of earmarked 
reserves as detailed at Appendix 5 and to delegate their release to the Chief Officer – Financial 
Services. 

Page 22

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s253977/1%20FINAL%20FULL%20COUNCIL%20V2%20Budget%2024-25%20Cover%20Report%20with%20appendicesk.pdf


   

 

   

 

g) In accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, approve the following injections into 
the capital programme, as detailed at Appendix 6A(iii): 

• £8,029.4k of 24/25 High Needs Provision Capital Allocation (HNPCA) Grant; 

• £7,758.6k of additional funding injections to HRA Schemes; 

• £1,313.5k of external contributions for works on Highways schemes; 

• £1,000.0k of additional Highways Grant for the TCF City Centre Cycle Network scheme; 

• £110.5k of additional departmental borrowing for the Waste Depot scheme; and 

• £2,416.1k of other external contributions. 

h) Note the additional Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) allocations to wards and community 
committees for the period October 2023 to March 2024 of £0.2m. 

i) Note that the Chief Officer – Financial Services will be responsible for the implementation of these 
actions following the “call-in” period. 

What is this report about? 

1 This report updates the Board on financial performance against the council’s 2023/24 revenue and 

capital budgets for the General Fund, Housing Revenue Account and Schools budgets for the financial 

year. 

2 Executive Board will recall that the net revenue budget for 2023/24 was set at £573.4m. The Medium-

Term Financial Strategy (refreshed for the period 2024/25 to 2028/29 and considered at September’s 

Executive Board meeting) assumed a balanced budget position for 2023/24 after the application of 

Government funding, the delivery of savings and the utilisation of earmarked reserves.   

3 As set out at Appendix 1, the final position on the General Fund shows a balanced position, no variation 

from the provisional outturn position received at Executive Board in April. The Housing Revenue Account 

shows a balanced position after the use of HRA Reserves. 

4 Changes in individual directorate positions since provisional outturn are detailed in Appendix 1.  

5 Following the closure of the 2022/23 accounts, the Council’s general fund reserve stood at £33.2m. The 

2023/24 budget assumed a £3m contribution to this reserve as part of measures taken to ensure 

financial robustness and sustainability in the future. Appendix 1 summaries the position on the 

authority’s reserves at Outturn and these are detailed in Appendix 5. 

Table 1: Summary position at Outturn, financial year 2023/24 

 

Directorate Director Staffing
Total 

Expenditure
Income

 Total (under) 

/overspend

Previous 

Reported 

Position

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

Adults  & Health Caroline Baria 429 23,978 (23,962) 17 0

Children and Families Julie Longworth 3,194 53,160 (15,031) 38,129 39,460

City Development Martin Farrington (539) 7,643 (9,292) (1,650) (1,022)

Communities, Housing  & Environment James Rogers 2,095 43,573 (38,584) 4,989 5,022

Strategy & Resources Mariana Pexton 7,754 17,896 (14,622) 3,275 3,602

Strategic Victoria Bradshaw (31) (40,303) (4,456) (44,760) (47,062)

Total Current Month 12,902 105,947 (105,947) 0 0

Previous reported (under)/over spend 8,247 43,642 (43,642) 0

(Under) / Over spend for the current period

Page 23



   

 

   

 

6 Directorate revenue positions are summarised in Table 1. 

7 This position reflects the unfunded 2023/24 pay increase and the demand and demographic pressures 

being experienced in social care. It also reflects the inflationary pressures in respect of the costs of 

electricity, gas, fuel and the impact of the cost-of-living pressures on our residents and businesses which 

has significantly affected the cost of goods and services the council procures, demand for support and 

welfare services the council provides, and the activity levels that support a wide range of income 

streams. 

8 Four key messages were reiterated to staff in 2023/24 to remind everyone of the part we all have to play 

in supporting the financial position:  

• Stay within budget – reduce discretionary spend and minimise recruitment, including agency 

and overtime.   

• Absorb in-year pressures – directorates required to absorb all in-year pressures.  

• Highlight issues early – use the budget monitoring process to raise issues with Financial 

Management as soon as possible.  

• Robust monitoring is essential – includes detailed discussion at relevant monitoring meetings. 

 

9 In addition, given the significant forecast revenue overspend position reported to this Board in earlier 

reports, the council’s Corporate Leadership Team (comprising the Chief Executive and six directors) 

agreed to continue the freeze on recruitment, agency and overtime spend introduced in 2022/23 and 

further strengthened the controls through a post-by-post review to identify which posts met agreed 

exceptions and could be excluded from the freeze. Unless an identified vacancy was for an excluded 

post, services were required to identify how they would cover the costs of the post.  

  

10 It was also agreed to continue the non-essential spend freeze introduced in 2022/23. Following 

Executive Board’s approval, relevant non-essential spend budgets totalling £1.85m were moved out of 

respective Chief Officer budgets to specific strategic cost centres within each directorate to prevent 

further spend where it was identified that this reduction in spend was not detrimental to the delivery of 

services. The directorate positions reported reflect the impact of this review and at Outturn, a £1.0m 

underspend is reported in those services where budgets have been reduced. 

11 The reported position incorporates cross-directorate work to support and challenge the highest 

cost/spend areas, such as Children Looked After, Transport and LBS and actions by services to 

maximise income. Asset reviews continue to ensure the council has the right numbers and mix of assets 

and directorates have considered where future year savings options identified as part of the Financial 

Challenge to meet the MTFS funding gap could be brought forward to generate savings during 2023/24, 

including income generation, additional non-essential spend savings and savings resulting from reviews 

of key areas of expenditure which both reduce activity levels and rationalise service provision. 

12 Controls on spending were further strengthened by the implementation of a range of measures that 

included the following:  

• No travel is being undertaken unless it is required for the essential delivery of a service or in very 

exceptional circumstances; all meetings, where possible, should be conducted remotely / in the 

employee’s place of business (with no travel costs incurred to attend a meeting if this meeting could 

be held remotely and; no conferences or training courses should be attended where these require 

travel either through mileage or public transport.   

• With a number of exceptions e.g., social work roles, a complete recruitment freeze is now in place.  

• Tighter controls are in place in respect of Agency and Overtime. All Agency Staff are being reviewed 

and Overtime needs to be consistent with the exception requirements to the recruitment freeze. 

• All spend that is not for the delivery of a service is not being incurred. To deliver this requirement all 

orders need to be approved and no spend is being incurred on Purchase Cards unless this is 

Page 24



   

 

   

 

essential to the delivery of the service. Purchase Card Levels have been reduced to “zero” in the 

majority of cases and only those approved by the respective Directors remain in use. 

 

13 Financial monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where financial management resources are 

prioritised to support those areas of the budget that are deemed to be at risk, for example the 

implementation of budget action plans and those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand and 

key income budgets. This is reinforced through specific project management-based support and 

reporting around the achievement of key budget actions plans. It is due to the robustness of this 

monitoring that the projected overspend was identified so early in the financial year, enabling action to 

be taken. 

What impact will this proposal have? 

14 The budget proposals contained in the 2023/24 Budget have, where appropriate, been the subject of the 

Council’s Equality Impact Assessment process and mitigating measures put in place or planned where 

appropriate. As such, an Equality Impact Assessment was provided at Appendix 6 to the 2023-24 

Revenue Budget and Council Tax Report. 

 

How does this proposal impact the three pillars of the Best City Ambition? 

☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Zero Carbon 

15 The Best City Ambition is the strategic plan which sets out the ambitions, outcomes and priorities for the 

City of Leeds and for the local authority. The Three Pillars of health and wellbeing, inclusive growth and 

achieving zero carbon underpin this vision and these can only be delivered through a sound 

understanding of the organisation’s longer-term financial sustainability which enables decisions to be 

made that balance the resource implications of the council’s policies against financial constraints. The 

Best City Ambition is the strategic plan which sets out the ambitions, outcomes, and priorities for the City 

of Leeds and for the local authority. The Three Pillars of health and wellbeing, inclusive growth and 

achieving zero carbon underpin this vision and these can only be delivered through a sound 

understanding of the organisation’s longer-term financial sustainability which enables decisions to be 

made that balance the resource implications of the council’s policies against financial constraints. 

16 This is the primary purpose of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy which provides the framework for the 

determination of the council’s annual revenue budget. This report needs to be seen in the context of the 

requirement for the authority to be financially sustainable and deliver a balanced revenue budget 

position in 2023/24 so that resources can continue to be targeted at the council’s priorities.  

 

What consultation and engagement has taken place? 

 

17 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation. Public consultation on the Council’s revenue 

and capital budget proposals was carried out between December 2022 and January 2023 and is detailed 

in the 2023-24 Revenue Budget and Council Tax Report presented to this Board in February 2023. 

 

Wards affected:  

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☒ No 

 

 

Wards affected:  

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☒ No 

 

Page 25

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s241921/Budget%20Cover%20Report%20Appendices%20300123.pdf
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s241921/Budget%20Cover%20Report%20Appendices%20300123.pdf
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s241921/Budget%20Cover%20Report%20Appendices%20300123.pdf


   

 

   

 

What are the resource implications? 

18 This is a financial report and as such resource implications are detailed in both the report and the 

accompanying appendices. 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?  

19 At final financial Outturn directorate dashboards reflect an overspend of £44.7m. This overspend has 

been balanced through an underspend in the Strategic and Central Accounts, use of reserves and other 

one off measures, including application of the £17.7m WYCA refund agreed in October 2023 and use of 

£5.2m from the Merrion House Reserve. The use of reserves to balance is as noted in the report 

“Financial Reporting 2023/24 Provisional Outturn Month 11 (February)” presented to Executive Board in 

April 2024 and reduces the resources available to support the Council’s financial position in future years. 

20 The remaining balance on the Merrion House reserve has been moved to the Strategic Contingency 

Reserve to realign these strategic balances and is reflected in the £23.0m balance carried forward on 

that reserve, which was established in 2020/21 to fund future unforeseen budget pressures and to 

ensure the Council becomes more financially resilient.  

21 The reported outturn position should be considered in the context of risk to both the 2024/25 Budget and 

the Council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy. These risks are included on the Council’s corporate risk 

register, reported to this Board annually. At September 2023 both the risk of the in year financial position 

being in deficit and the Council being unable to balance the Medium-Term Financial Strategy were rated 

‘very high’, reflecting the wider national context and the uncertainty of funding for future years.  

22 Budget management and monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where financial 

management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget judged to be at risk such as 

the implementation of budget action plans, those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand and 

key income budgets. To reinforce this approach, specific project management-based support and 

reporting around the achievement of key budget actions plans has been in place for 2023/24 and 

continues for 2024/25.  

23 Paragraph 12 of Appendix 1 to this report discusses a range of emerging issues and risks for future 

years. Alongside a continued focus on securing value-for-money and investing in transformation, 

services will continue to be reviewed as part of an overall resetting and reshaping of the authority to 

ensure it remains fit-for-purpose and sustainable in future years.    

What are the legal implications? 

24 The council has a statutory duty to ensure that it maintains a balanced budget and to take any remedial 

action as required in year.  

25 Section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 provides that the council has a statutory duty to 

periodically conduct a budget monitoring exercise of its expenditure and income against the budget 

calculations during the financial year. If the monitoring establishes that the budgetary situation has 

deteriorated, the authority must take such remedial action as it considers necessary to deal with any 

projected overspends. This could include action to reduce spending, income generation or other 

measures to bring budget pressures under control for the rest of the year. The council must act 

reasonably and in accordance with its statutory duties and responsibilities when taking the necessary 

action to reduce the overspend.  

26 In addition, the council is required by section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 to make 

arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs. The authority’s Chief Finance Officer 

has established financial procedures to ensure the council’s proper financial administration. These 

include procedures for budgetary control. It is consistent with these arrangements for Executive Board to 

receive information about the revenue and capital budgets as set out in this report.  

Page 26



   

 

   

 

27 The monitoring of financial information is also a significant contributor to meeting the council’s Best 

Value legal duty and, therefore, this report also demonstrates compliance with that legal duty. 

28 Under Section 1 of the Local Government Act 2003 (“LGA”) (“Power to borrow”), a local authority may 

borrow for any purpose relevant to its functions or for “the prudent management of its financial affairs”.   

Options, timescales and measuring success  

What other options were considered? 

29 Not applicable 

How will success be measured? 

30 Not applicable. 

What is the timetable and who will be responsible for implementation? 

31 Not applicable. 

Appendices 

32 The following appendices are attached to this report: 

• Appendix 1 – background information, detailed narrative regarding the financial outturn positions for 

directorates, the Housing Revenue Account HRA, Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) and the capital 

programme, Council Tax and Business Rates including collection performance.  

• Appendix 2 – Individual financial dashboards for directorates, DSG and the HRA  

• Appendix 3 – Directorate Budget Action Plans  

• Appendix 4 – Flexible Use of Capital Receipts 

• Appendix 5 – Movement in reserves 1st April 2023 to 31st March 2024 

• Appendix 6A – Revised capital programme for 2023/24 to 2027/28 as at 2023/24 Outturn 

• Appendix 6B – Breakdown of capital programme net variances February 2024 Projected Outturn to 

Outturn  

• Appendix 6C – CRIS injections to wards and community committees for the period October 2023 to 

March 2024 

 

Background papers 

33 None  

Page 27



Appendix 1 
 

Financial Health Monitoring 2023/24 – Outturn Report 

 

1. Directorate Positions at Outturn 2023/24  
 

1.1 The major Directorate variations are summarised in Table 1 and outlined below, 
with additional detail provided on the Directorate dashboards at Appendix 2.  
 
Table 1: Summary position as at Outturn- Financial Year 2023/24 

   

 
1.2 Adults & Health 

 
Adult Social Care 2023/24 Budget 
 
Budget Overview 
At Outturn, Adults and Health delivered a balanced budget (minor adverse variance 
of £17k or 0.008%). The Net Managed Budget (NMB) for 2023/24 was £198.7m, 
comprised of £430.1m Gross Expenditure offset by £231.4m income. At Outturn 
Gross Expenditure was £454.1m and Income £255.4m.  
 
Reflected in the 2023/24 budget were Budget Action Plans totalling £16.19m. Whilst 
the directorate delivered a balanced budget, five Action Plans amounting to £1.87m 
were not delivered in year and were covered by other Action Plans over delivering, 
principally around income collection. Full details below.  

 
Reserves 
The 2023/24 Budget assumed the use of £4.52m of Adult Social Care & Public 
Health reserves (£4.18m Adult Social Care and £0.34m Public Health). At Outturn 
the directorate utilised £10.25m Adult Social Care Reserves and £nil Public Health. 
This is an additional £6.1m use of Adult Social Care Earmarked Reserves: £2.6m 
Newton Europe Home First programme, £0.9m Community Health & Wellbeing 
Service, £0.8m Leeds Older People’s Forum for delivery of the Enhance 

Directorate Director Staffing
Total 

Expenditure
Income

 Total (under) 

/overspend

Previous 

Reported 

Position

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

Adults  & Health Caroline Baria 429 23,978 (23,962) 17 0

Children and Families Julie Longworth 3,194 53,160 (15,031) 38,129 39,460

City Development Martin Farrington (539) 7,643 (9,292) (1,650) (1,022)

Communities, Housing  & Environment James Rogers 2,095 43,573 (38,584) 4,989 5,022

Strategy & Resources Mariana Pexton 7,754 17,896 (14,622) 3,275 3,602

Strategic Victoria Bradshaw (31) (40,303) (4,456) (44,760) (47,062)

Total Current Month 12,902 105,947 (105,947) 0 0

Previous reported (under)/over spend 8,247 43,642 (43,642) 0

(Under) / Over spend for the current period

Page 28



 
 

programme; all three programmes funded by Health, £1.4m for investment in 
additional social work and social care capacity and £0.4m Community Discharge 
Grant for eligible cases.  
 
Budget Action Plans 
At Outturn 2023/24 Action Plan savings for £16.19m were delivered. Within the 36 
Action Plans, 5 Action Plans amounting to £1.87m were not achieved. This was 
offset by the other 31 Action Plans overachieving, primarily around client income 
collection and recovery.   
 
Of the £1.87m not delivered, £1.57m was due to slippage in implementing the 
2023/24 saving plans and will have no impact on future years budget. New savings 
proposals in 2024/25 will need to be identified for £0.3m and plans are being 
developed which will be reported to Executive Board in July 2024 for the Month 2 
2024/25 financial health report. 
 
Demand Budgets 
The 2023/24 demand related budgets reflect £29.83m additional funding for price, 
inflation, and demand & demography growth, taking the overall size of the demand 
led budgets up to £280.17m before reducing to £277.33m after netting off £2.84m 
savings target reflected in the delivery of the 2023/24 budget action plans. The 
Outturn position was a pressure of £14.8m and in line with Month 11 reporting. This 
was split:   

• +£3.1m Working Age Adults and Learning Disability 

• +£12.8m Residential and Nursing settings. 

• +£1.4m Homecare 

• -£2.5m for Direct Payments and Individualised Care. 
 
This pressure was covered by additional income, client income and grants. The 
Month 11 demand projection reflected the final payment run for 2023/24 and 
explains why there is little movement from the previous reported position.  
 
Income 
At Outturn: 

• Actual Government grant income £136m, £7m above budget, £129m. The 
£136m is split £77m Adult Social Care grants and £53m Public Health. £1m 
increase from Month 11 and offset by employee pressures detailed below. 

• Actual Health income was £14.1m, £5.4m above budget, £8.7m. £0.2m increase 
from Month 11. 

• Additional Income from Service Users £7.4m. +£0.1m positive movement from 
the month 11 reported position. £2.5m additional residential & nursing income 
(excluded from Table 2), £4.9m additional community-based income, £1.0m 
additional Mental Health income, £0.8m shortfall Telecare (Overall for Telecare 
reporting a net managed budget pressure of £0.17m) and £0.2m shortfall 
Learning Disability income. Details are provided in Table 2. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



 
 

Table 2: Income Recovery Highlight Report Outturn (March) 

 
 
Pay 
At Outturn Adults & Health had employee cost pressures of £0.4m, an adverse 
movement of £1.0m from Month 11. Leeds City Council employee pay savings       
(-£5.8m) principally around social worker recruitment & retention reflecting the 
national position and pay savings in Provider Services, were offset by additional use 
of Agency staff (+£4.8m), Overtime (+£0.6) and other employee cost pressures of 
£0.8m relating to severance payments and training. Some of the pressures in 
Agency and Training are covered by additional use of reserves, income from Health 
and DHSC grant funding for specific programmes of short-term intervention 
programmes. The Outturn position incorporates the first instalment of the social 
worker retention scheme which cost £0.52m, however this was funded by MSIF 
grant, and £0.5m additional training costs that are also funded by specific DHSC 
grant programmes for social worker training. 
 
Other 
Additional CEL charges of £0.2m were received at Outturn, taking the full in-year 
pressure to £1.8m. This was due to a small increase in the year-end Passenger 
Transport recharge. The £1.8m is comprised of £1.5m for passenger transport, 
£0.2m for catering charges and £0.1m vehicle hire. The final Passenger Transport 
charge was £7.5m. These pressures were covered by additional income. 
 
Public Health 2023/24 Budget 
Public Health (PH) Grant funding for 2023/24 is £48.663m; increase of £1.537m 
from 2022-23 (3.3%). This is the first year of a two-year grant funding settlement for 
Public Health. Public Health grant is a ring-fenced account and limited to specific 
terms and conditions. At Outturn Public Health balanced to their budget.  
 

1.3 Children and Families – The Outturn position for the Children and Families 
directorate is an overspend of £38.129m This is a reduction of £1.331m from the 

Income Recovery Board (finance) - highlight report 

Financial position reported : Final 2023-24

Description
Previous Year 

Total

Budget      2023-

24

Outturn      2023-

24

Variance to 

Budget + 

pressure/- 

Saving

Assumption (remaining 

periods)

Projection 

(period 11 2023-

24)

Movement 

from previous 

period

Community Based 

Income (excluding LD 

& Telecare)

(11,059,067) (14,540,000) (7,027,424) 7,512,576

 Based on latest period + 

increase in recovery in 2023-

24 based on uplift in rates 

(FNC) 

(7,221,649) 194,225

Community Based 

Income - Billing Engine 

(Older People & WAA 

PI)

(12,462,111) (12,462,111)

 Action Plan value excluded 

from projection - overall 

reported position for 

community based income to 

budget. 

(12,649,658) 187,547

Telecare (577,742) (2,291,000) (1,461,253) 829,747

Income pressure matched 

to staffing savings reported. 

Actual income reduced in 

latest month due to credit 

notes

(1,475,000) 13,747

Mental Health (347,197) (298,000) (1,248,676) (950,676) Outturn poisition (1,108,263) (140,413)

LD (8,267,970) (10,482,000) (10,273,556) 208,444 Outtturn position (10,071,931) (201,625)

Total (20,251,976) (27,611,000) (32,473,020) (4,862,020) 0 (32,526,501) 53,481

Page 30



 
 

indicative outturn position reported at Month 11. The main movements from Month 
11 are summarised below: 

 

• Contribution from Public Health (£0.969m) 

• CLA: Additional DSG contributions (£1.200m) 

• Legal Fees £0.223m 

• Transport £0.406m 

• Little Owls £0.205m 

• Other movements £0.004m 
 

 Overall, the main variations within the outturn position are: 
       £m      
CLA: External Residential Placements           22.314 
CLA: Semi Independent / Leaving Care  3.613 
CLA: In House Placements   0.683 
IFA Placements     4.160  
Chad        1.135  
Little Owls Nurseries    0.841 
Transport      5.147 
Learning Inclusion     0.550 
Mindmates      0.250 
Legal       0.623 
Adel Beck welfare bed income   (0.686) 
Reprofiling of School Balances   (0.500) 
Non-Essential Spend Savings   (0.500) 
Non-Delivery of Action Plans   0.823 
Other Variances     (0.324) 
 

 Total       38.129 
 
The Outturn position reflects a reduction in the General Fund position against that 
forecast at Month 11, with a final overspend of £38.129m. The previous Executive 
Board reports noted that  

 

• The continuing significant element of volatility in the number of children in high-
cost residential placements and the cost of those placements. (As previously 
stated, this reflects a national position of demand and demography challenges 
along with increasing costs, in part reflecting the wider cost of living challenges 
experienced more broadly in the economy).  
 

• Significant additional challenges around transport costs estimated at £2m. 
Whilst this reflects additional demand relating from issued EHCP, urgent work is 
being undertaken to model the impact of the increased demand and additional 
work will be undertaken on possible mitigation. EHCP demand is also driving 
increased costs on Educational Psychologist provision which cannot be avoided 
without increased risk of non-compliance by the Council. The issues of 
additional costs relating to EHCPs will be considered as part of the current 
review processes underway via the PwC supported activity and the DfE 
supported SEND Change Programme.  

 
Work continued within the Directorate around strengthened cost control measures 
which was hoped would provide additional mitigation. This work will continue in 

Page 31



 
 

2024/25 to focus on the high spend areas of activity, most notably external 
residential placement costs where new approval processes are in place, however 
demand and market pressures still impact severely on cost control. The Directorate 
continues to fully participate in a range of corporate measures on cost control that 
are limiting cost increases in a range of areas including travel, non-essential spend, 
overtime, procurement card activity, recruitment and vacancy control. 

 
For the main areas of overspend, an additional commentary is set out below: 

 
External Residential Placements: 
The External Residential budget for 2023/24 was £14.617m. Due to known inflation 
and demand pressures over and above what was assumed in the budget for 
2023/24 there is an overspend of £22.314m. External Residential placements have 
increased from 95 at the start of the year to 146 at the year end. The outturn 
position includes the non-delivery of £2.966m of action plan savings against this 
budget including a proportion of Turning the Curve and the Commissioning Review 
which have experienced delays in delivery and a reassessment of potential 
deliverables. 

 
Care Leavers: Semi-Independent Living:   
The budget for Semi-Independent Placements is £6.78m. At the year end there 
were 338 placements, including 132 placements for 16 and 17 year olds, which is 
an increase from previous years. A continued increase in demand and prices with 
particular reference to 16/17 year old's requiring higher support packages has 
resulted in a pressure of £6.4m against this budget. This pressure has been 
mitigated with additional UASC income £2.36m and £0.436m additional funding for 
supported accommodation reforms. 

 
IFA Placements: 
The number of Independent Fostering Agency placements have increased from 209 
to 232 since the beginning of 2023/24. The outturn position included the non-
delivery of £3.3m of action plan savings against this budget. 

 
Little Owls Nurseries: 
The Little Owls nursery settings have an overspend of £0.841m, an income 
pressure of £1.592m offset by staff savings of £0.751m. The Covid 19 pandemic 
had a significant impact on all Little Owls nurseries and whilst settings have 
reported increased recovery, income levels are still not back to pre-pandemic levels 
due to the change in working patterns, and a continued reduction in nursery 
capacity / opening hours due to ongoing staff shortages and recruitment difficulties. 

 
To recognise increased costs, fees for Little Owls did increase by 5% in 2022/23 to 
£51.70 per day, an increase of £2.50 per day. For comparison, the average market 
rate in Leeds is between £45 and £58 per day. In addition to the increase in fees 
there is a more comprehensive review of the Little Owls provision ongoing. 

 
Transport: 
Based on recent trends, the overall transport budget is showing an overspend of 
£5.147m due to further increases in inflation and demand. 

 
The increased demand for passenger transport and the increased demand and 
need for passenger assistants has more than offset the further reduction in the unit 
cost per young person. Unit costs are now £5,937; the lowest level they have been 

Page 32



 
 

in recent years (excluding the non-comparable pandemic period). However, as 
highlighted by national reports on the rising cost and demand for home to school 
transport, the number of young people for whom we provide transport stands at 
3470 with further applications awaiting assessment and new applications coming in 
at the rate of about 15 per month. It is anticipated that, year on year, the numbers of 
young people provided with transport will increase by 27%, compared to the 6% 
increase originally forecast. We are also seeing a 25% increase in transport awards 
with a passenger assistant due to a significant increase in complex behavioural 
and/or medical issues. Given the increase in demand, it has been difficult to offset 
the cost of the pay award for drivers and passenger assistants which was c9.5% 
and more than provided in the base budget and represents an unfunded pressure of 
£600k in the outturn position. 

 
Work continues to review high cost packages, further roll out of personal transport 
allowances, increase independent travel training, re-tendering routes, reducing fleet 
downtime, partnership working with special schools and the issues of additional 
transport costs relating to EHCPs will be considered as part of the current review 
processes underway via the PwC supported activity and the DfE supported SEND 
Change Programme. 

.   
Learning Inclusion: 
Within the Learning Inclusion service there is an overspend of £0.550m.  This 
overspend includes the Education Psychologist Team £0.499m and SENSAP 
£0.553m, however these additional costs have been offset by additional grant 
funding. The Education Psychologists Team has had increased demands on the 
statutory service and recruitment difficulties and the service has experienced a 
reduction in its trading capacity and so a loss of trading income, in addition to 
increased locum costs. The SENSAP team has an overspend due to additional 
agency and complaint costs in addition to non-delivery of budget action plans. 

 
Additional Savings Proposals 2023/24: 
Additional in year savings were originally put forward to the amount of £5.249m, at 
outturn £1.614m of these saving were delivered as summarised below.  

 
Table 3: Additional Savings Update at Outturn 2023/24 

Other costs 
Restrict budgets: Non-essential 
spend/transport/misc property budget 

(£0.570m) 

Other costs 
Staffing/service 

changes 
Partnership contributions (£0.016m) 

Staffing/service 
changes 
Funding 

Restructure (Workforce Development) (£0.045m) 

Service rationalisation (Little Owls) (£0.100m) 

Placements - ICB funding (£0.788m) 

DSG funding for posts (£0.095m) 

Total 
  
 (£1.614m) 

 
Budget Action Plans 
 
The budget for 2023/24 included action plan savings of £18.486m. At Outturn 

£13.085m of these action plans were not achieved as below: 

Page 33



 
 

• Diversifying Children's Residential and Fostering provision £3.479m: it has 
been agreed that, due to the delay in implementing, this action plan will be 
funded corporately and so is not included as a C&F pressure in the outturn 
position. 

• Review of Placement Commissioning £4.00m  

• Turning the Curve £3m 

• Review of Little Owls £0.841m 

• Review of Contracts £0.369m 

• Efficiencies across the directorate £1.073m 

• Transport Efficiencies £0.323m 
 

1.4 City Development - the Outturn position for City Development is an overall 
underspend of £1.65m. This represents a further saving of £627k from the 
Provisional Outturn position reported previously which includes £616k Public Health 
grant funding allocated from Adults & Health directorate to Active Leeds at the year 
end.    
 
As reported throughout the year, this position includes the additional cost of the 
local government pay award of £1m over and above the budgeted amount (net of 
amounts that are charged to capital schemes and grants) as well as other identified 
service pressures, but it does also include additional savings which were identified 
as part of the in-year directorate wide savings programme. In addition, restrictions 
on spending implemented during the year across the Council, including tighter 
vacancy controls and restrictions on non-essential spending, have contributed 
towards achieving this year end position.   
  
The main variations at the year end are as follows: 
 

• Active Leeds – the overall underspend of £2.29m reflects additional staffing 

costs of £0.8m, which includes the additional pay award of £0.48m, offset by 

running cost savings of £1.5m and additional income of £1m, mainly in respect 

of membership and swimming lessons which continue to remain buoyant despite 

the current economic climate. In addition, Public Health grant of £616k has been 

provided to support operational facilities in recognition of the contribution they 

make to healthy lifestyles.   

• Arts & Heritage – there has been a year end underspend of £1.34m which 

mainly reflects refunds of £1.7m received as a result of Business Rates appeals 

at Heritage sites, partially offset by other net pressures of £0.37m which 

includes income shortfalls in respect of café/retail, Breeze card charges and 

Pudsey Civic Hall car parking, partially offset by staffing savings due to 

vacancies.   

• Asset Management & Regeneration – a year end shortfall to budget of £0.43m 

mainly reflects ongoing pressures in respect of the Strategic Investment Fund 

(£0.66m) and Estate Rationalisation savings targets (£0.55m), partially offset by 

net staffing savings, income from commercial property rent reviews and other 

one-off sources including release of restrictive covenants and fees in respect of 

business rates appeals.  

• Economic Development – the underspend of £0.1m mainly reflects staffing 

savings as a result of vacant posts within the service.  

Page 34



 
 

• Employment and Skills – the overall underspend of £0.84m reflects savings 

from vacant posts and the use of final balances in respect of programmes which 

have now concluded.             

• Highways and Transportation – the year end position is a minor underspend 

of £9k across the service, although there are variations within that overall 

position. Whilst the DLO exceeded its budgeted surplus, these additional works 

impacted on other areas of the service, particularly general maintenance. Within 

Transport Planning there was a shortfall in permit income and income from Park 

and Ride operating licences, although this was offset by additional income 

generated by the UTMC and Transport strategy teams. In addition, within Civil 

Engineering there was a shortfall in income from the major schemes contractor 

procurement framework. However, these pressures were offset by savings in 

other areas such as street lighting electricity consumption savings from the LED 

rollout and additional capitalisation of minor works which were identified as part 

of the directorate wide savings programme.      

• Markets and City Centre Management – the year end variation to budget of 

£0.58m for the Markets service mainly reflects a shortfall of Markets income 

resulting from vacant units, mainly within the Kirkgate and Outdoor markets. In 

addition, a variation of £0.19m within City Centre Management mainly reflects 

income shortfalls in respect of city centre advertising income, income from street 

café licences and from promotional event spaces in the city centre, partially 

offset by additional net income from the Christmas markets.  

• Planning & Sustainable Development – the year end position is an overspend 

of £2.32m which is mainly attributable to a significant shortfall in planning fee 

income of £1.6m together with a shortfall in building control income of £0.19m as 

well as staffing pressures across the service of £0.58m due to the impact of the 

pay award and a shortfall in meeting the budgeted vacancy factor. There has 

been a significant decline in the number of planning applications received during 

the year and despite the increase in planning fees which took effect from 

December 2023, there has been a significant impact on planning fee income 

received compared to previous years.    

• Resources and Strategy – the year end underspend of £0.58m mainly relates 

to savings identified as part of the in-year directorate wide savings programme 

in addition to other minor staffing and income variations. This includes £0.53m of 

savings in respect of tighter restrictions on non-essential spending across 

services within the directorate.    

• Staffing – within the overall reported position described above, there is an 

overall staffing underspend of £0.5m reflecting vacant posts offset by the 

additional cost of the pay award. 

Budget Action Plans 
The 2023/24 budget contained £12.4m of new savings plans. Whilst the majority of 
these were achieved as anticipated, there were some areas of shortfall, particularly 
in respect of additional income assumptions within the Planning service and savings 
associated with the planned implementation of the Street Lighting adaptive lighting 
proposal. 
 
In addition, there were also some savings plans relating to previous years which 
were not achieved in full, in particular, as referred to above, the existing Strategic 
Investment Fund, Estate Rationalisation and Highways major scheme procurement 

Page 35



 
 

framework budget savings plans. However, mitigating savings were identified as far 
as possible within the relevant service areas to offset these pressures in order to 
achieve the reported outturn position.  

 
1.5 Communities, Housing & Environment - In 2023/24 an overspend of £4.989m is 

reported by the directorate. This is an improvement of £0.033m from the previously 
reported position.  

  

The most significant variances contributing to the overspend were: 

• the additional cost of the local government pay award (+£3.7m netted down by -

£1.0m by passing on the impact of the pay award to capital schemes, HRA and 

grant funding) 

• changes in Waste Management legislation (+£2.1m)  

• net cost of Housing Benefits where the Council is unable to claim subsidy 

(+£3.5m)  

• other inflation and demand led service pressures. 

 The main variations affecting each service were:  
  

• Waste Management +£6.5m – The service faced a significant number of 

pressures, largely related to changes to legislation, changes to resident disposal 

habits and market prices. 

 

New Environment Agency (EA) guidance on the disposal of upholstered 

furniture that contain Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) mean that these 

materials are now required to be separated and disposed of in accordance with 

the new EA regulations. Higher disposal charges are now being incurred for all 

collections (typically collections of bulky waste and the general waste skips at 

Household Waste sites) that contain any POPs materials. To limit the cost to 

+£2.0m, an in-year sorting solution was implemented. 

  

From 1st January 2024, the Government required the Council to remove charges 

for the disposal of inert waste (typically soil and rubble) at Household Waste 

Recycling Centres giving an in-year pressure of +£0.1m. 

  

The cost of the disposal and recycling of Green Bin waste is +£1.3m due to 

below budgeted market prices for recycled materials. Residual and trade waste 

demand led pressures were +£1.6m over the budgeted level with tonnages 

increasing in the final three months of the year. The impact of the pay award 

offer and pressures on staffing was £3.2m. An NNDR pressure of £0.1m relates 

to the PFI contract and there is a further £0.2m cost for the disposal of 

contaminated water.   

 

Offsetting these pressures is an additional £1.2m income relating to the Veolia 

RERF contract, £0.3m of which relates to a rebate from 2022/23 following the 

annual reconciliation of the PFI contract. A further £0.4m was saved by 

utilisation of the Waste Strategy reserve to fund some cost pressures and £0.2m 

additional recycling income is reflected.   

 

Page 36



 
 

• Welfare and Benefits +£2.8m. Significant pressures arose from placement of 

people in Supported Accommodation with providers who are not registered and 

placement of people in temporary accommodation. The subsidy pressure is 

+£4.6m, offset by -£1.1m from one off additional income from recovery of benefit 

overpayments. Whilst this shows the continuing demand pressures on benefits 

subsidy income, it does reflect the fact the service has delivered its target of -

£0.6m of budgeted action plan savings. Other mitigations are -£0.3m from use of 

the Homelessness reserve to cover Temporary Accommodation subsidy 

shortfalls and -£0.4m savings from DWP grant income and running cost 

underspends. 

  

• Cleaner Neighbourhoods Teams & City Centre Cleansing +£1.7m. The 

variation reflects the impact of the pay offer at £0.5m, although there was a 

significant pressure £0.4m on overtime and achievement of vacancy factor 

targets within the service, primarily during the first six months of the year.  

Transport pressures totalled £0.7m. 

  

• Elections, Licensing and Registration and Environmental Health -£0.0m – 

Only minor variations were realised across these services. Operational spend 

savings, additional Registrars income and external funding offset the impact of 

the pay award and other service pressures. 

 

• Climate, Energy and Greenspaces -£0.4m. The service experienced 

pressures across several areas, which were mitigated by staff savings and non-

essential spend savings to give an overall underspend of -£0.4m. The most 

significant variances related to inflationary pressures of +£0.2m on the cultural 

events programme, net pressures on estates and attractions +£0.2m, 

Bereavement Services income pressures of +£0.7m, pay award impact +£0.7m, 

less Parks operations and maintenance income maximisation savings of -£0.5m 

and prudential borrowing cost savings of -£0.3m. This net pressure was offset 

by charges to capital, management of vacancies within the service, utilisation of 

grant funding and review of provisions.    

  

• Directorate wide -£0.3m - A sum of -£0.5m was removed from Directorate 

budgets as part of the review of all non-essential spend items with £0.2m 

required as a service wide provision for bad and doubtful debts. 

 

• Statutory Housing Services -£1.0m Staffing savings covered the cost of the 

+£0.6m pay award pressure and delivered an overall underspend on employees 

of -£0.9m.  However, as many of these vacant posts were funded, there was a 

resulting +£0.5m reduction in charges to the HRA and capital. Additional income 

of -£0.6m was delivered by maximising collection from other income streams. 

 

• Car Parking Services -£1.3m - Car parking income has continued a recovery 

trajectory since COVID lockdowns, and the net income position in 2023/24, after 

running costs are factored in, was -£1.2m higher than budgeted. Staffing costs 

were £0.1m under the budget, including the pay award pressure. 

 

Page 37



 
 

• Safer Stronger Communities -£1.3m – Staffing pressures +£0.3m were due in 

part to the pay award. However, these have been fully offset by a combination of 

the use of additional grant income and passporting the pay award on to the 

HRA/grants giving an overall underspend of £1.3m. 

  

• Customer Access -£1.7m – The pay award pressure of +£0.4m has been fully 

offset by -£0.5m of other staffing savings from holding posts vacant. -£0.2m of 

NNDR savings arose during the year and utilisation of alternative funding 

sources such as grant, HRA and capital have resulted in further savings of -

£1.4m. 

Budget Action Plans 

A total of £6.6m of budget action plans were implemented throughout the year, with 

a £0.7m overall positive variance against the plans delivered. These savings have 

been embedded within the outturn figures above. 

1.6 Strategy and Resources - The final budget position for the Strategy and 
Resources Directorate in the financial year 2023/24 is a pressure of £3,275k.  
A major reason for the overspend is that the pay award was greater than budgeted 
for. The final pay award was agreed at £1,925 for NJC staff and 3.5% for JNC staff 
against a budgeted 4%. This had a large impact on the Strategy and Resources 
directorate due to the large number of employees, particularly at the NJC grades.  
As a result, there was a £2.7m overspend on employee costs after mitigating 
through vacancy controls and passing on appropriate charges to client 
departments.  
 

• Finance (£304k) - pressures on this budget included; a staffing overspend of 

£330k (inclusive of £162k unbudgeted pay award), £30k on audit fees, £72k 

overspend on increased postage costs for the Revenues Services, £158k 

pressure resulting from a shortfall in Court Fee income (primarily due to the 

cancellation of a court hearing), a £258k shortfall in recharge income due to 

changes in IAS19 rates, £47k shortfall on HRA income and £22k across 

operational budgets. The pressures have been more than offset by staffing 

charges of (£201k) to additional flexible capital receipts funding for 

transformational work, (£536k) additional income from the maximisation of grant 

funding, (£346k) following a review of chargeable costs to Core Business 

Transformation, (£35k) additional income from Schools and a (£103k) 

improvement of Insurance Fund. 

• Integrated Digital Services (£1,596k) - (£792k) of this underspend relates to 

the net impact of vacant post savings offset by the cost of contractors for priority 

projects with a further £61k pressure on training costs. Revenue savings of 

(£1,000k) have been achieved by the reallocation of equipment costs to the 

Essential Services Programme capital scheme. The use of unbudgeted capital 

receipts has offset expenditure on a range of transformational projects and a 

shortfall in schools’ income of £202k. The sum of a number of minor variations 

to other income and expenditure budgets has resulted in a further (£67k) saving.  

• Procurement (£261k) - Staffing overspends of £434k, including the unbudgeted 

pay award pressure, and a £141k spend on legal and consultancy costs were 

offset by additional (£519k) flexible capital receipts income to fund the 

Page 38



 
 

Transformation Team, additional Schools Management and PFI Consultancy fee 

income of (£274k) and a (£43k) saving in the sum of a number of minor 

variations. 

• Legal Services £56k - Agency locum fees of £307k, a £22k shortfall in schools’ 

income, a £21k shortfall in external income and other additional pressures of 

£34k have been largely offset by not recruiting to posts, resulting in a staffing 

underspend of (£328k). 

• Democratic Services (£77k) - A staffing overspend of £4k, including £37k to 
reflect the additional unbudgeted pay award pressure, was offset against (£9k) 
savings on training costs, (£41k) on printing and other supplies and services, and 
(£31k) on civic allowances. 

 

• Shared Services £509k A staffing overspend of £2,251k, including the 

unbudgeted pay award, has been offset by the following; (£30k) training, (£233k) 

supplies and services savings resulting from the non-essential spend freeze, 

(£113k) savings on recruitment advertising due to freezing of vacant posts, 

(£62k) savings on DBS check expenditure, (£347k) additional charges for staff 

to capital projects, (£311k) additional AVC and car scheme income, a (£250k) 

transfer from reserves, (£169k) Print and Signs income, (£64k) additional charge 

to the HRA and (£163k) Shared Services staff charges income. 

• Strategy and Improvement (£152k) - Staffing was £37k overspent, including 

the pay award pressure. A shortfall of £48k internal income for staff time was off-

set by (£69k) additional external income, (£76k) additional charges to capital 

and savings on expenditure and additional flexible capital receipts income for 

transformational work of (£92k).  

• Human Resources (£359k) - Budget pressures on the HR service were as 

follows: staffing overspend of £364k (primarily due to the pay award), £41k on 

training and development, £102k external Contractor spend on Health and 

Safety and £62k Membership costs. These pressures were more than offset by 

additional funding from Adults and Health for HR support of (£82k), income 

mitigations of (£136k) from traded income from schools, charges to Capital 

relating to the CBT Project (£69k), use of reserves of (£397k), funding from the 

COVID Recovery Fund of (£100k), additional flexible capital receipts income for 

transformational work of (£74k), along with various minor adjustments totalling 

(£70k).  

• Leeds Building Services (LBS) £2,761k - The pressure reflects the level of 

work commissioned by clients (£76.1m) relative to the £80.1m required turnover. 

The level of turnover has had a consequential impact on the rate of return as the 

final position was an £8.3m return against an £11m budget. 

LBS has been subject to inflationary pressures, seen throughout the industry, 

which adversely impacted the financial position.   

Part of the pressure was attributable to a review of the accruals position from the 

previous two years. Enhanced reporting, developed through the LBS 

improvement review, established an additional pressure in relation to the value 

of income accruals taken at the end of 2022/23 which subsequently impacted on 

the 2023/24 year-end position. Reporting also identified the valuation of a further 

Page 39



 
 

pressures in relation to non-chargeable and non-allocated time. This has been 

partly mitigated by the service through a reduction in overheads, efficiencies in 

waste removal and further mitigated through the use of contingency funding. 

• Corporate Property and Facilities Management £530k. This is a net figure 

based on the capitalisation of eligible revenue expenditure against 

decarbonisation and general capitalisation budgets for repairs and inspections.  

Budget pressures in the year included staffing overspends of £116k reflecting 

the additional unbudgeted pay award, £125k pressure for additional security and 

£50k pressure for front of house staffing costs. Additional pressures have arisen 

from Joint Service Centres due to loss of service charge income and increased 

rent charges resulting in a net pressure of £266k and a pressure on responsive 

works to the Merrion House building of £75k. Mitigations such as the 

introduction of a triaging service for repairs and savings on energy along with 

other minor variations totalled (£102k). 

 

• School Crossing Patrol (£87k) - Staffing savings of £87k. 

• Catering £691k - The pay award resulted in a staffing overspend of £487k. 

Food costs rose through the year resulting in a £765k pressure. Other budget 

pressures included £193k for operational materials and cleaning costs of £248k. 

These pressures are partially mitigated through additional internal income of 

(£601k), external income of (£391k) and various other employees and supplies 

and service savings of (£10k). 

• Cleaning £515k -The unbudgeted pay award pressure resulted in a staffing 

overspend of £1,200k. Further pressures were an increase in transport charges 

of £304k and £29k on internal charges. The pressures were offset by savings on 

operational materials of (£121k) and additional income of (£897k) through 

increased charges. 

• Fleet £802k – The Fleet position reflected the ongoing pressure of an aging fleet 

the consequence of which is higher demand and inflation resulting in increased 

occasional hire costs to maintain front line service operations. The use of 

vehicles across the authority is subject to review.  

The 2023/24 Fleet Services budget contained a savings target of £1.3m, the 

achievement of which has been overshadowed by a combination of the impact 

of inflation on vehicle parts, fuel, and occasional hire together with the impact of 

maintaining an ageing fleet. In addition, increased demand for services such as 

passenger transport has resulted in the requirement for more vehicles and 

hence greater maintenance costs. Together these factors have impacted on the 

capacity for directorates to absorb the £1.3m savings target. Executive Board 

approved the use of £1.3m from the Strategic Contingency Reserve to address 

this in year pressure and the reported position reflects this contribution from 

reserve. 

• Security (£63k) The £262k overspend on staffing includes the pay award 

pressure, £12k spend on clothing and uniform and £4k on other operational 

costs, offset against (£341k) Internal Income. 

Page 40



 
 

• Presto £310kThe overspend was due to a £30k income pressure on the Presto 

service, £123k on the Meals at Home service and £157k on the Civic Flavour 

service. 

Budget Action Plans 

A total of £9.2m of budget action plans were monitored each month. There was a 
shortfall of £0.804m in respect of; Fleet Services £0.244m, Civic Flavour £0.04m, 
IDS £0.370m and Communications and Marketing £0.15m. 
 

1.7 Strategic & Central Accounts - The outturn position for the Strategic and Central 
Accounts is an underspend of £44.8m. This includes the use of £5.2m from the 
Merrion House reserve, which was needed to balance the overall corporate 
position. The position includes the recognition of a refund of £17.7m from WYCA in 
relation to amounts collected for the Transport Fund which are no longer required. 
An underspend of £2.4m in energy costs across the council has also been 
recognised, and £3.3m of earmarked reserves have been applied to support the 
corporate position. 

  
The overall Strategic accounts position includes an underspend in the debt budget 
of £17.8m in total, including net external interest costs and reductions in MRP. 
Although interest rate rises have been higher than was anticipated when the budget 
was approved, the borrowing requirement has reduced due to expected capital 
programme slippage and the fact that revenue balances have remained robust. The 
net saving to the general fund in external interest costs net of investment income 
was £5.7m. However, this was partially offset by a reduction in prudential borrowing 
charges from directorates of £0.5m. The overall saving in the debt budget also 
includes a saving of £1.9m in the MRP charge in relation to 2022/23 capital spend. 
Further savings of £3.9m and £6.3m have been made by the application of surplus 
capital receipts to fund PFI liability repayments and to redeem debt, thereby 
reducing MRP. £2.4m of this reduction was contributed to earmarked reserves. 
 
Additional grant income of £1.3m has been recognised within the Strategic 
accounts, following the announcement within the final Local Government settlement 
that the surplus held in the national NDR levy pool would be distributed to councils. 
The Strategic accounts also include an overspend of £0.3m in the contribution to 
WYCA (the West Yorkshire Combined Authority). This arose because, although 
WYCA’s overall budget remained unchanged, the proportion which is charged to 
the Council increased due to changes in the relative population sizes of the five 
West Yorkshire councils. This pressure has been partly offset by the recognition of 
£0.2m of residual covid sales, fees and charges compensation grant income, which 
had previously been uncertain, but which has now been received. 
 
There have been a number of other gains and losses. General capitalisation was 
£0.7m above the amount budgeted for and the Miscellaneous budget underspent by 
£0.2m. However, recharges for central services have reduced by £0.5m, S278 
income was £0.2m below budget, and a corporate savings target for prompt 
payment discounts of £0.3m has not been realised. 
 
The position also reflects a reduction of £1.2m in the net retained income position in 
relation to business rates, comprising S31 grants receivable less the levy payable to 
the regional pool. This has been funded by a transfer from the S31 grants reserve 
and so has no impact on the bottom line. 

Page 41



 
 

1.8 Budget Action Plans 
 

The budget for 2023/24 required the delivery of £58.6m of savings. In addition, 
directorates have identified a further £7.2m of savings actions since the Budget was 
agreed. Detailed budget action plans were developed to identify how these savings 
would be achieved and progress against these action plans has been monitored 
and reported throughout the year. Further detail is provided at Appendix 3. 
 

At Outturn, £50.6m of savings were delivered (£45.7m against the original budget 

and £4.9m against the £7.2m of additional savings above), either through the 

identified saving plans or through mitigating actions identified by directorates, the 

main exceptions being: 

• Children & Families - £12.2m shortfall against the budgeted level of savings 
from the following projects: diversifying Children's Residential and Fostering 
provision £3.479m; review of Placement Commissioning £4.0m; Turning the 
Curve £3.0m; review of Contracts £0.369m; Transport efficiencies £0.323m and 
other efficiencies across the directorate £1.073m. More detail is provided at 
paragraph 1.3, where it is noted that the target for Children’s Residential and 
Fostering provision £3.479m, which is included in the £12.2m shortfall reported, 
will be funded corporately and so does not appear in the reported Outturn 
position. There is also a £0.8m shortfall against the additional £5.1m savings 
target for the directorate relating to Little Owls provision.   

• Strategy and Resources – £0.8m shortfall in the budgeted level of savings 
from the following projects: £0.37m review of the Network Management Centre 
project, £0.24m Fleet Services efficiencies target, £0.15m Communications & 
Marketing synergies and £0.08m BSC Shared Cost Salary Sacrifice and £0.04m 
Civic Flavour relating to weddings and Armley Sports Centre Café.  
 

As discussed at paragraph 1.6, the Strategy and Resources savings position 

outlined here reflects the use of £1.3m from the Strategic Contingency Reserve to 

fund budgeted fleet savings which are not deliverable across the Council in year 

due to the impact of inflation, costs of maintaining an ageing fleet and increased 

demand for services, as approved at September Executive Board. 

 
Where other directorates have indicated shortfalls regarding fully meeting their 

targeted budget action plans, they have identified other mitigating measures to 

offset these shortfalls, as explained in paragraphs 1.2 to 1.7. Also, some of the 

undelivered action plans will be pursued in 2024/25. 

 

1.9 Measures to address the 2023/24 overspend position: 
 
During the year, staff were reminded of their role in supporting the financial position, 
through ensuring they stay within budget, identifying ways to absorb in year 
pressures, highlighting any issues early and supporting robust monitoring.  
 
The council’s Corporate Leadership Team agreed to continue the freeze on 
recruitment, agency and overtime spend introduced in 2022/23 and have further 
strengthened vacancy controls.  
 
Cross-directorate work was undertaken, and continues, to support and challenge 
the highest cost/spend areas. Asset reviews are underway to ensure the council 
has the right numbers and mix of assets and directorates continue to consider 

Page 42



 
 

where future year savings options identified as part of the Financial Challenge to 
meet the MTFS funding gap could be brought forward to generate savings during 
2023/24.   
 
Following Executive Board’s approval in September, £1.85m of non-essential spend 
budgets were moved out of respective Chief Officer budgets to specific strategic 
cost centres within each directorate to prevent further spend where it has been 
identified that this reduction in spend is not detrimental to the delivery of services. 
At Outturn, a £1.0m underspend is being reported in those services where budgets 
have been reduced. 
 
Controls on spending were further strengthened by the implementation of a range of 
measures that include the following:  

• No travel is being undertaken unless it is required for the essential delivery of a 
service or in very exceptional circumstances; all meetings, where possible, 
should be conducted remotely / in the employee’s place of business (with no 
travel costs incurred to attend a meeting if this meeting could be held remotely 
and; no conferences or training courses should be attended where these require 
travel either through mileage or public transport.   

• With a number of exceptions e.g., social work roles a complete recruitment 
freeze is now in place.  

• Tighter controls are in place in respect of Agency and Overtime. All Agency Staff 
are being reviewed and Overtime needs to be consistent with the exception 
requirements to the recruitment freeze. 

• All spend that is not for the delivery of a service is not being incurred. To deliver 
this requirement all orders need to be approved and no spend is being incurred 
on Purchase Cards unless this is essential to the delivery of the service. 
Purchase Card Levels have been reduced to “zero” in the majority of cases and 
only those approved by the respective Directors remain in use. 

 
Whilst the actions detailed above impacted positively on the level of spend incurred, 
the Council has still needed to apply funding from reserves to achieve a balanced 
position for 2023/24. As detailed above, the outturn Strategic & Central Accounts 
position includes recognition of the refund of £17.7m from WYCA in relation to 
amounts collected for the Transport Fund which are no longer required and use of 
£5.2m from the Merrion House reserve.  
 

2. Inflationary Pressures 
 

2.1 Pay Inflation – The 2023/24 budget allowed for £38.9m of pay inflation. The 
increase provided for the following elements: £18.8m which reflects the Employer’s 
final offer for 2022/23 and which was not agreed until after approval of the 2022/23 
budget; £18.2m for an assumed 2023/24 pay award incorporating a 4% pay award 
for all other staff and the Real Living Wage of £10.90 at pay scale points 1 and 2 
announced in September 2022; £0.3m in regard to the pay impact of the additional 
day of leave included in the 2022/23 pay award to be implemented from 2023/24; 
and £1.6m for the additional cost of Enhancements. The Outturn position reflects 
the agreed 2023/24 NJC pay award of £1,925 and JNC pay award of 3.5% which 
exceeded this budget and was unfunded. Directorates have included any identified 
pay award mitigation measures in their 2023/24 budget action plans. 
 
Energy – The 2023/24 budget allowed for a £10.7m or 53.21% increase in energy 

costs for gas and electricity. Since the budget was set in February 2023 energy 

Page 43



 
 

prices have stabilised, with short term commodity prices currently around twice the 

historical levels prior to the energy crisis on average, which, although still high, are 

much lower than the extremes seen over the last two years. Advice from the 

Council’s energy advisors during this time has therefore largely been to hold off 

temporarily from forward purchasing energy as the markets have continued to ease, 

and as such the LCC unsecured volume over recent months has been attracting 

lower spot market prices to the benefit of overall final unit prices (although recent 

events in the Middle East have introduced a level of volatility in global market 

prices). Alongside the purchasing strategy, actions continue to be taken to review 

energy usage and implement measures across the Authority’s estate in order to 

reduce the pressures associated with increased energy costs.  

 

At Outturn energy costs were £2.4m lower than allowed for in the 2023/24 General 

Fund budget. At July’s meeting Executive Board approved in principle that any 

underspend on energy would be transferred to the Strategic Contingency Reserve 

to support the Council to deal with pressures in other areas. As referenced in 

Paragraph 1.7 above the underspend on energy has been applied to balance the 

2023/24 position. 

 

2.2 Fuel – The average UK pump prices for diesel and unleaded petrol saw decreases 
of (6.83%) and (0.79%) respectively between March 2023 and March 2024. The 
2023/24 budget had allowed for an increase of £1.2m, largely attributable to the 
significant price increases in 2022/23.  
 

2.3 Cost of Living Pressures – Further to the inflationary pressures detailed here, 
there has been a wider inflationary impact to the Council due to the severity of 
increased cost of living on our residents and businesses. As expected, we have 
seen the impact of this in increased costs to the Council for the goods and services 
that we procure, increased demand for support and welfare services, and reduced 
income across a range of services as Leeds residents and visitors choose to spend 
differently.   
 

3. Funding from other Resources 
 

3.1 Flexible Use of Capital Receipts 
  
Under guidance issued in March 2016 and updated in August 2022, Local 
Authorities are allowed to use capital receipts for funding “expenditure on any 
project that is designed to generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of 
public services and/or transform service delivery to reduce costs and/or transform 
service delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for services in future years 
for any of the public sector delivery partners”. 
  
Full Council approved allocation of £19m of capital receipts in the 2023/24 budget 
to support further transformational work/ projects. In September 2023 the Executive 
Board approved an additional capital receipts use of £5.3m, of which £2.4m 
reflected slippage against budgeted use in 2022/23 and £2.9m related to new 
transformation spend. The October meeting of this Board approved further use of 
capital receipts to provide additional PACS staff to support transformation projects 
across the Council £0.6m and to meet in year ELI costs £0.4m. In April the Board 
approved £0.1m to support the delivery of City Development capital schemes, 

Page 44



 
 

£0.04m for Ernest & Young to support the current Procurement contract review 
exercise and a further £0.2m increase in in year ELI costs. 
 
Table 4: 2023/24 Flexible Use Of Capital Receipts Outturn Position 

 
  
At Outturn, the Board is recommended to approve the following additional flexible 
use of capital receipts of £2.2m: £1.52m Voluntary Leaver Scheme costs and 
flexible retirements, £0.35m Strategy & Resources’ staff supporting transformational 
projects/ work and £0.35m Communities’ staff supporting transformational projects/ 
work in climate change and Community Hubs, bringing the total planned spend for 
2023/24 to £27.79m, as shown in Table 4. Further details are provided at 
Appendix 4. 
  
At Outturn the total use of capital receipts for transformational projects is £19.41m 
and this spend has achieved (£9.6m) of savings in 2023/24, with further savings in 
future years. The £8.4m reduction against planned usage reflects both reductions in 
the funding required for some schemes and partial slippage of others into future 
years including CBT programme slippage of £3.6m. There is a marginal reduction in 
anticipated savings in 2023/24.  
  

3.2 Invest to Save/Innovation Funds – The Invest to Save and Innovation Funds are 
designed to strengthen the Council’s longer term financial resilience. The Invest to 
Save fund is used for service improvements or transformational projects where a 
proof of concept has already been delivered and an initial revenue investment 
would directly generate cost reductions or income for the Council. The Innovation 
Fund is designed to provide pump-priming investment for those more conceptual 
schemes which need to be developed further. It is acknowledged that not all of 
these schemes will be successful. Any savings generated will be reflected in the 
directorate positions.    

 
As summarised in Table 5, the total funds available for Invest to Save and 
Innovation Fund schemes at the start of 2023/24 were £4.1m, of which £0.9m 
relates to funds committed before 2022/23 and a further £0.3m relates to funds 
committed in 2022/23 – of which £0.1m was spent this year. At 2023/24 Outturn, a 
further £1.6m has been committed– of which £0.8m has been spent. This leaves an 
uncommitted and available balance of £1.2m. The most significant uses of the fund 
approved in 2023/24 relate to Phase 3 of the Education, Health and Care Plans 
(EHCP) review (£553k) and the establishment of an additional eight internal 

Directorate

  2023/24 

Planned 

Spend

2023/24 

Projected 

Outturn 

Variation 

to Budget

  2023/24 

Planned 

Savings

2023/24 

Projected 

Outturn 

Variation 

to Budget

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Adults & Health 2.32 2.14 (0.18) (5.00) (5.00) 0.00

Children & Families 1.40 0.73 (0.67) 0.00 0.00 0.00

City Development 0.73 0.38 (0.36) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Communities, Housing & 

Environment
0.48 0.35 (0.13) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Strategic & Resources 10.11 6.90 (3.21) (2.03) (2.03) 0.00

Strategic/ Corporate 12.75 8.91 (3.84) (2.75) (2.54) 0.21

Grand Total 27.79 19.41 (8.39) (9.78) (9.57) 0.21

Page 45



 
 

residential beds for Children Looked After (£300k). Although no in year savings 
have been realised, this targeted expenditure will result in savings in future years. 

 
Table 5: Invest to Save/Innovation Funds Outturn 

 
 

3.3 COVID-19 Backlog Recovery Fund – This fund was established to meet costs 
related to clearing backlogs caused by the COVID-19 Pandemic. The total funds at 
the start of 2023/24 were £0.6m. At 2023/24 Outturn £0.6m has been committed, 
against which £0.5m has been spent. This position is summarised in Table 6. 
  
The most significant uses of this Fund relate to Business Administration support to 
the Children and Families directorate (£0.25m) and additional staffing resource for 
Debt Recovery (£0.15m).  
 
Table 6: COVID-19 Backlog Recovery Fund Outturn  

 

 
 
 
 
 

£k £k

Total Funds at start of 2023/24 (4,076)

Less Funds Committed before 2022/23 941

Less Funds Committed in 2022/23:

City Development 0 0 0

Communities, Housing & Environment 245 13 0

Strategy & Resources 73 73 98

318 86 98

Less Funds Committed in 2023/24:

Children & Families 1,199 706 0

City Development 177 0 0

Communities, Housing & Environment 115 0 0

Strategy & Resources 136 101 0

Strategic 5 5 0

1,632 812 0

Therefore Funds uncommitted and available (1,185)

Year End 

Actual 

Spend

£k

Year End 

Actual 

Savings

£k

£k £k

Total Funds at start of 2023/24 (623)

Less Funds Committed to 2023/24*:

City Development 146 49

Communities, Housing & Environment 66 66

Strategy & Resources 407 407

619 522

Therefore Funds uncommitted and available (4)

*To note, where schemes involve two directorates, they have been included under the lead directorate.

Year End 

Actual 

Spend

£k

Page 46



 
 

4. Early Leaver’s Initiative/ Voluntary Leaver’s Scheme (VLS) 
 
The Council has operated a voluntary retirement and severance scheme since 
2010/11 which has contributed to a reduction in the workforce and subsequent 
savings which have contributed towards the Council being able to deliver balanced 
budget positions. In 2023/24, approval has been given for 114.84 FTEs to leave the 
Authority through the Early Leaver’s Initiative (ELI) or Voluntary Leaver’s Scheme 
(VLS) as part of restructuring exercises. This will generate savings of £22.320m 
(before reconfiguration costs) over the five-year period up to and including 2028/29. 

 
5. Treasury Management 

 
As reported in paragraph 1.7, the revenue budget for debt reported a £17.8m 
underspend, including net external interest costs, the application of surplus capital 
receipts, and other reductions in MRP. The net borrowing of the Council as at 31st 
March 2024 is £2.49bn. This was £17m lower than the most recent update to 
Executive Board provided in February 2024 as part of the 2023/24 Treasury 
Strategy report and is £82m lower than the level on which the 2023/24 revenue 
budget was based. 

 
Further details are presented in the Treasury Management Outturn 2023/24 report 
to this Executive Board. 

 
6. Movement from Provisional Outturn to Outturn 
 

Table 7 summarises the movement from the Provisional Outturn position reported 
to Executive Board in April and the Outturn position presented in this report. 
 
Table 7 Movement between Provisional Outturn and Outturn by Directorate 

 
 

 
7. Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  

 
7.1 The outturn for the year on the HRA shows a net underspend of £0.9m when 

compared against the 2023/24 budget.  
 

7.2 Total income received was £1.7m lower than budgeted. Rental income was £1m 
less than budgeted, mainly due to the number of void properties being higher than 

Directorate

Provisional 

Outturn April 

2024 Exec 

Board

Final 

Outturn 

June 2024 

Exec Board 

Movement 

Provisional 

to Final 

£(000) £(000) £(000)

Adults & Health 0 17 17

Children & Families 39,460 38,129 (1,331)

City Development (1,022) (1,650) (628)

Communities, Housing & Environment 5,022 4,989 (33)

Strategy & Resources 3,602 3,275 (327)

Directorate Sub Total 47,062 44,760 (2,302)

Strategic & Central Accounts (47,062) (44,760) 2,302

Grand Total 0 0 0

Page 47



 
 

budgeted and some slippage in the new build schemes. Service charges were 
£0.2m higher than expected reflecting the impact of Gascoigne House and 
leaseholder income. Internal income was £1.1m less than budgeted due to a 
reduction in the staff costs chargeable to the capital programme as a result of 
vacant posts within the service. In addition, net external income was £0.2m higher 
than budgeted.   
 

7.3 The cost of the disrepair provision was £0.1m less than the budget due to a 
reduction in the number of disrepair cases received in year. The total balance sheet 
provision for disrepair now totals £3.6m.  
 

7.4 Against a budget of £56m, expenditure on maintaining and repairing the Council's 
housing stock was £0.6m under budget.  
 

7.5 Savings of £1m on staffing costs, net of the impact of the pay award, arose as a 
result of vacant posts in the service.  
  

7.6 Premises costs were approximately £0.5m lower than budgeted. This was 
principally due to reductions in the price of gas and electricity compared with prices 
assumed at budget setting. 
  

7.7 Supplies and Services overspent by £0.1m due to the increase in Housing 
Ombudsman fees. The PFI Unitary charge saw a reduction of £0.4m compared with 
the budget.  
  

7.8 Services commissioned from the Council were £0.7m below the budgeted level as a 
result of savings passed on through internal recharges during the year. 
  

7.9 Following a review of the level of tenant arrears the contribution to the provision for 
doubtful debts was £0.4m higher than budgeted. The total provision for bad debts is 
now £8.1m. 
 

7.10 The Capital charges (debt costs) underspend of £0.6m reflects the reduction on in 
year spend on the Council House Growth programme. 
 

7.11 The revenue contribution to the Capital Programme was £0.8m higher than 
budgeted.  
 

7.12 In summary, the above variations have produced an underspend on the HRA of 
£0.9m, summarised in Table 8, which will be transferred to reserves. 
 
Table 8: HRA Outturn Variance 

 
 

Budget Area

Variance to 

Budget £m 

Rent / Other Income  1.7 

Employees  (1.0) 

Repairs / Disrepair  (0.7) 

Running Costs  (1.7) 

Revenue Contribution to Capital   0.8 

Total (0.9) 

Transfer to Reserves  0.9 

Page 48



 
 

7.13 A summary of the HRA Outturn reserves position is shown in Table 9. 
 
Table 9: HRA Outturn Reserves Position  

 
 

 

8. Schools  
 
Dedicated Schools Grant   

    
8.1 The 2023/24 outturn position for schools is shown in Table 10 below.   

 
Table 10 Schools Outturn Position   

 
 

Reserves 

B/fwd

Use of 

Reserve

Contribution 

to Reserve

Closing 

Reserve 23/24

£000 £000 £000 £000

Major Repairs Reserve (3,199) 58,151 (61,638) (6,686)

Earmarked Reserves

Revenue Disrepair/Repairs (69) (5) (74)

Housing Advisory Panels (39) (66) (105)

Changing the Workplace (301) 301 0

Wharfedale View (54) (14) (68)

Local Authority Housing Fund (2,589) 1,839 (750)

Tenant Satisfaction Funding 0 (98) (98)

Earmarked Reserves (3,053) 2,140 (183) (1,096)

HRA General Reserve (7,675) (250) (7,925)

PFI Reserves

Swarcliffe PFI Sinking Fund (4,199) 60 (4,139)

LLBH&H PFI Sinking Fund (3,763) (117) (3,880)

Swarcliffe PFI Lifecycle Retention Fund 0 (398) (398)

PFI Reserves (7,962) 60 (515) (8,417)

TOTAL RESERVES (21,889) 60,351 (62,586) (24,124)

Outturn  £m 

Schools Reserves    

Balance Brought Forward  26.2

Net Contribution To / (From) Reserves  (6.6)

Balance Carried Forward  19.6

Extended Services & Partnerships    

 Brought Forward  7.0

Net Contribution To / (From) Reserves  0.4

Balance Carried Forward  7.4

Dedicated Schools Grant    

Balance Brought Forward  9.0

Net Contribution To / (From) Reserves  (2.6)

Balance Carried Forward  6.4

Page 49



 
 

8.2 As schools are funded from the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) their reserves are 
ring fenced and must be carried forward. At 31st March 2024, maintained school 
reserves stand at £19.6m.   
 

8.3 Taking into account the maintained school reserves of £19.6m, and £1.5m of 
borrowing against these for funding provided in previous financial years to resource 
early intervention and preventative services (£2.5m of the £4.0m originally borrowed 
has already been repaid), the net position for maintained school-related reserves is 
£18.1m as at 31st March 2024.   
 

8.4 Extended Services & Partnerships reserves amount to £7.4m as at 31st March 2024. 
These include balances held by Area Inclusion Partnerships and Clusters.    
 

8.5 At the start of 2023/24 the in-year DSG budget was assumed to balance whilst the 
ring fenced DSG reserve had a surplus balance of £9.0m. During 2023/24 there has 
been a net reduction of £2.6m, which results in a surplus balance of £6.4m to be 
carried forward into 2024/25. This surplus balance will be retained in the DSG 
reserve and considered in spending decisions in 2024/25.  
  

8.6 The DSG in year overspend is split across:  
  

• Schools Block (£0.9m)   
• Early Years Block (£1.7m)  
• High Needs Block £3.9m  
• Central School Services Block £1.3m  

 
8.7 The Schools Block underspend of £0.9m includes a saving of £1.0m against the de-

delegated schools budget which was mainly due to underspends against both the 
Schools Contingency Fund and Maternity Budget.   
 

8.8 There was already a de-delegated surplus of £1.9m brought forward from 2022/23. 
Of this £1.3m was re-distributed back to schools pro rata to their original 
contributions. In 2023/24 £0.5m of the de-delegated surplus brought forward was 
set aside for 2023/24 costs, but due to the savings against the de-delegated budget 
this was no longer required. The 2023/24 underspend results in a closing de-
delegated surplus of £1.2m. As in previous years it is expected that a proportion of 
this surplus will be re-distributed back to schools pro rata to their original 
contributions.  
 

8.9 The Early Years Block underspend of £1.7m (2.8% of funding received) is mainly 
attributed to additional Funded Early Education Entitlements (FEEE) for 3-4 year 
olds. Early years funding received is based on the January 2023 census and the 
January 2024 census data and paid out to providers based on the children 
attending settings. As a result of this there is always a difference between the 
funding received by the local authority and that paid out to providers. To recognise 
this differential a decision was made to increase the 2023/24 base hourly rate paid 
to providers which effectively paid a higher hourly rate to providers than the local 
authority received. The hourly rate is reviewed each year and the latest forecasts 
for census data and headcounts continue to be used when setting this.   
 

8.10 The High Needs Block overspent by £3.9m. This overspend is comprised of:  

• Out of area and residential placements - £2.1m overspend (see further detail 
below). 

Page 50



 
 

• Additional High Needs DSG Income – (£0.5m). 

• SEN Top Ups to Institutions - £2.2m overspend (see further detail below). 

• Mainstream additional places (£6k blocks) - £0.9m overspend. 

• Services provided by Childrens and Families – (£0.9m) underspend (see further 
detail below). 

• Other minor variances - £80k. 
  

8.11 The £2.1m overspend against the Out of area and residential placements budget is 
mainly due to the increased number of high needs pupils in External Residential 
placements.  The education element of these placements is charged against the 
high needs block.  

  
8.12 SEN top up to institutions has an overspend of £2.2m most of which relates to an 

increase in top ups paid to mainstream schools to reflect the increased numbers of 
high needs pupils in mainstream schools. 
 

8.13 An impact of the increase in SEN top-ups to mainstream schools is increased 
expenditure on the budget for the additional £6k blocks paid to schools who have a 
higher number of SEN pupils than their notional SEN budget covers.   As a result, 
this budget is overspent by £0.9m due to an increased number of SEN pupils within 
schools meeting the criteria for additional £6k blocks. 
 

8.14 There is a combined underspend in the services provided by Children and Families 
of £0.9m. The majority of this is due to the Invest to Save budget which has largely 
not been spent during 2023/24. 

   
8.15 In summary a total surplus balance of £6.4m will be carried forward to 2024/25, 

comprising a general DSG surplus of £5.3m with an additional surplus balance of 
£1.1m on the de-delegated DSG. This represents 1.2% of the total DSG funding of 
£519m received in 2023/24. This position will be reported to Schools Forum in 
June.   

 
9. Reserves  

 
Table 11 Total Reserves  

 

Balance at Transfers Balance at

Reserves 1st April 2023 (to)/From 31st March 2024

£m £m £m

General Fund:

General Reserve (33.2) (3.0) (36.2)

Earmarked Reserves (98.7) 45.6 (53.1)

Ring-fenced & Grant Reserves (22.9) (4.7) (27.6)

Total (154.8) 37.9 (116.9)

Schools:

Ring-fenced Reserves (42.4) 8.8 (33.5)

Housing Revenue Account:

General Reserve (7.7) (0.3) (7.9)

Earmarked Reserves (14.2) (2.0) (16.2)

Total (21.9) (2.2) (24.1)

Total Reserves (219.1) 44.5 (174.6)

Page 51



 
 

9.1 A full statement of all Council reserves can be found at Appendix 5 and a summary 
is provided in Table 11. Overall, with Board approval, the Council’s total reserves 
will reduce to (£174.6m), a reduction of £44.5m overall when compared to the 
position at 31st March 2023. This includes a decrease in General Fund earmarked 
reserves of £37.9m, which includes use of the Merrion Reserve to balance the 
outturn position.  

Strategic Contingency Reserve 

 
9.2 The 2023/24 budget includes use of reserves to support the Council’s General 

Fund, including use of the Strategic Contingency Reserve which was established in 
2020/21 to fund future unforeseen budget pressures and to ensure the Council 
becomes more financially resilient. 
   

9.3 The opening balance on the Strategic Contingency Reserve for 2023/24 was 
£19.9m with budgeted use of the reserve being £14.3m and a further £0.6m 
committed to support COVID-19 backlog recovery. September’s meeting of the 
Executive Board approved the use of £1.3m from this reserve to fund budgeted fleet 
savings. A further £3.5m has been allocated against slippage in the Children’s 
Residential and Fostering provision action plan, £0.2m to provide Internship funding 
in Strategy and Resources and £0.6m had been set aside to address Covid backlog 
issues. At the year end only £8.6m was required against budgeted use of the 
reserve, £1.3m has been applied against fleet savings and £3.5m against the 
Residential and Fostering provision action plan. £0.5m of the COVID backlog funds, 
£0.1m to support the Be Your Best programme and £0.06m of Internship funding 
have been drawn down by directorates. This left a balance of £5.8m in the reserve 
before the transfer of the remaining £17.1m balance of the Merrion House reserve, 
which brings the available year end balance on the Strategic Contingency Reserve 
to £23.0m.  
  
Merrion House Reserve 
 

9.4 At 1st April 2023 the Merrion House Reserve held a balance of £22.3m. The 
balanced position includes use of £5.2m from this reserve. The remaining £17.1m 
had been moved to the Strategic Contingency Reserve to realign these strategic 
balances and is reflected in the balance carried forward on that reserve. 
 
COVID Reserve  

9.5 In addition, a specific COVID Reserve was created in the 2021/22 Budget to be 
applied to any pressures arising which exceed the initial estimate of the COVID 
impact. A balance of £1.37m was carried forward into 2023/24, £1.33m of which 
has been applied in year. 

Other General Fund Earmarked Reserves 

9.6 The decrease in General Fund earmarked reserves also reflects a net reduction of 
£9.2m to Adults and Health reserves to fund health and social care priorities, a net 
of £8.2m has been released from the S31 Business Rates reserve to apply 
government grant received in 2021/22 to the Business Rates Collection Fund 
position in 2023/24, the year in which reliefs to businesses impact on the General 
Fund budget. The General Insurance reserve has reduced by £5.7m. These and 
other movements in General Fund earmarked reserves are detailed at Appendix 5. 

Page 52



 
 

9.7 Total General Fund ringfenced and grant reserves have increased by £4.7m to 
£27.6m, so that the overall movement in General Fund reserves totals a reduction 
of £37.9m.  

9.8 Given the ongoing uncertainties regarding the impacts of the cost of living crisis and 
inflationary pressures on the Council’s financial position, including the potential 
impact on the Authority’s Collection Fund, maintaining this level of reserves will help 
to cushion the Council against variations to budget assumptions in 2024/25 and 
beyond. This position is consistent with the Council’s strategy to ensure reserves 
are sufficient, the Council’s financial position is robust, resilient and sustainable. 

9.9 As discussed at paragraphs 7 and 8, HRA reserves have increased by £2.2m and 
Schools ring-fenced reserves have reduced by £8.8m in 2023/24. 
 

9.10 General Reserve 
 

Table 12 provides an explanation of the position in the general reserve. 
 
Table 12 General Fund Reserve 

 
 

  
9.11 As at 1st April 2023 the level of general reserve was £33.2m. The 2023/24 budget 

assumed £3.0m contribution to this reserve during 2023/24 and the reserve has not 
been used during the year. Consequently, as per Table 12, the balance at 31st 
March 2024 improved to £36.2m. Maintaining the Council’s general reserve in this 
way continues to contribute to the Council’s financial resilience, particularly in the 
context of the ongoing impact of the cost of living crisis, continued delays to the 
reformed distribution model that allocates funding between individual local 
authorities known as the Fair Funding Review and a series of one-year Local 
Government Financial Settlements that have not helped local government plan for 
the medium-term. Adding to this uncertainty is the continuing impact of high 
inflation, resulting in increased costs for both the Council and the community, loss 
of income for the Council and increasing demand for Council services. In addition, 
following publication of the Government’s plans for social care there is still 
significant uncertainty around the related funding. These and other emerging risks 
are discussed at Paragraph 12. 

 
9.12 Creation of New Earmarked Reserves 

 
It is recommended that the following earmarked reserves are created:  
 

• A ‘NEET Funding from WYCA’ reserve of £0.05m to carry forward funding 
received from the West Yorkshire Combined Authority to support Young people 
not in education, employment or training (NEET) activities in 2024/25. 

• An ‘Adoption National Recruitment Strategy’ reserve of £0.25m to carry forward 
DfE funding to undertake work for Regional Adoption Agencies in England. 

General Fund Reserve £m

Opening Balance 1st April 2023 (33.2)

Budgeted Use 0.0

Budgeted Contribution (3.0)

Use In Year 0.0

Contribution In Year 0.0

Closing Balance 31st March 2024 (36.2)

Page 53



 
 

Funding has currently not been agreed after March 2025 and this reserve is 
intended to provide contingency to cover Leeds City Council costs should 
funding cease.   

• A ‘Purchase of Vehicles’ reserve of £0.8m to carry forward funds to 2024/25 
which have been ringfenced for the purchase of fleet vehicles but has not been 
spent in the current year. 

 
10. Capital Programme 

 
Overall Capital Programme 2023/24 – 2027/28 
 

10.1 Table 13 shows the revised capital programme for 2023/24 to 2027/28 as at 
2023/24 Outturn. It totals £1,933.0m, an increase of £26.3m since the last capital 
programme update reported to February 2024 Executive Board. 
 
Table 13 Restated Capital Programme as at 2023/24 Outturn: 2023/24 to 2027/28  

 
 

10.2 The programme is further analysed between General Fund (£1,319.8m) and HRA 
(£613.2m). Capital priorities were set out as part of the February 2023 budget 
process and the capital programme approved in February 2023 is structured to 
show schemes under these priorities. This is summarised in Appendix 6A, with an 
analysis across Annual and Major Programmes provided at Appendix 6A (i) and 
Appendix 6A (ii). 
 

10.3 Appendix 6A (iii) details net injections of £397.7m since the approval of the Capital 
Programme in February 2023. This report seeks a further net injection of £20.6m, 
which includes: 
• £8,029.4k of 24/25 High Needs Provision Capital Allocation (HNPCA) Grant; 
• £7,758.6k of additional funding injections to HRA Schemes; 
• £1,313.5k of external contributions for works on Highways schemes; 
• £1,000.0k of additional Highways Grant for the TCF City Centre Cycle Network 

scheme; 
• £110.5k of additional departmental borrowing for the Waste Depot scheme; and 

• £2,416.1k of other external contributions. 
 
Capital Programme 2023/24 
 

10.4 Table 14 shows the revised capital programme for 2023/24 compared to previous 
quarterly capital programme updates reported to Executive Board. 
 
 
 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Forecast Expenditure 391.2 518.7 502.4 265.8 254.9 1,933.0

Funded By;

Borrowing 107.2 193.1 188.6 86.6 93.2 668.7

Government Grants 132.4 182.3 185.5 72.4 71.2 643.8

Gen Fund Capital Receipts 19.5 19.5 10.2 10.1 9.4 68.7

Other Grants & Contributions 37.5 17.8 6.2 7.6 1.6 70.7

HRA Self Financing 58.2 63.4 62.9 65.2 66.5 316.2

HRA Right to Buy Receipts 36.4 42.6 49.0 23.9 13.0 164.9

Total Forecast Resources 391.2 518.7 502.4 265.8 254.9 1,933.0

Page 54



 
 

Table 14 2023/24 Outturn compared to Previously Reported Projections 

 
 

10.5 Actual capital expenditure in 2023/24 is £391.2m, an underspend of £6.2m (a 1.6% 
variation) against the February 2024 Capital Programme projected Outturn. Table 
15 analyses this variation across Directorates and funding streams. 
 
Table 15 2023/24 Outturn: Variances compared to February 2024 Projections 

 
 

10.6 A full breakdown of the net variances is detailed in Appendix 6B. Comments are 
also provided for schemes that have a material variation of greater than +/-£500k. 
Where directorates do not have variations in excess of £500k, main variances are 
detailed. 
 

10.7 The General Fund capital programme delivered £268.3m of investment including 
£94.9m on essential annual programmes and £173.4m on major programmes 
including: 
• £23.1m City Centre Package & Armley Gyratory; 
• £20.3m Flood Alleviation schemes; 
• £20.0m Decarbonisation Programme and Energy Efficiency related schemes; 
• £10.8m Learning Places Programme; 
• £10.2m Sustainable Active Travel; 

February 

2023

Restated as 

at 2022/23 

Outturn

Q1 Q2 Q3

February 

2024

2023/24 

Outturn - This 

Report

Variance - 

This Report 

to Q3

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Forecast Expenditure 518.8 517.4 496.7 461.4 397.4 391.2 (6.2)

Funded By;

Borrowing 173.6 193.6 182.4 150.0 111.9 107.2 (4.7)

Government Grants 189.2 175.4 176.2 165.7 141.5 132.4 (9.1)

Gen Fund Capital Receipts 19.2 19.8 18.5 23.9 19.3 19.5 0.2

Other Grants & Contributions 29.5 27.4 29.1 30.9 33.1 37.5 4.4

HRA Self Financing 65.2 64.6 51.3 51.8 53.4 58.2 4.8

HRA Right to Buy Receipts 42.1 36.6 39.2 39.1 38.2 36.4 (1.8)

Total Forecast Resources 518.8 517.4 496.7 461.4 397.4 391.2 (6.2)

2023/24 Capital Programme

Feb '24 Final

Estimate Outturn

£m £m £m %

Adults & Health 3.1 3.0 (0.1) -1.4%

Strategic & Central 35.8 37.1 1.3 3.7%

City Development 147.9 148.8 0.9 0.6%

Children & Families 25.7 25.7 0.0 -0.1%

Strategy & Resources 9.1 8.5 (0.6) -7.6%

Communities, Housing & Environment 46.4 45.2 (1.2) -2.7%

Total General Fund 268.0 268.3 0.3 0.1%

HRA 129.4 122.9 (6.5) -5.3%

Total Capital Programme 397.4 391.2 (6.2) -1.6%

Funded By;

Borrowing 111.9 107.2 (4.7) -4.4%

Government Grants 141.5 132.4 (9.1) -6.8%

Gen Fund Capital Receipts 19.3 19.5 0.2 1.0%

Other Grants & Contributions 33.1 37.5 4.4 11.6%

HRA Self Financing 53.4 58.2 4.8 8.2%

HRA Right to Buy Receipts 38.2 36.4 (1.8) -5.0%

Total Resources 397.4 391.2 (6.2) -1.6%

Variance

Page 55



 
 

• £10.0m Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan; 
• £ 9.9m Private Sector Renewal - Adaptations / Equity Loans; and  
• £ 6.4m Core Systems Review. 

 
10.8 The General Fund has utilised £156.9m of external contributions and £19.5m of 

capital receipts to fund expenditure capitalised under the government’s flexible 
receipts policy for funding transformational change projects such as the Core 
Systems Review scheme, with £91.9m of borrowing undertaken to fund the 
programme in 2023/24. 
 

10.9 The HRA capital programme delivered £122.9m of investment including £40.8m on 
the Council House Growth Programme and £82.1m on the refurbishment of our 
council house properties. This has utilised £58.2m of self-financing funding, £13.0m 
of external contributions, and £36.4m of Right to Buy receipts, with £15.3m of 
borrowing undertaken to fund the programme in 2023/24. 
 
Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) 
 

10.10 In line with the Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS), Appendix 6C details the 
additional CRIS allocations to wards and community committees for the period 
October 2023 to March 2024 of £239.1k and identifies a total balance available of 
£2,469.8k. A further CRIS injection will be included within the Q2 November 2024 
report for April-September 2024 completions. 

 
11. Other Financial Performance 

 
11.1 The performance statistics for the year in respect of the collection of local taxation 

are as follows: 
 

Table 16 Collection Rates 2023/24 

 

11.2 Council Tax 
 
Prior to 2013/14, support for the poorest council taxpayers came in the form of a 
central government benefit which offered claimants up to 100% support depending 
on their means. Government localised this scheme in 2013/14 with Council’s 
granting reductions to claimants according to local rules, but with a 10% reduction 
in the available funding and the stipulation that all pension-age claimants must 
receive the same as they would under the old scheme. Following the introduction of 
the localised Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme in 2013/14, a 19% contribution 
scheme was implemented in Leeds for working age claimants, this was increased to 
26% for 2014/15 but then subsequently set at 25% for the years from 2015/16 
onwards. 

Since the pandemic the Government has offered CTS claimants that have 
contributions to make to their liability further assistance with their Council Tax. In 
2020/21 this amounted to £8.9m in support in Leeds, reducing progressively to 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Leeds Leeds Leeds Leeds Leeds

Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual

Council Tax 95.93% 95.38% 94.24% 95.16% 93.94%

Business Rates 97.29% 87.72% 94.71% 96.27% 97.03%

Page 56



 
 

£1.6m in 2023/24. The 2023/24 support was used to reduce claimants bills by up to 
£40 with additional support to those experiencing particular hardship. 

Numbers of Working Age Council Tax Support claimants increased slightly between 
2022/23 and 2023/24, with 42,574 claimants as at 31st March 2023 rising to 43,021 
at 31st March 2024. As economic circumstances continue to be uncertain, the 
number of Working Age claimants and the subsequent impact on the Council Tax 
taxbase will have to be closely monitored in the coming year. 
 
The collection position for Council Tax at the end of March was as follows: 

• The Council Tax in-year collection rate has fallen significantly in 2023/24 to 
93.94% and remains below target. The lower collection rate largely reflects 
the ongoing impact of the cost-of-living crisis and delays in collecting council 
tax once a liability order has been secured from the courts. A liability order 
allows the Council to make attachments to earnings and benefits, but the 
amount recovered is restricted by regulation and it is applied to the oldest 
debts first. The continuing level of arrears from the pandemic years is 
therefore collected before collection activity can begin on 2023/24 arrears. 
Collection rates will continue to require close monitoring in 2024/25. A total of 
£442.0m has been collected in respect of 2023/24 bills, an increase of 
£21.5m when compared to the previous year. 

 
Closing position on the Council Tax Collection Fund 
 
The opening deficit on the 2023/24 Council Tax Collection Fund was £8.901m. This 
opening deficit included the deficit from 2022/23 and the final instalment of the 
deficit from 2020/21 which had to be spread over three years, and which was 
therefore repaid by the Council, the Fire Authority and Police in 2023/24. The 
repayment of the deficit into the collection fund was £8.778m. 
 
Repayment of the 2020/21 and 2022/23 deficits would be expected to produce an 
in-year surplus of the same amount, however the closing in-year surplus was only 
£3.377m, leaving a closing deficit on the collection fund of £5.523m. Leeds share of 
this closing deficit will be £4.644m, with the remainder being paid by the Fire 
Authority and the Police. 
 
The main reasons for the closing deficit are: - 
 

• £1.9m relating to a lower-than-expected number of completions for new 
houses in the city. 

• £0.7m relating to by a higher-than-expected proportion of new homes being 
exempt from council tax because they are wholly occupied by students. 

• £2.0m relating to a decrease in the expected fullness of time collection rate 
from 99.0% to 98.5%, recognising the lower collection rate in 2023/24. 

  
In December 2023 the Council declared a deficit of £1.930m, which it will repay into 
the collection fund in 2024/25 and is included in the 2024/25 Budget. The remaining 
£2.714m will now be carried forward and be included as a cost to the 2025/26 
Budget. 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



 
 

11.3 Business Rates  
 
The budgeted collection rate for business rates is to achieve collection of 97.1% in 
the fullness of time, which is 1.98% lower than pre-pandemic targets, and required 
collection of £363.7m of business rates income based on the forecast at January 
2023. By 31st March 2024 the collection rate for business rates was already 97.03% 
and it is to be expected that significant amounts will be collected in subsequent 
months, more than meeting the fullness of time target.  

This continues the recovery in collection rates experienced since the pandemic and 
has allowed the authority to reduce the amounts of provisions it has for non-
collection relating to 2023/24 and previous years (see below). 

Closing position on the Business Rates Collection Fund 

The opening deficit on the 2023/24 Business Rates Collection Fund was £18.532m. 
This opening deficit included the deficit from 2022/23 and the final instalment of the 
deficit from 2020/21, which had to be paid in three equal instalments. The fixed 
budgeted repayment of the deficit into the collection fund was £14.602m, and was 
repaid by the Council, the Government and the Fire Authority in 2023/24. 

The repayment of the declared deficit from 2020/21 and 2022/23 would be expected 
to produce an in-year surplus of the same amount in 2023/24. However, the closing 
deficit on the 2023/24 Business Rates Collection Fund is £0.273m, meaning that 
the in-year surplus on the Collection Fund is £18.259m, £3.657 higher than forecast 
in January 2023.  

This is due to a number of significant variances impacting Non-Domestic Rating 
Income in 2023/24 compared to the forecast position in January 2023. In-year 
growth in the taxbase was £8.1m lower than forecast, with aggregate Rateable 
Value in the city falling from £954.9m to £948.2m. This was largely due to 
reductions in Rateable Value being mandated by the Valuation Office Agency as it 
reviewed the new 2023 Ratings List which came into force on 1st April 2023. As 
businesses saw their Rateable Values reduced due to backdated appeals the cost 
of appeals provisions had to be increased by £1.8m more than expected and more 
ratepayers became entitled to Small Business Rates Relief which cost the 
Collection Fund £3.1m more than forecast. Changes to Rateable Values about 
which the Council had no prior knowledge, and therefore had made no provisions, 
also cost the Collection Fund £6.6m.  

Discretionary reliefs increased to £0.4m above the forecast as a new discretionary 
scheme became available in the city. This was more than offset by one-year 
savings on Mandatory Charity Relief (£5.2m) and extended Retail Relief (£4.5m) as 
historic relief was adjusted down to take account of appeals to the 2017 Ratings 
List, and Empty Rate Relief (£2.6m) as the commercial property market continues 
to recover following the pandemic. Other smaller reliefs also evidenced recovery 
costing £0.3m less than forecast. However, the single largest saving was to bad 
debt provisions which had been forecast on the same basis as 2022/23 at a non-
collection rate of £7.7m in the fullness of time. Due to increased collection of 
2023/24 business rates, and of prior-year arrears, the level of bad debt provisions 
has been reduced by £3.4m, an overall saving compared to the forecast of £11.0m. 
Taken together these variances account for the £3.6m better performance on the 
Business Rates Collection Fund. 

In January 2024 the Council declared a 2023/24 deficit to be repaid in 2024/25 of 
£6.486m, shared by the Government (50%), the Council (49%) and the Fire 
Authority (1%). The actual closing deficit of £0.273m is £6.212m better than 

Page 58



 
 

expected. The Council’s share of this improvement is £3.044m, which will now be 
carried forward into the 2025/26 Budget. 

11.4 Business Rates Appeals 
 

The opening appeals provisions for 2023/24 are £36.8m, made up of £4.6m relating 
to appeals received against the 2010 ratings list and £32.3m estimated costs in 
relation to the 2017 ratings list. Under 50% Business Rates Retention, Leeds’ 
budget is affected by 49% of any appeals provision made in this year. 
 
The 2010 ratings list is now closed and there are no appeals left outstanding. 
 
Before the COVID-19 public health crisis, the introduction of the new Check 
Challenge Appeal system on 1st April 2017 saw a significant reduction in the 
number of appeals submitted by ratepayers against their Rateable Value on the 
2017 ratings list compared to the 2010 ratings list. Only fifteen appeals have so far 
reached the final Appeal stage of the process with the Valuation Tribunal to date. 
 
The 2017 ratings list came to an end on 31st March 2023. In most cases this sees 
the end of the ratepayers’ right to appeal against their Rateable Value on that list. 
As such the number of Checks received by the Valuation Office Agency increased 
significantly in the last few months of 2022/23. The increase was even greater than 
expected and, although an allowance had been included in the forecast of the 
declared deficit, further provisions were made to outturn at an additional cost of 
£4.2m to the General Fund and a £1.93m worsening against the position projected 
at declaration. 
 
As at 31st March 2024, the Council is providing for a net of 349 Checks and 
Challenges against the 2017 ratings list. The position will be monitored closely over 
the coming months to ensure that the Councils provisions for the 2017 list remain 
adequate. There are also 263 Checks and Challenges against the new 2023 ratings 
list. It is anticipated that because of the move to 3 yearly revaluations from 2023 
(previously 5 years) the valuation lists will necessarily be more representative of the 
current commercial property market, and it is expected that there will be fewer 
challenges to the lists going forward. The level of appeals against the 2023 ratings 
list, and the losses incurred, will also continue to be closely monitored into the next 
financial year. 
 
In addition, the Authority has made provisions for specific issues such as expected 
reductions to hospitals, ambulance and fire stations and expected reductions to 
several GP surgeries which will be reassessed quarterly. However, in October 2023 
the Council received notification that two appeals on the two large hospitals in 
Leeds had been resolved. Historical evidence suggested that provision for a 10% 
reduction was reasonable but unfortunately one of the appeals saw a 23.5% 
reduction in Rateable Value backdated to 1st April 2017. The combined impact of 
these appeals was a refund of £4.0m. The Council held provisions of only £2.8m, 
resulting in the Collection Fund being adversely impacted by £1.2m. The impact on 
the Council’s 2024/25 General Fund was therefore approximately £0.6m.  
 

11.5 Impact of cost of living on the Collection Fund in 2023/24 and beyond 
 

Collection of Business Rates can be seen to be improving following the lifting of 
restrictions in place due to the COVID-19 crisis. However, the pressures of the cost-

Page 59



 
 

of-living crisis and the long-term impact on collection rates and the tax base will still 
require close monitoring. 
 
Declining in-year collection remains the most prominent area of concern for Council 
Tax. However, whether this is non-collection in the fullness of time remains a matter 
of uncertainty. Collection of arrears in future years will require very close monitoring 
over the coming months and years to see if collection rates improve as the COVID 
backlogs reduce with time. 

 
11.6 Prompt payment of creditors  

 
The prompt payment result at the year-end was 98.39% of undisputed invoices 
processed within 30 days or within contract terms (95.11% in 2022/23).   

 

12. Emerging issues for Future Years  
 

12.1 In common with local authorities throughout the country, in order to balance future 
Budgets and to avoid issuing a Section 114 notice (in effect declaring that the 
council cannot achieve a balanced budget and preventing all new spending), 
difficult decisions will have to be taken that will impact across services, affecting 
service users, residents, businesses, partners and our workforce. It needs to be 
recognised that we are not funded to provide all the functions we currently do, and 
so future service provision must be provided within the limited resources available. 
Alongside a continued focus on securing value-for-money and investing in 
transformation, services will continue to be reviewed as part of an overall resetting 
and reshaping of the authority to ensure it remains fit-for-purpose and sustainable in 
future years.   
 

12.2 This is set against a background of uncertainty in regard to the Government’s 
spending plans from April 2025, following a further one-year financial settlement 
announcement in 2024/25. Further to this, in December 2017, the Government 
launched its Fair Funding Review of Local Government finance, to refresh the 
methodology on which local authority needs and resources are assessed, and 
levels of government funding are determined. The outcome of this review continues 
to be delayed, and now seems likely the earliest implementation date would after 
2025. The extent to which these reforms would impact on the Council’s funding 
from Government is unknown at this time.  
 

12.3 There are additional risks in regard to the Business Rates Retention Scheme.  
Since 2013 two trends have become clear: firstly, that there is a lag between 
gradual economic recovery and significant volumes of business new-builds in 
Leeds, with little growth in aggregate Rateable Value in Leeds seen until 2018/19, 
and secondly, that business rates growth that does occur has been offset by 
successful appeals and other reductions to the rating list – either through closure or 
Valuation Office reviews. 
 

12.4 As discussed at paragraph 11 of this report, declining in-year collection remains the 
most prominent area of concern for Council Tax, and collection in future years will 
require very close monitoring. 
 

12.5 Increased Government oversight – including the work of the Office for Local 
Government (Oflog), which may come with increased reporting requirements for 

Page 60



 
 

Local Authorities due to increased scrutiny. There is also a new requirement to 
produce and publish an annual Productivity Plan, announced alongside the Final 
Local Government Settlement for 2024/25 in February 2024. It is intended that 
Plans will be reviewed by a new productivity review panel, comprising sector 
experts including the LGA and Oflog. 

 
12.6 Delivery of savings already agreed and savings required in future years – The 

Financial Challenge Savings Programme for 2024/25 has identified £63.9m savings 
included in the 2024/25 budget. This report details slippage and non-delivery of 
over £15m against budgeted savings in 2023/24, some of which has been offset by 
other mitigating savings, but some of which still require delivery in 2024/25. Delays 
in implementing the required savings will impact on the Council’s ability to balance 
the budget in future years. In addition, as set out in the 2024/25 Revenue Budget 
and Council Tax Report, the savings gaps for 2025/26 and 2026/27 are estimated 
to be £64.6m and £47.1m respectively. 
 

12.7 Pay Award – The budget includes allowance for a pay award of 3.5% in 2024.25. 
Discussions are ongoing between the national employers and Trade Unions and 
any variations to this assumption will have to be funded from the approved budget.  
 

12.8 Future service demand and demographic pressures – The Council’s 2024/25 
budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy includes demand and demography 
increases for social care, reflecting population growth and current trends. They also 
reflect an increase in the number of households and the resulting increase in 
household waste. If trends are greater than anticipated these additional pressures 
will need to be addressed.  
 

12.9 Social Care – In addition to future service demand noted above, there is continuing 
concern around recruitment and retention in social care, resulting in higher use of 
agency staff. There is also significant reform on the horizon across social care. For 
Adults, there will be the impact of the care reforms, for which there will be additional 
costs however the level of Government funding for this is uncertain. For Children, 
the Independent Review of Children’s Social Care was published earlier in February 
2022 and recommended a radical reset of the Children’s Social Care system. 
Government published its implementation strategy in response to the review in 
February 2023.  

 
12.10 Inflationary increases (demand pressures & loss of income) – The 2024/25 

budget includes significant inflationary increases reflecting the higher rates of 
inflation and increased cost of living which has continued to be experienced in 
2023/24. The economic impact of cost of living (both in terms of demand pressures 
on the Council’s services and loss of income for services the Council provides, 
Council Tax and Business Rates collection) will continue to be subject to review. 
Cost of living pressures have a wider inflationary impact on the Council due to the 
impact of the increased cost of living on our residents and businesses. In addition to 
the risks associated with increases in costs to the Council for the goods and 
services that we procure, the Council experiences increased demand for support 
and welfare services and reduced income across a range of services as Leeds 
residents and visitors choose to spend differently as a consequence of rising 
inflation.  
 

12.11 Within the HRA and General Fund Capital Programmes there is a risk that that 
continued inflationary pressures may impact on the timing of the delivery of capital 

Page 61



 
 

schemes given the overall funding available, with an impact on related debt 
assumptions in the revenue budget. 
 

12.12 Energy costs – Whilst gas and electricity prices are now falling from the 
unprecedented high global level experienced in recent years, the Council remains 
exposed to the impact of global events on energy costs. The Council’s forward 
purchasing of energy continues to hedge the Council significantly against the 
impacts of further volatility. The 2024/25 budget assumes a £2.8m reduction in 
energy costs following the 2023/24 budget which allowed for energy price inflation 
for electricity and gas of 118.5% and 64% respectively, in total an increase of 
£10.7m.  
 

12.13 Debt Management – There is interest rate risk as all new Council borrowing activity 
will be funded though short-term variable rates until rates start to reduce, which 
means that we are exposed to any upward movement in rates which would result in 
an increase in costs to the Council. 

 
12.14 Multi-academy trusts –Whilst schools funding is ring-fenced and is not budgeted 

for in the General Fund, there is a risk that schools will continue to move towards 
being part of academy trusts, impacting on a number of services currently provided 
to schools which the Council receives income for.    
 

12.15 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) - Key risks for the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG) projections relate mainly to the high needs block of the DSG, which provide 
funding in relation to pupils with special educational needs. Future demand has 
been estimated based on trends and forecasts, both for population growth and 
increases in complexity of need, however actual demand may vary from these 
assumptions and the availability of places may also affect costs. In particular, the 
long-term impact of COVID-19 on these trends is not yet known. In addition, funding 
allocations are confirmed on an annual basis and there is a risk that actual funding 
increases will differ from the amounts assumed in the MTFS. Specifically, funding 
increases are currently capped, and it is not yet known how this cap will operate in 
future years. Lastly, a number of DSG funding decisions are made by the Leeds 
Schools Forum, a statutory body of education representatives from across the city, 
and there is a risk these decisions may impact on future DSG pressures 
 

Page 62



Overall Summary Sheet Outturn 2023-24 

 Financial Dashboard 2023/24 Financial Year 

Appendix 2

Page 63



Directorate: Adults and Health Outturn 2023-24 

 Financial Dashboard 2023/24 Financial Year 

Page 64



Directorate: Children’s and Families Outturn 2023-24 

 Financial Dashboard 2023/24 Financial Year 

Page 65



Directorate: Dedicated Schools Grant Outturn 2023-24 

 Financial Dashboard 2023/24 Financial Year 

Page 66



Directorate: City Development Outturn 2023-24 

 Financial Dashboard 2023/24 Financial Year 

Page 67



Directorate: Communities, Housing and Environment Outturn 2023-24 

 Financial Dashboard 2023/24 Financial Year 

Page 68



Directorate: Housing Revenue Account Outturn 2023-24 

 Financial Dashboard 2023/24 Financial Year 

Page 69



Directorate: Strategy and Resources Outturn 2023-24 

 Financial Dashboard 2023/24 Financial Year 

Page 70



Directorate: Strategic & Central Accounts Outturn 2023-24
 Financial Dashboard 2023/24 Financial Year 

Page 71



Appendix 32023/24 BUDGET ACTION PLANS 
Outturn LEEDS CITY COUNCIL - SUMMARY

RAG Status
Budgeted 
Savings £'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Achieved (38,767) (42,554) (3,787)
On track, no 
issues (200) (200) 0

Some risk (1,136) (690) 446

High risk (18,513) (2,212) 16,301

Cancelled 0 0 0

Total (58,616) (45,656) 12,960

#REF!

Achieved Savings 

LEEDS CITY COUNCIL - Other Savings Measures

RAG Status
Budgeted 
Savings £'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Achieved (3,915) (3,915) 0
On track, no 
issues (630) (630) 0

Some risk 0 0 0

High risk (2,647) (389) 2,258

Cancelled 0 0 0

Total (7,192) (4,934) 2,258

#REF!

Projected Savings vs Budgeted

(7,192)0

(4,934)

Projected Savings vs Budgeted

(58,616)

(45,656)

Page 72



Achieved Savings 

Outturn ADULTS & HEALTH - SUMMARY

RAG Status
Budgeted 
Savings £'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Achieved (13,270) (15,140) (1,870)
On track, no 
issues 0 0 0

Some risk 0 0 0

High risk (2,920) (1,050) 1,870

Cancelled 0 0 0

Total (16,190) (16,190) 0

#REF!

Amber & Red Risk Areas
Budgeted savings / 

Other savings 
measures

Service Review / 
Business as Usual

Savings title
Accountable Chief 

Officer
RAG Status

Budgeted Savings 
£'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Including mitigating actions for Reds 
& Ambers

1

Budgeted Savings BAU Impact of telecare growth plan Shona McFarlane High Risk (200) (120) 80

Slippage in year one of the new 
service delivery plan. Shortfall 
was contained within Provider 

Services 23-24 budget. For 24-25 
& 25-26 further Action Plan target 
of £200k per year. Need to review 

the 3-year Action Plan to assess 
deliverability. 

2

Budgeted Savings SR
Strategic Review of Adult Social Work 

provision
Shona McFarlane High Risk (1,120) (630) 490

2023-24 represented the second 
year for the redesign of social 

work around reviewing and the 
front door. The reviewing 

element was delivered. The 
redesign of the front door is 

taking time to implement. Given 
2024-25 has a further £0.6m 

savings target from the redesign 
of the front door, the programme 
for implementing the redesign is 
being prioritised to ensure the 

built in savings from 22-23 and 23-
24 along with the new in-year 24-

25 will be delivered.

3

Budgeted Savings BAU Individualisation of block contracts Caroline Baria High Risk (500) (250) 250

In 23-24 £250k of the £500k 
action plan was identified as not 

being deliverable. Altenative 
proposals were identified to 
cover the shortfall in 23-24, 

principally reviews on high cost 
packages for  Working Age Adults 
& Older People. This 23-24 target 
has rolled through into the 24-25 
budget and therefore creates a 
pressure for the new financial 

year.  

4

Budgeted Savings BAU
Invest to save proposal for Home 
care - performance management 

Caroline Baria High Risk (1,000) 0 1,000

Delays in recruiting the 2 new 
staff meant that this action plan 

was not delivered in 23-24. 
Overall for 23-24 alternative 
savings or additional income 

were identified and the 
directorate delivered a balanced 
budget. This action plan is now 

being delivered in 24-25 and 
therefore this represents slippage 

and will not have an impact on 
future years budgets. 

5

Budgeted Savings BAU
Review supported bank account 

contract (direct payments)
Caroline Baria High Risk (100) (50) 50

In 23-24 the £50k shortfall was 
covered by additional income. 
The 24-25 budget includes a 

further savings target of £150k. 
This presents a risk for the 24-25 
budget and currently assessing 
deliverability of this plan and 
identifying further options to 

cover. 

Projected Savings vs Budgeted

(16,190)0

(16,190)

Page 73



Outturn CHILDREN & FAMILIES - SUMMARY

RAG Status
Budgeted 
Savings £'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Achieved (1,031) (1,031) 0
On track, no 
issues 0 0 0

Some risk (946) (623) 323

High risk (12,689) (768) 11,921

Cancelled 0 0 0

Total (14,666) (2,422) 12,244

#REF!

CHILDREN & FAMILIES - Other Savings Measures

RAG Status
Budgeted 
Savings £'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Achieved (3,915) (3,915) 0
On track, no
issues 0 0 0

Some risk 0 0 0

High risk (1,200) (359) 841

Cancelled 0 0 0

Total (5,115) (4,274) 841

Amber & Red Risk Areas Achieved Savings 

Budgeted savings / 
Other savings 

measures

Service Review / 
Business as Usual

Savings title
Accountable Chief 

Officer
RAG Status Budgeted Savings 

£'000s
Outturn Savings 

£`000
Shortfall/ 

(Surplus) £'000s
Including mitigating actions for Reds 

& Ambers

2

Budgeted SR  
Diversifying children's residential and 

fostering provision
Farrah Khan High risk (3,479) 0 3,479

While the project will still deliver 
savings over the longer term into 
2024/25 and beyond, the timing 

has changed and the original 
23/24 savings have not been 

delivered in year. This has been 
cashflowed to reflect change in 

phasing of savings.   

3

Budgeted SR

Contracts: reduce costs and build on 
LCC's regional 'lead' role to maximise 
opportunities for income generation 

through additional investment in 
commissioning, contract 

management and placement reviews.

Phil Evans High risk (4,000) 0 4,000

Original savings plans assumed 
delivery of £4,750k savings with 

£750k investment in staffing.  Due 
to the scale of savings and lead in 
period this was not delivered in 
2023/24.  The saving has been 

rolled forward into 2024/25 with 
delivery plan still to be agreed.

4

Budgeted SR

Turning the curve – range of 
workstreams to reduce the forecast 

increase in Children Looked After 
number

Farrah Khan High risk (3,000) 0 3,000

Original plans required 
investment in an Edge of Care 

service to deliver the net savings 
of £3,000k. However this savings 
target overlaps with the fostering 
and residential plans, so has not 
delivered additional savings in 
23/24.  An action plan will be 

required to ensure this saving is 
delivered in 2024/25.

5

Budgeted BAU

Transport: Including independent 
travel training, personal transport 

allowances, use of private hire, 
commissioning an external review

Tim Pouncey some risk (946) (623) 323

High risk budget due to level of 
control over demand and 

inflation and data available for 
projections. Therefore savings 

have been overtaken by 
additional costs. However 

progress is being made by C&F 
and CEL on implementation of 

savings proposals into 2024/25.

6
Budgeted SR

Efficiencies in commissioned services 
through review of a range of 

contracts.
Phil Evans High risk (500) (131) 369

This saving will be required to be 
delivered in 2024/25.  

7

Budgeted SR
Efficiencies across the Children & 
Families directorate, potentially 

including staffing reductions
Julie Longworth High risk (1,710) (637) 1,073

Efficiencies have not been fully 
delivered in 2023/24, further 

efficiencies to be identified and 
delivered in 2024/25.

8

Other 0 Little Owls Farrah Khan High risk (1,200) (359) 841
Review ongoing to identify 

remaining savings into 2024/25

Projected Savings vs Budgeted

(14,666)0

(2,422)

Projected Savings vs Budgeted

(5,115)
0

(4,274)

Page 74



Outturn CITY DEVELOPMENT - SUMMARY

RAG Status
Budgeted 
Savings £'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Achieved (11,343) (11,334) 9
On track, no 
issues (200) (200) 0

Some risk (190) (67) 123

High risk (641) (25) 616

Cancelled 0 0 0

Total (12,374) (11,626) 748

#REF!

CITY DEVELOPMENT - Other Savings Measures

RAG Status
Budgeted 
Savings £'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Achieved 0 0 0
On track, no 
issues (630) (630) 0

Some risk 0 0 0

High risk (1,447) (30) 1,417

Cancelled 0 0 0

Total (2,077) (660) 1,417

#REF!

Amber & Red Risk Areas
Budgeted savings / 

Other savings 
measures

Service Review / 
Business as Usual

Savings title
Accountable Chief 

Officer
RAG Status

Budgeted Savings 
£'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Including mitigating actions for Reds 
& Ambers

1

Budgeted SR
Leeds Museums & Galleries Invest to 

Save: relocation of Café
Eve Roodhouse Some risk (90) (67) 23

Relocation works completed and 
re-opened August. Savings on 
running cost mitigated loss of 

income

2

Budgeted BAU
Leeds Museums and Galleries 

commercial review
Eve Roodhouse Some risk (100) 0 100

Additional income from shops e.g 
Art Gallery not achieved. Under 
recovery overall on income, but 
additional savings elsewhere in 
the service mitigated pressures

3

Budgeted BAU
Additional income from new 

contractor framework implemented 
in 22/23

Gary Bartlett High risk (25) (25) 0 Savings not achieved

4

Budgeted SR
Street Lighting: Adaptive lighting via a 

Central Management System (CMS
Gary Bartlett High risk (166) 0 166

Installation of units not 
agreed/contracted, however 

other savings in Street Lighting 
mitigated the pressure.

5

Budgeted BAU
Development Management - 

generation of additional income from 
pre-app advice service

David Feeney High risk (100) 0 100
Underrecovery of additional pre-

app fee income

6

Budgeted BAU
Strategic Planning - consultancy 

advice (e.g. to other local authorities)
David Feeney High risk (50) 0 50

No work undertaken or income 
achieved relating to consultancy 

works.

7

Budgeted BAU
Building Control - additional income 
through providing expert technical 
services to other local authorities

David Feeney High risk (50) 0 50

No acheivement in 23/24. 
Building control income overall 

struggled to achieve income 
target.

8

Budgeted BAU
Planning & Levelling Up Bill: National 

fees
David Feeney High risk (250) 0 250

National fees implemented in Dec 
2023, however underrecovery of 

planning fees as a whole 
impacted achievement of £250k 

target.

9
Other BAU Estate Rationalisation Angela Barnicle High risk (583) (30) 553

Mitigating savings and increased 
income offset pressure within 

year

10
Other BAU Strategic Investment Fund Angela Barnicle High risk (664) 0 664

Mitigating savings and increased 
income offset pressure within 

year

Other BAU Contractor Procurement Framework Gary Bartlett High risk (200) 0 200 Savings not achieved in 23/24.

Projected Savings vs Budgeted

(12,374)0

(11,626)

Projected Savings vs Budgeted

(2,077)
0

(660)

Page 75



Outturn COMMUNITIES, HOUSING & ENVIRONMENT - SUMMARY

RAG Status
Budgeted 
Savings £'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Achieved (5,412) (7,338) (1,926)
On track, no 
issues 0 0 0

Some risk 0 0 0

High risk (1,215) (125) 1,090

Cancelled 0 0 0

Total (6,627) (7,463) (836)

Amber & Red Risk Areas Achieved Savings 

Budgeted savings / 
Other savings 

measures

Service Review / 
Business as Usual

Savings title
Accountable Chief 

Officer
RAG Status

Budgeted Savings 
£'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Including mitigating actions for Reds 
& Ambers

1

Budgeted BAU Parks attractions income John Mulcahy High risk (134) (100) 34

Free ULEV permits ceased April 
23 and income in WHLCP has 

been monitored. DDN approved 
September 23 for price increase 

to come into effect Jan 24 for 
WHLCP. Income at WHLCP is 
approx £695k down against 

budget compared to £792k last 
year. Improvement of approx 

£100k

2

Budgeted BAU
Benefits - Subsidy - target Supported 

Accommodation
Polly Cook High risk (192) (25) 167

Attractions income became a 
pressure at Lotherton where 
£100k of budgeted savings 
targeted.  £92k targeted to 

Temple Newsam, badged as Go 
Ape concession outturned at 

£67k shortfall.

Budgeted BAU
Community Centres - strategy to 
reduce the current subsidy to nil 

Paul Money High Risk (33) 0 33
Income reduced in 2023/24, 

action not achieved.  

Budgeted BAU Recycling Disposal costs John Mulcahy High Risk (116) 0 116
Service has been insourced but 
income is down compared to 

budget by approx £137k

Budgeted BAU

Review existing fees and charges 
beyond those assumed within the 

MTFS: Increase charge for 
replacement bins and Weighbridge

John Woolmer High Risk (740) 0 740

The risk of significant volatility of 
market price of recycling income 
was is known when the budget 

was set.  All disposal budgets are 
monitored each month and due 

to a reduction in the market price 
of recycable materials the action 

plan was not achieved in 
2023/24.  This cost pressure has 
been partially offset by £204k of 

additional income on the 
recycling contract prices from 

October 2023. 

Projected Savings vs Budgeted

(6,627)0

(7,463)

Page 76



Outturn STRATEGY & RESOURCES - SUMMARY

RAG Status
Budgeted 
Savings £'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Achieved (8,181) (8,181) 0
On track, no 
issues 0 0 0

Some risk 0 0 0

High risk (1,048) (244) 804

Cancelled 0 0 0

Total (9,229) (8,425) 804

#REF!

Amber & Red Risk Areas Achieved Savings 

Budgeted savings / 
Other savings 

measures

Service Review / 
Business as Usual

Savings title
Accountable Chief 

Officer
RAG Status

Budgeted Savings 
£'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Including mitigating actions for Reds 
& Ambers

1

Budgeted BAU

Fleet Services' efficiencies: including 
reduction in maintenance spend, 

introduction of new vehicle types, 
greater utilisation of existing fleet 
and an enhanced focus on supplier 

spend and emerging markets. 

Sarah Martin High risk (488) (244) 244

There was a delay in approval for 
the 23/24 fleet replacement 

pending the outcome of the Fleet 
Review.

2
Budgeted BAU

Civic Flavour - Armley Sports Centre 
Café

Sarah Martin High risk (20) 0 20
Foot-fall was not achieved. 

Reviewed as part of the  2024/25 
savings targets. 

3

Budgeted BAU Civic Flavour - Weddings Sarah Martin High risk (20) 0 20
Increased wedding offer starred 
from 24/25 - providing pre and 
post ceremony refreshments. 

4

Budgeted SR
Review of Network Management 

Centre 
Leonardo Tantari High risk (370) 0 370

There were delays in the review 
of this service,  but savings were 

more than mitigated by  IDS 
vacancies in other areas.

5

Budgeted BAU

Communications & Marketing: 
Synergies from a co-ordinated 

approach to marketing and 
promotion

Jane Maxwell High risk (150) 0 150

Savings were achieved in 
individual directorates as part of 
the examination of non-essential 

spend. This savings target was 
removed from S&R in setting 

24/25 budget.

Outturn STRATEGIC - SUMMARY

RAG Status
Budgeted 
Savings £'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Shortfall/ 
(Surplus) £'000s

Achieved 470 470 0
On track, no 
issues 0 0 0

Some risk 0 0 0

High risk 0 0 0

Cancelled 0 0 0

Total 470 470 0

470 #REF!

Amber & Red Risk Areas Achieved Savings 

Budgeted savings / 
Other savings 

measures

Service Review / 
Business as Usual

Savings title
Accountable Chief 

Officer
RAG Status

Budgeted Savings 
£'000s

Outturn Savings 
£`000

Savings Achieved 
%

Including mitigating actions for Reds 
& Ambers

#NUM! #NUM! #NUM! #NUM! #NUM! #NUM! #REF! #REF! #NUM!
2 #NUM! #NUM! #NUM! #NUM! #NUM! #NUM! #REF! #REF! #NUM!

Projected Savings vs Budgeted

(9,229)0

(8,425)

Projected Savings vs Budgeted

4700

470

Page 77



2023/24 - Expenditure funded through Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Appendix 4
Outturn

Project Description Directorate Head Of 
Finance

Planned 
Spend 
2023/24

Outturn 
2023/24

Variation 
to 

Planned 
Spend

Planned 
Savings 
2023/24

Outturn 
2023/24

Variation 
to 

Planned 
Savings

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Adults and Health Service Transformation team 
(including management) supporting the delivery of 
key projects 

Adults & Health Alun Ellis 1.98 1.80 (0.18) (4.00) (4.00) 0.00

Adults and Health - specific IDS staff supporting 
transformation. Adults & Health Alun Ellis 0.10 0.10 0.00 (1.00) (1.00) 0.00

Adults - Service Transformation- Chief Officer Adults & Health Alun Ellis 0.24 0.24 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Children& Families transformation team Children & 
Families

Lucie 
McAulay 1.40 0.73 (0.67) 0.00 0.00 0.00

IDS - Highways Enterprise Architecture system City 
Development

Michael 
Everitt 0.63 0.27 (0.36) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Capital Scheme support City Development HOS. 
(NEW )

City 
Development

Michael 
Everitt 0.11 0.11 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Providing resources to deliver transformation activity 
within the Communities Directorate

Communities, 
Housing & 

Environment

David 
McNutt 0.13 0.00 (0.13) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Climate, Energy & Green Spaces leadership posts- 
Staff Supporting Transformational projects/ work

Communities, 
Housing & 

Environment

David 
McNutt 0.06 0.06 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Business Development Team-Staff Supporting 
Transformational projects/ work

Communities, 
Housing & 

Environment

David 
McNutt 0.27 0.27 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Chief Officer Comm Hubs, Welf & Busn Spt- Staff 
Supporting Transformational projects/ work

Communities, 
Housing & 

Environment

David 
McNutt 0.02 0.02 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

IDS - Driving a digital approach across the Council Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.50 0.50 0.00 (0.50) (0.50) 0.00

IDS - Planned recruitment of specialists supporting 
the delivery of key projects across the Authority

Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 4.98 2.95 (2.03) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Council Tax Atomisation-digitising transactional 
activity

Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.13 0.05 (0.08) 0.00 0.00 0.00

PACS staff delivering innovative solutions to realise 
Procurement savings 

Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.84 0.84 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

CEL staff time spent on Transformational projects Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.12 0.12         0.00 (1.53) (1.53) 0.00

BSC - Staff who supporting the delivery of system 
changes within the Shared Services.

Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.47 0.47 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

IDS - Additional funding for driving a digital approach 
across the Council

Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.70 0.70 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

LBS - Service Transformation - supporting the 
delivery of various projects 

Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.24 0.24 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Legal  - Staff supporting the Delivery of DAT 
(Documents and Time recording system)

Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.06 0.00 (0.06) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Corporate Transformation Capacity Team Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.54 0.04 (0.49) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Recruiting to the structure of Corporate 
Transformation Capacity Team 

Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.10 0.10 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

LBS Work Streams Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.39 0.12         (0.27) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Additional PACS staff  to support transformation 
projects across the Council

Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.63 0.35 (0.28) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Ernest Young Contract Review Exercise (NEW) Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.09 0.09 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Staff Supporting Transformational projects/ work Strategy & 
Resources

Patrick 
McGuckin 0.35 0.35 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Statutory redundancy payments and pension costs 
ELI, VLS and Flexible Retirements

Strategic/ 
Corporate

Naomi 
Eastwood 2.75 2.54 (0.21) (2.75) (2.54) 0.21

Driving a digital approach to the delivery of Core 
Business Transformation Programme

Strategic/ 
Corporate Mark Barrett 10.00 6.96 (3.05) 0.00 0.00 0.00

Grand Total 27.79 19.99 (7.80) (9.78) (9.57) 0.21

Page 78



Appendix 5

Directorate Description of Reserve
Balance at             

1st April 2023

Transfers To & 

From Reserve

Balance at         

Outturn 

2023/24

Reason for the Reserve

£k £k £k

GENERAL FUND (33,248) (3,000) (36,248)

Adults & Health S256 funding for health inequalities (1,823) 0 (1,823) Specific funding from Leeds South and East CCG for tackling health inequalities. 

Adults & Health Health and Social Care (CCG) (9,697) 5,840 (3,857) To fund Health and Social Care priorities

Adults & Health Prisons Reserve (79) 79 0 CCG funding for social work in prisons

Adults & Health Drugs Commissioning (133) 133 0 Carry forward of external income for drug and alcohol priorities

Adults & Health Transforming Care (2,393) 2,393 0
Provision to mitigate against costs associated with the NHS England led transfer of care packages 

to a community setting

Adults & Health Social Care Development Reserve (283) 283 0 Provision to meet costs associated with development of social care models e.g. Recovery Model

Adults & Health Safeguarding (Adults) (271) (3) (274) Independent Safeguarding Board - carry forward of partner contributions.

Adults & Health Spring Budget (2,141) 329 (1,812) Carry forward of Spring Budget monies from DLUHC.

Adults & Health Skills for Care (193) 193 0 To provide funding for training of Care Workers

Children & Families Trauma Informed programme (59) (286) (345) S256 funding agreement with CCG to set up new service.

Children & Families Dewsbury Road Annexe (191) 0 (191)
0-19 Public health Integrated Nursing Service funding allocated to Dewsbury Road Annexe capital 

programme. 

Children & Families Roma Capacity Funding (10) (100) (110) To fund a Family Outreach Worker in 2023/24. 

Children & Families Henry 5-12 project (53) 5 (48)
Public Health funding to support a healthy weight programme for families with children aged 5-12 

years old.

Children & Families Health & Wellbeing (167) 167 0
S31 Grant to provide training and advisory support to schools and colleges on mental health and 

wellbeing.

Children & Families NEW: NEET Funding from WYCA 0 (50) (50)
Funding from West Yorkshire Combined Authority to support Young people not in education, 

employment or training (NEET) activities in 2024/25

Children & Families Health Innovations (300) 0 (300)
Monies given by Health Service for a number of joint initiatives around commissioning & children's 

centres

Children & Families NEW: Adoption National Recruitment Strategy 0 (250) (250)
Carry forward of DfE funding in respect of Regional Adoption Agencies in England to provide 

contingency 

Children & Families Families First (17) 17 0 To fund potential future years shortfall in Stronger Families Grant

City Development Armed Forces Day (6) 0 (6) Funding for Armed Forces Days

City Development Major Events 0 (50) (50)
To reinvest an element of event profits to cover potential future events costs such as one off 

infrastructure, to protect future deliver

City Development Heritage Assets Refund reserve (2,423) 2,423 0
To carry forward one-off business rates refund to provide additional funding for City Development 

savings requirements

City Development LMG Exhibitions (162) (54) (216)
To carry forward saving generated by Museums & Galleries, to access the Government’s 

Museums and Galleries Exhibition Tax Relief scheme

Communities, Housing & Environment Social Inclusion Fund (554) 107 (447) Social Inclusion Fund as per Casino licence bid 

Communities, Housing & Environment Local Welfare Support Fund (662) 0 (662)
To provide ongoing funding to the Local Welfare Support Fund service who provide support to 

Leeds residents experiencing financial hardship

Communities, Housing & Environment Economic, Social and Environmental Wellbeing Fund (648) 346 (302) To carry forward balances on the wellbeing budgets of Community Committee.

Communities, Housing & Environment Communities Innovation Fund (29) 7 (22) To fund work with 3rd sector to develop future financial sustainability in the sector.

Communities, Housing & Environment Waste Management (697) 400 (297)
Balance of waste disposal contract savings secured in 19/20 to support the delivery of the Refuse 

route review and the developing waste strategy.   

Communities, Housing & Environment Car Parking Upgrade of Meters (100) (300) (400)
To cover cost of upgrading pay and display parking meters to 4G when 3G is no longer supported.

Communities, Housing & Environment Homelessness Prevention Fund (1,575) (870) (2,445) To fund homelssness prevention

Communities, Housing & Environment Supporting People (73) (276) (349) To fund homelssness prevention

Communities, Housing & Environment Civil Penalties (250) (150) (400) To fund potential legal costs/future shortfalls in income from Civil Penalties. 

Communities, Housing & Environment District Heating Network Reserve (158) (30) (188) To underwrite losses made by District Heating Company 

Communities, Housing & Environment Energy Efficiency Reserve - LCC (338) (132) (470) Energy efficiency reserve to fund invest to save energy efficiency initiatives. 

Strategy & Resources Lord Mayor (10) 0 (10) Balance of budget carried forward.

Strategy & Resources NEW: Purchase of vehicles reserve 0 (800) (800) Slippage in purchase of vehicles funded through revenue (due to unwinding capitalisation)

Strategic & Central Section 256 (1,148) (161) (1,309)
Funding from the CCG to be utilised by DIS to fund development of Digital Solutions for 

Personalised Care 

Strategic & Central General Insurance (10,771) 5,710 (5,061) To help fund cost of future insurance claims

Strategic & Central Mutual Municipal Insurance (11) 0 (11) Reserve to fund potential claw backs of past insurance receipts from MMI.

Strategic & Central Legal Cost of VAT claims (63) 0 (63)
Funds set aside from £8.4m VAT claim refund received in 10/11 to help fund legal costs for 

remaining VAT cases

Strategic & Central Capital Reserve (573) (653) (1,226)
Directorate contributions towards borrowing costs of capital schemes. Contributions received over 

life of asset and released back to revenue to cover debt costs over life of loan. 

Strategic & Central Merrion House Reserve (22,298) 22,298 0
Balance of Merrion House capital receipt, to fund future unforeseen budget pressures and to 

ensure the Council continues to become more financially resilient

Strategic & Central S31 Business Rates reserve (10,606) 8,218 (2,388) Reserve to carry forward S31 NDR relief grants

Strategic & Central Strategic Contingency Reserve (19,934) (3,031) (22,965)
To fund future unforeseen budget pressures and to ensure the Council becoming more financially 

resilient

Strategic & Central COVID Reserve (1,365) 1,328 (37) Government funding to be applied to pressures arising as a consequence of COVID

Strategic & Central Council Tax TIG reserve (2,234) 2,234 0
Government Income guarantee COVID funding for lost Council Tax in 20/21, to be applied over 3 

years.

Strategic & Central Business rates TIG reserve (1,003) 1,003 0
Government Income guarantee COVID funding for lost Business Rates income in 20/21, to be 

applied over 3 years.

Strategic & Central Investment/Innovation (2,529) (572) (3,101) Fund to get projects off the ground that will generate future revenue savings.

Strategic & Central Business Rates Distribution (290) (77) (367) To carry forward prior years Business Rates Pool surplus and funding allocated to projects.

Strategic & Central Schools Income (348) (132) (480) To carry forward schools income

Sub-total Earmarked Reserves (98,668) 45,536 (53,132)

Total non-ring fenced Reserves (131,916) 42,536 (89,380)

0

RING FENCED RESERVES 0

0

Schools Extended Schools Balances (7,004) (392) (7,396) Surpluses on extended school activities carried forward

Schools Schools Balances (24,233) 6,042 (18,191) Schools balances net of VER, Children's Services and BSF PFI borrowing

Schools Dedicated Schools Grant (9,010) 2,554 (6,456) Carry forward of ring fenced DSG funding.

Adults & Health Rapid test Fund (115) 0 (115) Funding from Central Government to support COVID rapid testing of individuals

Adults & Health Community Discharge Grant (1,539) 404 (1,135) Funding from Central Government for transitions costs from Hospitals back to Community Settings

Adults & Health Public Health Grant (2,747) (123) (2,870) Public Health grant carried forward

Communities, Housing & Environment S31 Elections Act Grant (32) 0 (32) Unspent Government grant carried forward

Communities, Housing & Environment Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Surplus (227) (250) (477) Ring fenced reserve for taxi and private hire licensing service. 

Strategic & Central Energy Efficiency Reserve - Salix (736) (96) (832) Energy efficiency reserve to fund invest to save energy efficiency initiatives. 

Strategic & Central Staffing and  Management Support (383) 383 0 To support HR initiatives

Various Revenue Grants (19,228) (4,361) (23,589) Revenue grants carried forward as per IFRS requirements (see note 1 below)

Sub-total GF ring fenced reserves (65,254) 4,161 (61,093)

Note 1: Revenue Grants

Adults & Health (280) 280 0 Revenue Grants Carried Forward

Children & Families (1,181) (472) (1,653) Revenue Grants Carried Forward

City Development (5,166) (2,582) (7,748) Revenue Grants Carried Forward

Communities Housing & Environment (11,448) (2,129) (13,577) Revenue Grants Carried Forward

Resources (1,153) 542 (611) Revenue Grants Carried Forward

Sub-total Revenue Grants (19,228) (4,361) (23,589)

HRA RING FENCED RESERVES

HRA General Reserve (7,675) (250) (7,925)

Housing Advisory Panels (HAPs) (39) (66) (105)
To fund projects identified by Housing Advisory Panels which benefit the tenants and residents in 

the community they represent.

Wharfedale View  SF (54) (14) (68)
Contribution from shared owners towards future costs of replacing furniture and carpets at 

Wharfedale View Extra Care facility

Changing the Workplace (301) 301 0
To fund the cost of ‘new ways of working’ for staff in Housing Leeds as office moves are 

completed.

Local Aulthority Housing Fund (2,589) 1,839 (750)
To provide match funding to add to the LAHF being received in 2023/24 to fund the acquisition of 

new homes for Ukrainian guests.

Tenant Satisfaction Funding - DLUHC 0 (98) (98)
New Burdens Tenant satisfaction funding from DLUHC received in 2023/24 with planned 

expenditure in 2024/25

Swarcliffe PFI - Lifecycle Retention Fund 0 (398) (398)
Previously part of Swarcliffe PFI reserve. Reserve set up to enable the balance of the lifecycle 

retention fund (a joint account between LCC and the contractor) to be held seperately  

Swarcliffe PFI Sinking Fund (4,199) 60 (4,139) PFI Sinking Fund

LLBH&H PFI Sinking fund (3,763) (117) (3,880) PFI Sinking Fund

Revenue Repairs Reserve (69) (5) (74) Carry forward of in year underspend due to COVID

Major Repairs Reserve (3,199) (3,487) (6,686) Ring-fenced to fund capital expenditure or redeem debt.

Sub-total HRA reserves (21,888) (2,235) (24,123)

Total Ring Fenced Reserves (87,142) 1,926 (85,216)

TOTAL RESERVES (219,058) 44,462 (174,596)

Page 79



 

 

  

Capital Programme Funding Statement 2023-2028 Appendix  6A

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

EXPENDITURE

GENERAL FUND (GF)

IMPROVING OUR ASSETS 118,097 166,750 218,164 74,857 73,771 651,639

INVESTING IN MAJOR INFRASTRUCTURE 66,683 69,914 27,882 958 8,612 174,048

SUPPORTING SERVICE PROVISION 28,426 41,248 21,664 37,947 26,770 156,054

INVESTING IN NEW TECHNOLOGY 8,505 17,507 4,140 3,314 2,500 35,966

SUPPORTING THE LEEDS ECONOMY 9,318 23,550 20,388 6,541 1,740 61,537

CENTRAL & OPERATIONAL EXPENDITURE 37,258 49,912 56,462 36,527 60,461 240,619

TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND ON GF 268,287 368,880 348,699 160,143 173,854 1,319,864

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

IMPROVING OUR ASSETS - COUNCIL HOUSING 122,937 149,783 153,713 105,704 81,045 613,182

TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND ON HRA 122,937 149,783 153,713 105,704 81,045 613,182

TOTAL ESTIMATED SPEND 391,223 518,664 502,412 265,848 254,899 1,933,045

RESOURCES

GENERAL FUND (GF)

Specific Resources

GOVERNMENT GRANTS 127,294 178,150 185,457 72,394 71,167 634,462

OTHER GRANTS & CONTRIBUTIONS 29,427 17,058 6,255 7,619 1,552 61,911

RCCO / RESERVES 156 0 0 0 0 156

CAPITAL RECEIPTS - Tranformational Change 19,468 19,506 10,195 10,150 9,369 68,689

Corporate Resources

BORROWING - Corporate 71,534 131,353 118,134 63,336 85,608 469,964

BORROWING - Departmental 20,408 22,813 28,658 6,644 6,159 84,682

CAP.  RESOURCES REQD FOR GF 268,287 368,880 348,699 160,143 173,854 1,319,864

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

Specific Resources

HRA SELF FINANCING 58,151 63,352 62,895 65,266 66,574 316,238

R.T.B. CAPITAL RECEIPTS 36,423 42,621 49,003 23,850 13,030 164,928

GOVERNMENT GRANTS 5,142 4,161 0 0 0 9,303

RCCO / RESERVES 3,568 750 0 0 0 4,318

OTHER GRANTS & CONTRIBUTIONS 4,334 0 0 0 0 4,334

BORROWING - Departmental 15,318 38,900 41,815 16,588 1,441 114,061

CAP.  RESOURCES REQD FOR HRA 122,937 149,783 153,713 105,704 81,045 613,182

TOTAL CAP.  RESOURCES REQD 391,223 518,664 502,412 265,848 254,899 1,933,045

BORROWING REQUIRED TO FUND THIS PROGRAMME 107,259 193,066 188,607 86,567 93,207 668,707

Average Interest rate (subject to change) 5.25% 4.50% 3.75% 3.50% 3.50%

Page 80



 

  

Annual Programmes Appendix  6A (i)

2023/24 

£000

2024/25 

£000

2025/26 

£000

2026/27 

£000

2027/28 

£000

Total       

£000

Improving Our Assets

Highways Maintenance 32,786 27,679 22,278 18,894 24,254 125,890

Corporate Property Management 6,513 10,836 8,500 7,500 8,500 41,849

Highways Bridges & Structures Maintenance 6,578 6,871 4,798 5,205 5,658 29,110

Section 278 2,614 7,246 3,788 3,554 3,500 20,703

Highways Maintenance Capitalisations 6,099 3,700 301 0 0 10,100

Climate Emergency 660 1,047 1,098 950 950 4,705

Demolition Programme 460 441 500 0 500 1,901

Library Books 520 300 200 100 0 1,120

Sports Maintenance 30 224 100 100 100 553

56,258 58,344 41,563 36,304 43,462 235,931

Supporting Service Provision

Telecare ASC 472 729 600 600 600 3,000

Adaptation to Private Homes 508 609 470 470 470 2,527

Childrens Centres 8 60 50 50 258 426

987 1,398 1,120 1,120 1,328 5,953

Investing In New Technology

Essential Services Programme 4,572 10,616 1,600 800 0 17,588

Digital Development 2,167 5,568 2,500 2,500 2,500 15,235

6,738 16,184 4,100 3,300 2,500 32,823

Supporting The Leeds Economy

Project Support Fund - Groundwork 0 140 70 70 70 350

Central & Operational Expenditure

Vehicle Programme 154 12,645 29,630 16,508 22,530 81,467

PFI Lifecycle Capitalisations 13,382 12,895 13,395 8,238 14,773 62,683

Transformational Change 13,092 12,343 10,195 10,150 9,369 55,149

General Capitalisations 3,311 2,150 1,900 790 0 8,150

Capital Programme Management 422 541 541 541 661 2,707

Capitalisation of Interest 521 500 400 300 279 2,000

30,882 41,075 56,062 36,527 47,611 212,156

Total Annual Programmes 2023-2028 94,866 117,140 102,915 77,321 94,971 487,213

Page 81



 

  

Major Programmes & Other Directorate Schemes Appendix  6A (ii)

2023/24 

£000

2024/25 

£000

2025/26 

£000

2026/27 

£000

2027/28 

£000

Total       

£000

Improving our assets - Council Housing

HRA Housing Leeds & BITMO & Other 82,150 81,775 81,743 84,039 80,541 410,248

HRA Council Housing Growth Programme 40,787 68,008 71,971 21,665 504 202,934

Improving our assets - General Fund

Dawsons Corner & Stanningley Bypass 694 11,437 30,000 7,631 0 49,763

Capital Maintenance / School Condition Allocation 5,411 5,239 7,806 6,866 19,442 44,764

City Centre Package & Armley Gyratory 23,061 9,236 515 0 0 32,812

Highways Transport Package 5,696 6,658 7,334 4,098 3,805 27,591

Parks & Countryside Schemes 5,342 9,960 7,254 1,030 828 24,414

Parklife Programme 991 4,317 16,834 0 0 22,142

Strategic Investment Fund Acquisitions 419 2,997 17,500 864 0 21,780

A660 Woodhouse Lane Gateway (Uni) 233 501 16,675 3,025 0 20,435

LUF1 - Connecting West Leeds 4,536 13,650 966 0 0 19,152

Fearnville Wellbeing Centre 98 1,123 13,000 4,200 0 18,421

Leeds Town Hall Restoration / Other Heritage Assets 3,062 5,342 8,932 1,000 0 18,336

Corridor Improvement Programme (CIP) 1,309 7,119 8,979 0 0 17,407

LUF3 - Heart of Holbeck 47 4,677 11,225 806 0 16,755

Beckett Street Bus Priority Transformation 87 550 12,109 2,250 0 14,996

Devolved Formula Capital Grant 2,869 2,362 1,728 1,609 3,344 11,912

A6110 Elland Road South Churchwell Hill 58 582 7,150 219 0 8,010

Streetlighting Replacement LEDs 3,029 63 0 2,450 2,450 7,992

Creating Healthier Streets, Spaces & Communities 94 870 2,745 2,420 50 6,179

Assisted Living Leeds 260 4,380 1,500 0 0 6,140

Community Hubs Programme 409 3,056 863 0 0 4,327

Future Ways of Working and Estate Realisation 372 2,600 131 0 0 3,103

Other smaller schemes within the objective 3,761 11,687 3,355 85 391 19,278

184,775 258,190 330,314 144,257 111,354 1,028,891

Investing in Major Infrastructure

Decarbonisation Programme & Energy Efficiency 20,028 25,613 1,475 75 454 47,644

Leeds Integrated Station Masterplan 9,976 20,421 16,666 0 0 47,063

Sustainable Active Travel 10,179 11,826 7,815 0 0 29,820

Flood Alleviation Schemes 20,338 6,263 575 583 0 27,759

Clean Air Zone 32 534 0 0 8,158 8,725

Other smaller schemes within the objective 6,130 5,256 1,351 300 0 13,037

66,683 69,914 27,882 958 8,612 174,048

Supporting Service Provision

Learning Places Programme / Basic Need Grant 10,841 15,048 7,424 26,233 12,914 72,460

Private Sector Renewal - Adaptations / Equity Loans 9,860 12,482 8,564 8,564 10,197 49,668

Kirkland's Bungalows Autism Project 458 7,407 1,386 0 0 9,251

Childrens Homes 4,359 2,175 347 65 0 6,946

Other smaller schemes within the objective 1,921 2,738 2,823 1,964 2,331 11,776

27,439 39,850 20,544 36,827 25,442 150,101

Investing in New Technology

Other smaller schemes within the objective 1,767 1,323 40 14 0 3,143

1,767 1,323 40 14 0 3,143

Supporting the Leeds Economy

Morley Town Fund 1,783 10,628 10,691 0 0 23,102

Kirkgate Market Strategy 2,093 4,580 1,500 1,280 0 9,453

British Library at Temple Works 199 85 4,716 0 0 5,000

East of Otley Relief Road 82 293 0 4,218 0 4,593

Local Centres Programme & THI 1,416 2,800 0 0 0 4,217

Other smaller schemes within the objective 3,745 5,024 3,411 973 1,670 14,823

9,318 23,410 20,318 6,471 1,670 61,187

Central & Operational Expenditure

General Contingencies 0 900 400 0 12,849 14,149

Core Systems Review 6,376 7,163 0 0 0 13,540

Other smaller schemes within the objective 0 774 0 0 0 774

6,376 8,837 400 0 12,849 28,463

Total Major Programmes & Other Directorate schemes 296,358 401,523 399,497 188,527 159,928 1,445,833

Annual Programmes  -  See Appendix 6A (i) 94,866 117,140 102,915 77,321 94,971 487,213

Total Annual & Major Programmes 391,223 518,664 502,412 265,848 254,899 1,933,045

Page 82



 

 

Net Increase in funding since February 2023 to 2023/24 Outturn Appendix  6A (iii)

 

Corporate 

Borrowing

Borrowing 

Supported by 

Revenue

Specific 

Resources

Total 

Resources

£000 £000 £000 £000

Injection of 24/25 HNPCA Grant Allocation 8,029.4 8,029.4

Additional Injections to HRA Schemes 7,758.6 7,758.6

External Funding Injections to Highways Schemes 1,313.5 1,313.5

Additional Highways Grant Injection re TCF City Centre Cycle Network 1,000.0 1,000.0

Additional PS Contributions Injections re GF Housing 764.4 764.4

Insurance Receipt Injection re Indoor Playbarn at Temple Newsam 599.3 599.3

External Funding Injections to Energy Efficiency Schemes 449.1 449.1

S106 Contributions Injection re Crown Point Rd - GBF Scheme 232.7 232.7

EA Grant Injection re Wharfedale Flooded Communities Study 176.0 176.0

Government Grant Injection re Web Redevelopment 115.0 115.0

Additional Departmental Borrowing Injection re Waste Depot 110.5 110.5

Grant Injection re Library Books System 69.6 69.6

S106 Contributions Injection re Bramhope Primary School Scheme 10.0 10.0

Net Injections sought as part of this report 0.0 110.5 20,517.6 20,628.1

Net Injections with approvals in place 99,723.3 28,757.7 252,534.9 381,015.9

Total Net Injections in place since February 2023 99,723.3 28,868.2 273,052.5 401,644.0

Slippage Movements as at 2022/23 Outturn -3,982.1

Net Increase in funding since February 2023 to 2023/24 Outturn 397,661.9

Page 83



 

 

  

CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 2023/24 OUTTURN VARIATIONS Appendix 6B

The following table highlights main scheme variations between the estimates in February 2024 and the final outturn 2023/24 as at 7th May 2024.

The variations are based on those programmes / schemes with significant variations both over/under > £500k.

Directorate Service Programme / 

Scheme

Feb 2024

£000

2023/24

Actual

£000

Variation Under 

(-) / Over

£000

Reason for variation

Adults & Health People with 

Learning 

Disabilities

Kirkland's 

Bungalows Autism 

project

89.5 458.4 368.9 Delays in getting Exec Board approval for scheme. Howerver, high level of design activity in final quarter for start 

on site June or July 2024.

Services for 

Older People

Telecare from 

Analogue to Digital

135.8 0.0 (135.8) Scheme slipped to 24-25.

Services for 

Older People

Telecare 

Equipment

600.0 471.5 (128.5) Reflects the service recycling existing equipment and delays in getting new stock.

Adults and Health 

General

Assisted Living 

Leeds

481.1 259.7 (221.4) Delays in getting specification signed off prior to start on-site. 

Adaptations Adaptations to 

Private Homes

646.6 507.7 (138.9) Activity in final quarter of 23-24 not as high as expected.

Digital 

Information 

Services

Digital 

Transformation 

Staff Costs

450.0 704.5 254.5 Work on the CIS system for billing engine, reporting and projection capability. Covered by a grant received. 

Charges processed at year-end.

Other schemes 671.1 629.4 (41.7) No material variances on the 20 remaining schemes within Adults & Health. Variance primarily relates to care 

home refurbishment schemes (-£40.8k).

3,074.1 3,031.2 (42.9)

Directorate Service Programme / 

Scheme

Feb 2024

£000

2023/24

Actual

£000

Variation Under 

(-) / Over

£000

Reason for variation

Strategic & 

Central

Strategic 

Priorities

Transformational 

Change to LCC

12,310.5 13,092.0 781.5 Planned spend increases thoughout the year and totalled £17.8m at the year end. Only actual in year spend is 

funded, which totalled £13.1m. A proportion of capital receipts committed in 2023/24 will be carried forward to 

2024/25. Flexible Use of Capital Receipts is detailed in paragraph 3.1 of Appendix 1 and in Appendix 4 to this 

report.

Strategic 

Priorities

PFI Lifecycle 

Capitalisation

11,980.0 13,382.3 1,402.3 The impact of inflation on PFI unitary charges has increased the amount capitalisable.

Strategic 

Priorities

Core Systems 

Review

6,955.0 6,376.2 (578.8) The variance primarily relates to delays in anticipated recruitment, both external and use of internal resources, 

and a reduction in the IAS19 costs identified during the 2023/24 closure of accounts.

Other schemes 4,505.2 4,271.1 (234.1) No material variances on the 79 remaining schemes within Strategic & Central. Variance primarily due to 

minimising spend on the Future Ways of Working Programme by utilising existing furniture and equipment where 

available and managing the expectations of services around their requirements (-£160.5k) and reduced charges 

relating to Capitalisation of Interest (-£78.9k).

35,750.7 37,121.6 1,370.9

P
age 84



 

  

Appendix 6B continued

Directorate Service Programme / 

Scheme

Feb 2024

£000

2023/24

Actual

£000

Variation Under 

(-) / Over

£000

Reason for variation

City 

Development

Asset 

Management

Leeds Integrated 

Station Masterplan 

9,228.1 9,976.1 748.0 The Leeds Sustainable Travel Gateway scheme is one of City Developments largest schemes which delivered 

more in year on the ground than expected taking advantage of the fair weather conditions. At the time of 

estimating the outturn in January the average was taking on 8 months spend. TCF Grant funded.

Highways Streetlighting 

Replacement LEDs

1,742.1 3,029.2 1,287.1 Late accrual for works completed but not agreed. Scheme now complete.

Leeds Flood 

Alleviation 

Scheme 2

19,975.3 19,114.1 (861.2) In line with our contract obligations on FAS2, LCC have made smaller payments than expected in the last 3 

months of 2023/24 resulting in the variance.

Highways 

Maintenance & 

Capitalisations

36,357.1 38,884.6 2,527.5 Additional £1m spent on CRSTS/ Potholes (funded from bringing forward future years grant) together with 

additional £1.5m on General Capitalisations from revenue as a result of potential loss of income on Highways 

Fees as a result of IAS19 late announcement which while costing this line reduced same on 300+ Highways 

capital schemes.

Sustainable Active 

Travel

9,366.0 10,179.2 813.2 Mainly due to late contractor invoices on the City Centre Cycle Network PH3 scheme and share of costs moved 

from Crown Point Road scheme onto the TCF City Centre Cycle Network scheme, which while it has funds will 

cause a knock on effect on future years with the scheme having to be descoped unless we are successful in 

achieveing addtl funding.

Dawsons Corner & 

Stanningley 

Bypass

1,776.5 693.7 (1,082.8) Failure to secure the Charity Land purchase expected to complete in March 24, due to delays in agreeing 

value/price. Will now complete May 24. 

City Centre 

Package & Armley 

Gyratory

22,271.6 23,061.3 789.7 Delivered more on the ground on Armley Gyratory than expected in year after adjusting cashflows from Feb 

2023, taking advantage of the fair weather conditions. At the time of estimating the outturn in January late 

invoices came through. 

Leeds Public 

Transport 

Investment 

Programme

4,007.5 3,426.2 (581.3) Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme (LPTIP), spend on the remaining schemes was less than 

expected in 2023/24, together with the developer not taking up the loan facility LCC made available.

Regeneration Heritage Action 

Zone

1,124.0 467.8 (656.2) Full programme not going ahead, descope of schemes.

Other schemes 42,031.4 39,909.7 (2,121.7) No material variances on the 445 remaining schemes within City Development. Main areas for this variance are 

Culture & Sport (-£404.8k), and Regeneration (-£1,082.0k)

147,879.6 148,741.9 862.3

P
age 85



 

  

Appendix 6B continued

Directorate Service Programme / 

Scheme

Feb 2024

£000

2023/24

Actual

£000

Variation Under 

(-) / Over

£000

Reason for variation

Children & 

Families

Learning Places Cockburn MAT - 

Phase 2

3,051.1 2,371.0 (680.1) Delays to planned public right of way works due to planning approval processes.

Learning Places Allerton High 

School

2,147.3 2,263.7 116.4 Additional costs incurred from school change requests.

Learning Places Laurence Calvert 

School

300.0 585.9 285.9 Acceleration of site reinstatement works following decommissionning of temporary classroom units.

Learning Places Boston Spa St 

Edwards's Primary 

School

728.9 529.4 (199.5) Delay in hard play and highways aspects of the project, and identification of potential budget savings.

Learning Places Leeds City 

Academy

1,638.6 1,148.6 (490.0) This is an Academy self-delivered scheme - delay in works being undertaken.

Learning Places Brierley Nightingale 

SEN

1,669.7 1,264.7 (405.0) This is an Academy self-delivered scheme - delay in works being undertaken.

Capital 

Maintenance

SCA Works 

Programme 

2023/24

3,584.9 4,295.2 710.3 Accelerated spend in the 2023/24 SCA Works Programme, primarily relating to mechanical and roofing works.

Health & Safety Health & Safety 

Works 23/24

60.0 262.8 202.8 Roofing works, originally planned for Summer 2024 (SCA programme), that have been brought forward due to 

emergency circumstances.

Devolved 

Formula Capital 

Grant (DFC)

Devolved Formula 

Capital Grant 

(DFC)

2,500.0 2,868.6 368.6 Increase in school capital grant spend.

Other Education 

Schemes

Prince Henry's 

Grammar - S106 

Works

0.0 261.7 261.7 Post Feb '24 agreement with school to provide S106 financing contribution.

Social Care / 

Youth / Early 

Years

New Residential 

Childrens Homes

3,325.0 3,185.5 (139.5) The variance primarily relates to the reversal of a decision to purchase a property (-£350.0k), offset by additional 

refurbishment / remodelling costs at a new home (+£212.1k).

Social Care / 

Youth / Early 

Years

Kinship Care - 

Private Homes

0.0 159.0 159.0 Post Feb '24 Financial Challenge agreement to capitalise revenue expenditure.

Other schemes 6,725.3 6,515.9 (209.4) No material variances on the 145 remaining schemes within Childrens & Families.

25,730.8 25,712.0 (18.8)

P
age 86



 

  

Appendix 6B continued

Directorate Service Programme / 

Scheme

Feb 2024

£000

2023/24

Actual

£000

Variation Under 

(-) / Over

£000

Reason for variation

Strategy & 

Resources

Digital and 

Information 

Services

Digital 

Developments 

Programme

2,617.0 2,175.4 (441.6) Variance primarily due to a delay in awarding a KPMG contract (£230k), standing down a number of Fujitsu 

resources employed via the augmentation framework and lower than estimated internal resources utilised.

Finance Capital 

Programme 

Management

541.4 421.9 (119.5) Variance caused by reduction in IAS 19 charges

Other schemes 5,952.0 5,869.4 (82.6) No material variances on the 31 remaining schemes within Strategy & Resources.

9,110.4 8,466.7 (643.7)

Directorate Service Programme / 

Scheme

Feb 2024

£000

2023/24

Actual

£000

Variation Under 

(-) / Over

£000

Reason for variation

Communities, 

Housing & 

Environment

Strategic Housing 

Partnership & 

Support

Adaptations 

(Disabled Facilities 

Grant)

10,322.1 9,236.6 (1,085.5) The projected spend at Feb 24 had included funding from LCC. At year-end the spend incurred did not require 

the LCC funding. As such the actual outturn was lower than reported at Feb 24.

Holbeck Group 

Repair GF Ph2

93.6 623.2 529.6 Upon completion of this project, the overhead contribution of these works could be calculated.  The difference of 

£530k was the final overheads charged, which had not been included in the projection at Feb 24.

Climate, Energy 

& Greenspaces

Indoor Playbarn at 

Temple Newsam

793.0 1,732.2 939.2 The fire at the site caused additional costs which are expected to be covered from insurance receipts in 2025/26.  

The variance in costs was also due to movement in the timing of payments between 2023/24 and 2024/25.

District Heating 

Phase 3

1,878.3 2,652.7 774.4 Additional works under the scheme due to delays and highways issues. All funded by PipeCo Ltd as part of 

Phase 3 purchase. 

Loan to SPV 

District Heating

0.0 4,055.0 4,055.0 District Heating PipeCo Ltd purchased Phase 3 pipe network funding the scheme by capital receipt. To support 

this purchase, LCC agreed a loan that is repayable over 30 years.

Home Upgrade 

Grant ( HUG ) 

Works

2,525.0 710.8 (1,814.2) Slippage in Scheme - reprofiled to 24/25

18th Edition 

Electrical Testing

0.0 500.0 500.0 Year end capitalisation  of costs for Electrical Testing.

Sla Testing Works 

2023-24

1,500.0 1,500.0 Year end capitalisation of costs for SLA Testing.

Other schemes 30,822.7 24,202.9 (6,619.8) No material variances on the 560 remaining schemes within Communities, Housing & Environment. Main areas 

for this variance are Parks and Countryside (-£3,648.5k), Corporate Property Management (-£2,386.3k)

46,434.7 45,213.4 (1,221.3)

Total General Fund Variances 267,980.3 268,286.8 306.5

P
age 87



 

Appendix 6B continued

Directorate Service Programme / 

Scheme

Feb 2024

£000

2023/24

Actual

£000

Variation Under 

(-) / Over

£000

Reason for variation

HRA - Strategic 

Landlord

HRA Other CHGP 

Capitalisation Of 

Interest

1,566.4 752.3 (814.1) Slippage in the Council House Growth Programme (CHGP) has resulted in reduced capitalisation of interest 

charges.

HRA Council 

Housing Growth 

Programme

Meynall Approach 1,228.0 301.1 (926.9) Final account position still to be agreed - it was assumed at Feb 2024 EB that this would have been reached by 

final outturn. 

Throstle Rec 

Middleton Skills 

Centre

5,253.6 4,644.7 (608.9) Final account position still to be agreed - it was assumed at Feb 2024 EB that this would have been reached by 

final outturn. 

Bridging Scheme 3,206.4 1,575.0 (1,631.4) Original grant conditions from Government required spend within the 23/24 financial year. Government have 

subsequently slipped this condition to later in 2024.

Local Authority 

Housing Fund 2

2,970.0 1,180.5 (1,789.5) Original grant conditions from Government required spend within the 23/24 financial year. Government have 

subsequently slipped this condition to later in 2024.

CHGP ROFR, 

Empties & Refurb

8,319.1 5,699.1 (2,620.0) Right of First Refusal (ROFR) properties have been utilised to maximise other external funding projects, where 

possible, with subsequent implications on resources for this ROFR scheme.

Next Step 

Accommodation

1,831.4 1,166.7 (664.7) Scheme was assumed to complete by the end of 23/24 but slippage has occurred.

Ukraine Housing 4,315.5 3,465.6 (849.9) Original grant conditions from Government required spend within the 23/24 financial year. Government have 

subsequently slipped this condition to later in 2024.

Throstle Rec Gen 

Needs

7,180.1 6,351.7 (828.4) Final account position still to be agreed - it was assumed at Feb 2024 EB that this would have been reached by 

final outturn. 

HRA Housing 

Leeds

Capitalised Voids 6,200.0 7,957.2 1,757.2 Ratio of spend between Capital and Revenue Void works has resulted in increased capital spend at year end. 

These have been funded by an RCCO injection from the Voids revenue budget where the spend had originally 

been accounted for.

Capitalised 

Repairs

2,100.0 8,498.6 6,398.6 Ratio of spend between Capital and Revenue Repair works has resulted in increased capital spend at year end. 

These have been funded by an RCCO injection from the Repairs revenue budget where the spend had originally 

been accounted for.

Other schemes 85,221.4 81,344.0 (3,877.4) No material variances on the 172 remaining schemes within HRA - Strategic Landlord.

129,391.9 122,936.5 (6,455.4)

Total Capital Programme Variances 397,372.2 391,223.3 (6,148.9)

P
age 88



 

 

Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) Funding Statement Appendix 6C

Ward Based Initiative (WBI) Allocations
Initial WBI 

Allocation from 

2008

Total CRIS 

Injection to 

Sep '23

CRIS Injection 

Oct '23 - Mar '24

Total WBI 

Allocation

Spent / 

Committed

(as at Mar '24)

Total Balance 

Available 

Scheme ref

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

ADEL AND WHARFEDALE 40.0 107.7 0.0 147.7 57.1 90.6 14236\ADL\000

ALWOODLEY 40.0 95.9 0.0 135.9 135.9 0.0 14236\ALW\000

ARDSLEY AND ROBIN HOOD 40.0 57.0 0.0 97.0 87.8 9.2 14236\ARD\000

ARMLEY 40.0 168.9 0.0 208.9 142.8 66.1 14236\ARM\000

BEESTON AND HOLBECK 40.0 116.5 3.4 159.9 128.7 31.2 14236\BEE\000

BRAMLEY AND STANNINGLEY 40.0 98.9 0.0 138.9 117.3 21.6 14236\BRA\000

BURMANTOFTS AND RICHMOND HILL 40.0 162.2 0.0 202.2 117.7 84.5 14236\BUR\000

CALVERLEY AND FARSLEY 40.0 45.3 0.0 85.3 85.0 0.3 14236\CAL\000

CHAPEL ALLERTON 40.0 189.7 0.0 229.7 140.3 89.4 14236\CHA\000

HUNSLET & RIVERSIDE 40.0 552.8 32.4 625.2 470.6 154.6 14236\CIT\000

CROSSGATES AND WHINMOOR 40.0 97.9 0.0 137.9 71.0 66.9 14236\CRO\000

FARNLEY AND WORTLEY 40.0 174.7 0.0 214.7 196.1 18.6 14236\FAR\000

GARFORTH AND SWILLINGTON 40.0 34.6 0.0 74.6 60.8 13.8 14236\GAR\000

GIPTON AND HAREHILLS 40.0 196.4 0.0 236.4 224.8 11.6 14236\GIP\000

GUISELEY AND RAWDON 40.0 0.0 0.0 40.0 40.0 0.0 14236\GUI\000

HAREWOOD 40.0 114.9 0.0 154.9 71.0 83.9 14236\HAR\000

HEADINGLEY AND HYDE PARK 40.0 327.8 0.0 367.8 346.6 21.2 14236\HDN\000

HORSFORTH 40.0 180.3 0.0 220.3 204.9 15.4 14236\HOR\000

LITTLE LONDON AND WOODHOUSE 40.0 514.3 75.0 629.3 275.6 353.7 14236\HYD\000

KILLINGBECK AND SEACROFT 40.0 85.1 0.0 125.1 71.6 53.5 14236\KIL\000

KIPPAX AND METHLEY 40.0 50.7 0.0 90.7 42.7 48.0 14236\KIP\000

KIRKSTALL 40.0 157.9 0.0 197.9 80.3 117.6 14236\KIR\000

MIDDLETON PARK 40.0 94.5 0.0 134.5 117.2 17.3 14236\MID\000

MOORTOWN 40.0 45.9 0.0 85.9 82.2 3.7 14236\MOO\000

MORLEY NORTH 40.0 57.8 0.0 97.8 93.8 4.0 14236\MON\000

MORLEY SOUTH 40.0 30.6 0.0 70.6 63.1 7.5 14236\MOS\000

OTLEY AND YEADON 40.0 183.2 18.5 241.7 105.7 136.0 14236\OTL\000

PUDSEY 40.0 177.2 0.0 217.2 179.8 37.4 14236\PUD\000

ROTHWELL 40.0 168.2 0.0 208.2 65.6 142.6 14236\RTH\000

ROUNDHAY 40.0 62.7 0.0 102.7 76.7 26.0 14236\ROU\000

TEMPLE NEWSAM 40.0 293.2 50.0 383.2 115.1 268.1 14236\TEM\000

WEETWOOD 40.0 165.8 0.0 205.8 160.4 45.4 14236\WEE\000

WETHERBY 40.0 150.0 0.0 190.0 181.6 8.4 14236\WET\000

TOTALs 1,320.0 4,958.6 179.3 6,457.9 4,409.8 2,048.1

Community Committee Allocations
Percentage Total CRIS 

Injection to 

Sep '23

CRIS Injection 

Oct '23 - Mar '24

Total 

Community 

Committee 

Allocation

Spent / 

Committed

(as at Mar '24)

Total Balance 

Available 

Scheme ref

% £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

INNER SOUTH 14.83% 227.6 8.9 236.5 191.2 45.3 16933\000\000

OUTER SOUTH 9.60% 164.0 5.7 169.7 129.6 40.1 16934\000\000

OUTER EAST 8.83% 157.1 5.3 162.4 66.2 96.2 16935\000\000

INNER WEST 13.02% 185.7 7.8 193.5 177.2 16.3 16936\000\000

INNER NORTH WEST 8.33% 152.9 5.0 157.9 137.1 20.8 16937\000\000

OUTER WEST 8.66% 143.1 5.2 148.3 117.1 31.2 16938\000\000

OUTER NORTH WEST 7.24% 132.6 4.3 136.9 67.4 69.5 16939\000\000

INNER NORTH EAST 7.64% 136.4 4.5 140.9 124.1 16.8 16940\000\000

INNER EAST 16.70% 260.3 10.0 270.3 221.8 48.5 16941\000\000

OUTER NORTH EAST 5.15% 93.2 3.1 96.3 59.3 37.0 16942\000\000

TOTALs 100.00% 1,652.9 59.8 1,712.7 1,291.0 421.7

Total CRIS Injection Oct '23 - Mar '24 239.1 Total CRIS Balance Available 2,469.8

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

d 

 

 

Brief summary 

 

Recommendations 
a) Scrutiny Board to note the changes within IDS structure during 2024.  

 

b) Scrutiny Board to note the progress made within IDS as described in the report, note the 

future technology strategy direction and the approach to culture within the service. 

 

c) Scrutiny Board to recognise the ongoing challenges to recruit and retain skilled technical 

specialists and how this is being addressed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Integrated Digital Service Update 

Date: 22 July 2024 

Report of: Chief Digital Information Officer (Interim) 

Report to: Scrutiny Board – Strategy & Resources 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Andrew Byrom 

Tel: 0113 3784339 

This report provides an update on IDS Digital Strategy and describes progress made within 

the service since IDS last reported to the Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board in 2021.  

The report describes changes to structure within the service and the introduction of an 

augmentation framework to address recruitment and retention issues. 

The report provides a brief update from the various services within IDS to highlight 

achievements and the development of the forward-looking technology direction taken since 

2021. 

The report provides an update on the key risks that IDS report to CLT and to Executive Board. 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 

What is this report about?  

1 This report provides an update to the Strategy & Resources Scrutiny board on progress made 

within the service since it last provided a general update in 2021, noting that Corporate 

Governance and Audit Committee also receive annual reports about digital governance.  

2 The Integrated Digital Service (IDS) underpins the delivery of services by the Council, ICB 

(Leeds place), GP practices and other partners to the citizens, businesses, and visitors to 

Leeds, helping to deliver the city’s ambitions.  

3 IDS provide a range of services including ‘lights on’ support, project change delivery, proactive 

protection against cyber-attack, management of our information compliance regime, digital 

leadership, data analytics, digital learning, and management of line of business applications. 

4 The vision and future direction for Digital is a key enabler in the ambition for the city and 

Scrutiny board are requested to review and input to the proposed future vision and plans. 

Governance 

5 Since IDS last reported to Scrutiny in 2021 new governance has been introduced with the aim 

to improve how digital decisions are made within the Council and to improve prioritisation of 

programmes and projects across the Directorates.  

6 A Design Authority has been created within IDS which reviews all new work and ensures IDS 

Design Principles are met.  

 

7 The IDS Digital Principles focus on creating user-centric, intuitive, and multi-channel solutions 

that are reusable with minimal customisation. They emphasise the importance of realising 

cashable savings, leveraging technology and automation, simplifying operations, and ensuring 

compliance with security and regulatory standards. The principles also advocate for risk 

assessment, reducing legacy investments, and transitioning to cloud platforms. 

8 A new Digital Board has been introduced which is attended by Chief Officers from each 

Directorate.  

9 The Digital Board Terms of Reference (TOR) outline the strategic direction for the Digital Board, 

ensuring digital enablement aligns with the City Ambition and Council’s organisational plan. The 

TOR emphasises making digital services easier, cheaper, and faster for citizens and staff. It 

also focuses on building and assessing Digital Roadmaps, promoting digital efficiency and 

transformation, and approving future developments based on robust Digital Principles. 

Finance 

10 IDS manage three capital schemes. 

▪ Essential Services Programme (ESP) 

▪ Cloud & Application Compliance Programme (CACP) 

▪ Digital Efficiencies Programme (DEP) 

11 Further information on the IDS capital schemes are published online. 

Service Desk & Member Support 

12 IDS previously reported to Scrutiny in March 2024 on IDS Service Desk performance the report 

presented is available online. 

13 IDS recognised during 2022 that there was a gap in terms of dedicated IT Member Support. As 

such in January 2023 a new role was created of P02 Member Senior IT Support Officer. This 

Page 92

https://leedsgovuk.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/PROJ-IDSDigitalSchemes/Shared%20Documents/Key%20Documents/DCR_IDS%20Schemes_2024-25.docx?d=w5b810cecc34446009424e24088b8c9f7&csf=1&web=1&e=Z37WZX
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s255396/IDS%20-%20Service%20Desk%20final%20Feb%2024.pdf
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s255396/IDS%20-%20Service%20Desk%20final%20Feb%2024.pdf


 

 

role is responsible for supporting Members with any IT related issues that they may have that 

cannot be resolved by the IDS Service Desk.  

14 IDS also have a drop-in clinic based in the Civic Hall behind the Portland Crescent entrance 

where Members can call in for support with IT issues.  

15 The 100% Digital are in the process of creating a training offer in conjunction with HR which will 

be offered by the Be Your Best programme. A specific tailored offer to Members will be 

developed and delivered.  

16 IDS also provide a dedicated phone line (0113 376 0432) for use by Members to assist with 

issues they may have. 

Structure Changes 

17 Since the last update there has been significant changes within the service. On the 30th of 

January 2024 the Chief Digital Information Officer (CDIO) left the organisation and Andrew 

Byrom was appointed as interim CDIO.  

18 In recent months, the Interim CDIO has been working with the IDS SLT, the Director of Strategy 

& Resources and the wider service on a reset and baseline of IDS. This has included creating a 

new Technology Strategy approach with the Chief Technology Officer, for engagement with 

CLT and being incorporated into the organisational plan.  

19 IDS are working with other services within the Strategy & Resources directorate to develop 

integrated ways of working, to better support Directorates in their decision making and Financial 

Challenge targets.   

20 There have also been changes within the Strategy & Resources directorate with some teams 

within IDS moving to other areas.  The Programme Management Office and Digital 

Transformation teams have moved to Strategy & Performance and the Information Governance 

team have moved to Legal Services, with colleagues from these services remaining connected 

to IDS developments.  

21 Additionally, the IDS Sourcing team have been aligned into the Head of Procurement for day-to-

day management and support but have been retained on the IDS structure. This change has 

been made to provide additional capacity for the interim CDIO who has previously managing 

these teams.  

22 These changes have been made to provide single lines of accountability within the Strategy & 

Resources Directorate.  

23 Further changes have taken place within IDS to flatten the JNC level management structure 

with the removal of some JNC posts to provide a smaller and more effective team. This gives 

more responsibility to a smaller SLT team within IDS and will facilitate more agile decision 

making and a clearer reporting structure for staff. 

Technology changes 

24 The Digital technology that Leeds City Council deploys must have a transformative effect on the 

organisation and is central to helping the organisation become more efficient and underpins the 

plans within the Financial Challenge to make financial savings and best utility of Digital.  

25 The IDS technology strategy is evolving and building on the work from the previous CDIO who 

started a direction to move to multicloud (Azure, AWS, GCP) and the use of platforms and 

maximising use of products like the Microsoft PowerPlatform.  

Page 93



 

 

26 IDS are continuing to adopt a platform approach to delivery which means developing horizontal 

solutions that can be leveraged across multiple service areas rather than purchasing solutions 

which are designed to meet just one specific business need.  IDS will use pre-built accelerators 

to improve platforms when it’s impractical to build in-house.  We will only purchase business 

specific solutions when it’s not effective or efficient to build within our platforms. 

27 IDS have a strategy to modernise and rationalise our legacy application estate by reducing the 

number of systems that office and frontline staff use.  We are doing this by identifying where we 

can move similar workloads together using the same platform or same solution to meet the 

needs of the service area.  An example of this is to reduce multiple asset management 

solutions and combining similar types into one system & retire old systems.  We aim to identify 

the ‘corporate’ system of choice that will be supported to meet each of the different product 

categories we have across all service areas.  Any new solutions will fit in & work along with our 

existing investments. 

28 IDS are maximising the use of existing investments in licences on platforms to ensure the 

Council drives value. As an example, all staff have access to the Microsoft E5 license, this 

provides access to the entire package of Microsoft 365 productivity apps from anywhere and on 

any device.  We look to maximise the benefits of this package before looking to purchase new 

software with similar capabilities.  

29 IDS are working with HR and 100% Digital via the Be Your Best programme to ensure all staff 

have access to training to enable them to make full use of these new, and existing tools.  

30 The Council have recently procured and delivered Genesys Cloud as a new platform for 

Customer Contact telephony, this is already being used across other service lines to provide an 

improved service to the citizen and is a further example of reuse of new technology.  We are 

continuing to adopt this platform across 18 other business units moving them away from their 

existing telephony solutions as we rationalise.  Genesys has a number of additional features 

included within the platform that we will adopt in Phase 2 including the ability for customers to 

use live chat with a customer service operative if they need advice completing a digital 

transaction form – which will avoid the need to make a phone call to the contact centre, the 

ability to engage via social media platforms – which will allow us to retire other software 

products currently used to manage our social media engagement. 

31 IDS have developed a strategy of simplifying technology, reduced operational and software 

costs, and innovated by: 

▪ Having a combined view of all enterprise applications (linked to Local Government Inform 

service definitions) – total operational costs are calculated, and a roadmap and feature 

timeline is completed for mission critical applications. 

▪ Creating a streamlined and modern strategy for applications with ‘cloud first’ principles at its 

core. 

▪ Establishing an innovation funnel that transforms the business by using existing platforms 

and capabilities – only purchasing when we have a genuine gap or need. 

▪ Reducing the number of technologies, helping us to invest in our people and deliver change 

faster. 

32 Investing in digital skills for staff and the people of Leeds so everyone can engage on their own 

terms. 

▪ Creating clear roles and responsibilities across IDS to help teams focus on skills 

development. 

Page 94



 

 

▪ Agile, collaborative working to learn and improve quickly. 

33 Investing in a Security Operations Centre and centralised security team so we can continuously 

monitor risks and threats to our infrastructure. 

▪ Working in line with the National Cyber Security Strategy (NCSS) to gather and analyse data 

threats. 

▪ Using our cyber security tools and technologies. 

▪ Providing better incident response. 

34 New purchases follow ‘cloud first’ principles where the preference is public cloud over private 

cloud. 

▪ Continuing to move enterprise applications to the cloud. 

▪ Business applications (Office, Dynamics, and Power Platform) will run in Azure. Legacy 

infrastructure and modern consumer web applications in AWS. 

▪ 2028 target to be fully cloud-based. 

35 Ensuring accurate, equitable and inclusive decision making.  We aim to publish decisions, 

including rationale and data that led to the decisions. Protecting the privacy and data of the 

people of Leeds. 

▪ We are working to move data from enterprise applications to our centralised cloud platform 

(Azure). 

36 Since 2021 IDS have deployed a long-range radio network (LoraWAN) across the city utilising 

tower blocks which enables the deployment of advanced smart sensors and offers a 

transformative approach to enhancing the lives of residents.  

37 The LoraWAN network capability allows for the integration of Ambient Assisted Living platforms, 

connecting various people, systems, and sensors to assess data and respond to needs 

promptly. This network supports various applications like smart road temperature sensing, 

smart street lighting, environmental monitoring, and more, aiming to improve quality of life and 

city operations. 

Digital Change  

38 Since 2021 changes have been made to improve how IDS run our Line of Business 

Applications, engage with our services, and partners, provide Digital Learning for our staff, 

promote inclusion across the city, and develop Digital Transformation to enhance our digital 

capabilities across our services.  

39 Operational Engineering teams have moved from Operational Services (internally within IDS) to 

Digital Change. This will improve collaboration between Product Management who lead the 

Product Life Cycle for over 400 line of business applications across the council, and our 

Operational Engineering teams to ensure better development of our products, better 

management of our Product Life Cycles, improved suppliers management, remove duplication 

of effort, develop agility in terms of working practice by being more multi-disciplined, leading to 

improved service offer.  

100% Digital Leeds – Digital Learning and Digital Inclusion 

40 To fully realise the benefits of digital for everyone in Leeds, IDS has expanded the remit of the 

100% Digital Leeds service. The expanded service now has a dual focus: to develop digitally 

skilled and confident colleagues as well as digitally included and motivated communities.  

Page 95



 

 

 

41 Many council colleagues live and work in communities across Leeds, and they deliver services 

for those communities. The wider role of the 100% Digital Leeds service will ensure colleagues 

are better equipped to use digital tools and technology to work more efficiently and effectively. 

This will improve service delivery for citizens, who will be more confident to use digital tools and 

technology to access council and other services through the work of the 100% Digital Leeds 

digital inclusion programme.  

 

42 Since 2017, the 100% Digital Leeds Digital Inclusion team has reported annually to the 

Infrastructure, Investment, and Inclusive Growth Scrutiny Board. Those reports are available 

online, and the team’s most recent report in April 2024 noted the scale, scope, and impact of 

the digital inclusion programme.  

43 The 100% Digital Leeds Digital Inclusion team has worked with partners to secure over 
£3million of funding over the last three years. Almost all that funding has gone to community 
organisations across Leeds. The Digital Inclusion team worked with 247 partner organisations 
last year, and those organisations supported tens of thousands of people. People from priority 
neighbourhoods and communities of interest, including older people, people with learning 
disabilities, and low-income families, have moved closer to digital inclusion.  

44 One feature of the 100% Digital Leeds model is to support third sector organisations to use 
external funding to appoint digital inclusion officers to work with specific communities or to 
achieve specific outcomes. This extends the reach and capacity of the 100% Digital Leeds 
team, and increases their impact, at no cost to the council.  

45 Digital inclusion is now accepted, understood, and invested in as a strategic priority by teams 

and organisations across all sectors. This map shows the locations of the organisations across 
Leeds that are working with the 100% Digital Leeds team. The digital inclusion team are leading 
on a wide range of Key Initiatives that support the council’s and the city’s priorities and 
ambitions. Qualitative outcomes for individuals, communities, organisations, sectors, and the 
city are set out in the team’s most recent Scrutiny Board report and on the 100% Digital Leeds 
website.  

46 In addition to the work of the Digital Inclusion team, the 100% Digital Leeds Digital Learning 
team is prioritising programmes and projects that drive efficiencies, deliver savings, and support 
the council’s Financial Challenge, Best City Ambition, and Corporate Transformation priorities.  

47 As part of the Digital Change service in IDS, the 100% Digital Leeds service supports the 
effective adoption of digital tools, technology, products, and services. The 100% Digital Leeds 
Digital Learning offer will also support the IDS Technical Strategy and the council’s 
organisational objectives. 

48 The Digital Learning team has worked with council HR colleagues to develop a Digital Learning 
offer that will be rolled out over the next 18 months to over 2,000 managers across the council 
as part of the Be Your Best programme. This menu of training and support will focus on the 
corporate M365 tools that can help all managers work more efficiently and effectively. The 
council has already paid for these tools, so this training programme will support the council’s 
ambition to spend money wisely and maximise the impact of investment.  

49 Another priority focus for the Digital Learning team is to support the widespread adoption of 
Core Business Transformation (CBT) tools. The team has assigned a Digital Learning Officer to 
support the CBT programme. This Officer will attend meetings with Transformation colleagues 
and Subject Matter Experts, learn more about the product, assess and adapt learning resources 
from suppliers and external trainers, build learning resources on Bubo (the council’s e-learning 
website), adapt content as modules and processes are confirmed, and discuss and agree any 

Page 96

https://digitalinclusionleeds.com/our-work/reports
https://digitalinclusionleeds.com/our-work/reports
https://www.google.com/maps/d/viewer?mid=1dCvOSC2aUcpp2o4keDRF0PEiqWeVYbw&ll=53.850208168364766%2C-1.4782533440996692&z=11
https://www.google.com/maps/d/viewer?mid=1dCvOSC2aUcpp2o4keDRF0PEiqWeVYbw&ll=53.850208168364766%2C-1.4782533440996692&z=11
https://digitalinclusionleeds.com/our-work/key-initiatives
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s255484/100%20Digital%20Leeds%20digital%20inclusion%20update%20report.pdf
https://digitalinclusionleeds.com/
https://digitalinclusionleeds.com/


 

 

additional learning needs as the project and products develop. This approach has already 
received positive feedback from CBT colleagues and demonstrates the IDS approach to agile 
ways of working and matrix-management across multi-disciplinary teams.  

50 The team will continue to review and refresh the entire Digital Learning offer to ensure it meets 
the needs of the council’s current and future workforce. The offer will be delivered through a 
blended approach to ensure colleagues can find the most suitable opportunities to improve their 
digital skills and confidence. These include face-to-face training sessions, virtual sessions led 
by the Digital Learning team, self-directed e-learning sessions, sessions and resources from 
partners and suppliers, plus options for peer-support, collaboration and innovation for teams 
and service areas.  

Strategy & Innovation 

51 As part of the 2021 IDS restructure, Strategy & Innovation was created to provide strategic 
direction in relation to the use of digital technology across the council and Leeds ICB.  It also 
leads on digital innovation to explore how use of existing solutions can be maximised and how 
new and emerging technologies could be adopted by the council to drive efficiencies. 

52 It led on the City Digital Strategy 2022-2025 which puts people at the centre of what we do, and 
how digital can support people to Start Well, Live Well, Work Well and Age Well. Following its 
publication, in 2022 and 2023, the team delivered two digital innovation workshops as part of 
Leeds Digital Festival that encouraged people from across the city to co-design solutions that 
support independent living in older age and increasing productivity and collaboration at 
work. Ideas from both these workshops continue to be investigated. 

53 For the past 2 years it has delivered a Digital Health and Social Care event that has brought 
together over 200 delegates and world-renowned speakers together to share best practice on 
how new and emerging technology is shaping the sector and could be adopted by the 
council.  All these events have been fully funded through sponsorship. 

54 Strategy-wise, it is also currently supporting the Office of Data Analytics with the development 
of a data strategy. 

55 The team is leading on the pilot of the Microsoft AI assistant, Microsoft 365 Copilot with 300 
people from across the council trialling the solution.  There has been excellent engagement 
from staff across the organisation through attending a variety of innovation sessions over a 3-
week period that have outlined the benefits of the solution, and provided a forum for staff to 
identify and explore possible use cases where it can improve efficiency and support them in 
their work. 

56 The team has also been working closely with Adults & Health and GP practices to trial two 
remote monitoring solutions that support people to manage their Long-Term Conditions at home 
and be supported by family members and carers.  The results of these projects are feeding into 
the work led by Cath Roff on the Community Health and Wellbeing Service. 

57 Working within IDS alongside technical teams and product managers to identify opportunities 
for savings and efficiencies through reviewing existing products and contracts, as well as 
market appraisal and horizon scanning. Finally, they are increasingly working with existing LCC 
partners including Microsoft, AWS, and BT to maximise the benefits of our working relationship 
with them, and how we deliver best value for money from existing solutions before procuring 
anything new. 

Office of Data Analytics 

58 In June 2021, the previous report to Scrutiny Board described the planned creation of an Office 
of Data Analytics in Leeds, bringing together skills and expertise to provide new insights that 

Page 97



 

 

would help us to understand health inequalities and citizen needs, leading to improved services 
and outcomes.  

59 The Office of Data Analytics was formed in 2022, bringing together data experts from across the 
Council and the ICB. The service applies a cloud-first approach and has taken steps to improve 
the curation of data from across the city, in addition to creating insights that are meaningful and 
can drive evidence-based decision making. A good example is the recently developed Social 
Progress Index that allows us to assess progress against the Best City Ambition. The Office of 
Data Analytics owns the Leeds Data Model – which is a nationally recognised NHS-linked data 
model. 

60 A secure city data platform has been created which leverages our Microsoft product set – the 
Leeds Insight Hub – a platform where partners across the city can share reports and 
visualisations, giving a single version of the truth. Alongside analysis of historic and current 
activity, a data science function has emerged, allowing us to apply predictive modelling. The 
initial models focus on health and care but are starting to broaden. 

61 Separate to this is Data Mill North – this is our open data platform and is maintained by the 
Office of Data Analytics. Over 700 datasets are published by approximately 50 (mainly) public 
sector organisations from across the region. Over the past two years more and more data is 
being shared openly and this drives innovation across the city. Leeds City Council alone 
publishes 320 separate datasets. Alongside reducing FOI requests this positively demonstrates 
the Council’s transparency. 

62 The Office of Data Analytics also holds a role in implementing cross-organisational data 
collaborations in the city, including coordination of information governance, and underpinning 
digital capability that allows this partnership work to happen. The system visibility components 
of the HomeFirst programme are a key example of this capability. 

What impact will this proposal have? 

63 This report provides an assurance on the performance of IDS and presents an update on 

changes to structure within the service and an update on the technology direction.  

How does this proposal impact the three pillars of the Best City Ambition? 

☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Zero Carbon 

64 The work IDS do support all five Directorates and therefore supports all three pillars of the Best 

City Ambition. IDS undertakes work with supports the Organisational Plan, Financial Strategy, 

People Strategy and Procurement Strategy/LGA Action Plan. 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

 

65 Andrew Byrom, Chief Digital Information Officer (Interim) has regular meetings with Councillor 

Coupar and provides her with a regular progress update on ongoing work in IDS including the 

Digital Strategy.  

66 IDS report annually to the Corporate Governance & Audit Committee, the reports presented to 

committee in February 2024 are available online here and the appendix here. 

What are the resource implications? 

Wards affected:  

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☒ No 

 

Page 98

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s253621/IDS%20Covering%20Report%20for%20CGAC%20-%20FINAL.pdf
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s253622/Appendix%201%20IDS%20Statement%20of%20Internal%20Control%20FINAL.pdf


 

 

67 IDS continue to struggle to recruit and retain technical staff due to pay scale inequalities with the 

private sector. Leeds has many technologies companies and has become a technology hub over 

recent years. Due to this there is high demand in the city for technology roles.  

68 To address this issue IDS have procured an augmentation framework which has strengthen the 

capacity of the IDS to a level which will enable a more rapid rate of delivery of priority project work 

alongside delivery of business-as-usual activities and will accelerate several key programmes of 

work. Delays in securing resources will cause delays to these major programmes that are reliant 

on releasing financial savings or keeping the council’s estate secure and compliant. This includes 

major initiatives such as the Core Business Transformation Programme, Highways Enterprise 

Architecture Programme, Web Migration Programme, Cloud Migration, Modernisation and 

Compliance Programme and the Essential Services Programme. 

69 The new framework does not impact on members of staff within IDS in terms of changes to 

structures or roles.  However, it will be positive for IDS staff in removing workload pressures.  It 

will also support IDS staff in their development and retention by enabling them to be involved in 

projects involving new technologies.  This will allow them to gain the skills, experience and 

training required to move into developing and supporting new technologies. In terms of the 

wider impact on staff across the council, it will help by allowing IDS to implement projects that 

improve access to information and tools that will make delivery of services quicker and easier.   

70 IDS recognise the need to grow our own staff and are developing plans for a trainee entry level 

scheme within the service to target key roles which are currently being filled via the 

augmentation framework. This plan will cover a 3-year period and will be measurable through 

the reduction in use of the framework and conversion to that work being undertaken by our own 

trainees / graduates, linked to a more proactive approach to workforce planning and 

development.  

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?  

71 There are two corporate risks managed by IDS. 

▪ LCC15 Major ICT Failure 

▪ LCC31 Major Cyber Incident 

72 Regarding LCC15 Major ICT Failure the council’s ICT function plays a central role in supporting 

our Best City Ambition by providing day-to-day support to all council staff who use information, 

communications, and technology to carry out their job. This includes standard office software as 

well as running major business applications.  

73 There are many factors which could trigger frequent or prolonged ICT failure, including loss of 

power coupled with failure of back-up generators, air conditioning units fail resulting in the data 

centre overheating and a power down of the ICT server equipment, a loss of internet 

connectivity and insufficient staffing resources to maintain the infrastructure.  

74 Should the risk arise, and the digital infrastructure not be restored promptly, there would be a 

significant adverse impact on our ability to deliver services leading to mass complaints, loss of 

public confidence in the council and reputational damage. 

75 There are many controls in place to manage this risk, as follows: 

▪ Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery Plans in place for primary systems, with periodic 

review and testing. A cross-council Major Incident Management process is in place and 

would be activated to deal with a major IT failure.  

Page 99



 

 

▪ In the event of a total or partial disruption to the power supply, IT systems are configured to 

shut down safely. Generators providing an alternative source of power supply are 

maintained and can be used to support key sites in the event of a mains power failure.    

▪ The implementation of a resilient fibre service between key data centres has reduced the 

number of hardware failures that can affect service delivery.  Improved fibre links enable a 

quicker offsite backup of data should a major incident occur, and data recovery be 

required.    

▪ IT security measures such as firewalls, anti-virus software, and access controls for staff and 

contractors in place to mitigate against cyber-attacks.   

▪ Senior managers within the council’s Integrated Digital Service (IDS) meet weekly and act 

as the escalation point for any convers raised around security and digital service delivery.   

▪ IDS have the Essential Services capital programme for 2024-25 of £9.6M that will see 

investment made in maintaining the IT Service across the council – including spend on 

devices, security, networks, software refresh, infrastructure, storage and compliance. 

76 Further actions planned: 

▪ Regular work to review, update and test the digital aspects of Business Continuity Plans for 

the council’s critical services.  

▪ Leading up to 2025 there will be significant changes as the national telephony system 

switches over from analogue to digital. A programme is underway to convert the council’s 

phone systems to digital and this includes the identification of any “legacy lines” that will no 

longer work after the switchover. 

▪ As part of the Cloud and Compliance Migration Programme more applications will be moved 

off premises and into cloud-based solutions 

77 Regarding LCC31 Major Cyber Incident to reduce the risk of cyber-attacks IDS has controls that 

are technical, management and personnel. 

78 In June 2024 a letter was received from the DLUHC/NCSC which highlighted the following key 

considerations in preparedness for the General Election. IDS have used this information to 

further sanity check the Cyber assurance processes in place with the Council. 

▪ Ransomware 

▪ Denial of Service (DDoS) attacks. (A distributed denial-of-service attack is a malicious 

attempt to disrupt the normal traffic of a targeted server, service, or network by 

overwhelming the target or its surrounding infrastructure with a flood of Internet traffic.) 

▪ Website defacement 

▪ The ability to recover from backups. 

▪ The NCSC Active Cyber Defence Programme 

 
79 These key considerations can be addressed by the technical controls IDS has in place: 

▪ IDS has in place Endpoint Protection, Anti-virus & Malware Protection, an Email Gateway 

▪ Security System, and a Security Information and Event Management (SIEM) System, all of 

which offer a defence against ransomware. 

▪ IDS utilises a DDoS Protection System to provide a defence against DDoS attacks. 

▪ IDS has Web Application Firewalls to help protect web applications by filtering and 

monitoring traffic between web applications and the Internet. This helps prevent website 

Page 100



 

 

defacement or alerts us to suspicious content that might indicate defacement to enable it to 

be swiftly rectified. 

▪ IDS has a strong backup regime utilising both on premises and Cloud solutions should data 

and systems need to be restored. 

▪ IDS has been utilising the NCSC Active Cyber Defence offer for several years. We are 

signed up to the Early Warning, Mailcheck, Protective DNS, and Webcheck Services that 

are referenced in the DLUHC/NCSC Joint Letter June 2024.  

▪ We have incorporated the Early Warning Service into our Cyber Incident Response Process 

to immediately route any NCSC cyber incident alert to the appropriate technical experts and 

the IDS Service Centre to log a ticket and escalate accordingly. 

 

What are the legal implications? 

80 There are no legal implications arising from this report – it is for information.  

Options, timescales and measuring success  

What other options were considered? 

81 Not applicable.  

How will success be measured? 

82 Digital skills of leaders will be measured through the number of projects which successfully 

change ways of working with improved outcomes for citizens and more efficient service 

delivery.  

What is the timetable and who will be responsible for implementation? 

83 The delivery of the initiatives covered in this paper are ongoing and will be reviewed regularly 

with the Director of Strategy & Resources and Councillor Coupar, Deputy Leader and Executive 

Member for Resources. . 

 

Appendices 

▪ None 

 

Background papers 

▪ None 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

Brief summary 

 
 

 

Being Our Best – our organisation plan 2024/25 update 

Date: 22 July 2024 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☒ Yes  ☐ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Rob Clayton 

Tel: 0113 37 88790 

Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board has had significant interest in organisational 
strategies and employee matters over the past 18 months having considered items on the 
2023/24 Being Our Best Organisational Plan, People Strategy, outcome of the 2023 staff 
survey, the LGA Peer Review and the approach to workforce equality, diversity and inclusion.  
 
This update of the Being Our Best Organisational Plan therefore seeks to build on that past 
consideration and offer the scrutiny board further opportunity to comment on the Council’s 
priorities as an organisation. Consideration of these issues is in line with the Board’s remit 
which features the following functions: the Council’s corporate planning and policy 
development services, including co-ordination of the Best City Ambition and setting, 
supporting and monitoring the council’s policies and procedures for performance, 
organisational planning and service improvement. 
 
The updated Being Our Best - our organisation plan 2024/25 sets out the plan to be an 
efficient, enterprising, healthy and inclusive organisation and provides an organisational 
response to the Best City Ambition, which was updated in February 2024.    
 

This plan maintains the focus on values, manager expectations and main areas for 
organisational change. It has also been enhanced to meet the UK Government’s Productivity 
Plan requirements, which ask councils to outline the transformation of the design and delivery 
of services to make better use of resources and how councils are taking advantage of 
technology and data to improve plans to balance council budgets.   
 
Appendix 1 to this report provides the Executive Board report introducing the updated Plan 

and Appendix 2 provides the Being our Best – our organisation plan 2024/25 update both are 

due to be considered at Executive Board on 24 July 2024. Due to publication deadlines, and 

the fact that Executive Board takes place two days after the meeting of this board, these 

appendices will be circulated as a supplementary items once they are published. 

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 9

https://www.leeds.gov.uk/plans-and-strategies/best-city-ambition
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s253368/Best%20City%20Ambition%20Cover%20Report%20250124.pdf


 

 

Recommendations 
a) Scrutiny Board (Strategy and Resources) is asked to comment on the updated Being Our 

Best – our organisation plan 2024/25, that also responds to the UK Government Productivity 

Plan requirements.   

b) Note that the Being Our Best Organisation Plan will be considered by Executive Board on 24 
July 2024.  

 
c) Note that graphic design work will be developed prior to publication of the updated Being 

Our Best – our organisation plan 2024/25 in August 2024, which may include some 
amendments to wording. 

 

What is this report about?  
1. Being Our Best – our organisation plan for 2023 onwards, approved by Executive Board in June 

2023, set out the vision for Leeds City Council to be the best Council in the best City and our 

role as a key partner in the Best City Ambition. In addition, the plan responded to 

recommendations from the Local Government Association Corporate Peer Challenge in 2022 

which was considered by the Board in both the 2022/23 and 2023/24 municipal years.   

 
2. The first iteration of the Being Our Best Plan set out values and behaviours, outlined change 

priorities to help modernise the authority and manager expectations, recognising the crucial role 
they play in valuing staff and improving outcomes, with a commitment to undertake a review of 
the plan, with feedback from managers, services and scrutiny important to help shape 
implementation and future refinement.  

 
3. An important new focus in the plan is the response to the Government requirement for local 

authorities to produce Productivity Plans. As part of the Local Government Settlement 2024/25, 
the Government introduced a requirement for all local authorities to produce productivity plans.  
Further guidance received in April 2024 asked that the productivity plans were published on 
local authority websites by 19th July 2024. Given the planned 2024 update of Being Our Best, 
rather than producing a separate Productivity Plan, Being Our Best – our organisation plan 
2024/25 has been enhanced to respond to the Productivity Plan requirements. 

 

4. Being Our Best – our organisation plan 2024/25 is focussed on three interlinked themes to 
enable everyone to understand the role and priorities of the council: 
- A growing, inclusive city - describing Local Government’s unique and engaging public 

service leadership role so that the council can make the greatest contribution to our Best 
City Ambition.  

- High-quality public services – describing the continuous improvement we strive to make in 
the services we deliver or commission, to improve outcomes, customer satisfaction and 
value-for-money.  

- Well-run organisation – describing the importance of good governance in line with our 
values and behaviours to help us make the most of all the resources and assets we have at 
our disposal, especially our staff.  

 

5. In each section there is a selection of activities undertaken to deliver improvements, as well as 
examples of priorities going forward focused mainly on the major things that will affect most or 
all of the organisation, rather than every change and transformation project that is being 
delivered.   
 

Page 104

https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s246893/Being%20Our%20Best%20Report%20Appendix%20090623.pdf
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s246892/Being%20Our%20Best%20Cover%20Report%20090623.pdf
https://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s246892/Being%20Our%20Best%20Cover%20Report%20090623.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/council-assurance-and-peer-support/peer-challenges-we-offer/corporate-peer-challenge-27
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/plans-and-strategies/best-city-ambition
https://www.leeds.gov.uk/plans-and-strategies/best-city-ambition


6. As noted above the Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board has had a long standing interest in 
organisational planning and linked issues associated with the workforce. Therefore, the Board is 
asked to comment on the Being Our Best Plan, which is presented at Appendix 2.  

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

7. Consideration of this item at Scrutiny offers an opportunity for Board members to comment and 
influence the development of the Being Our Best Organisational Plan both in the shorter term, 
through this year’s version, and potentially in advance of the planned further update in Spring 
2025.  
 

8. The role of scrutiny as a critical friend offers an opportunity for wider input into the Council’s 
organisational priorities and an opportunity to comment on the approach being taken to 
Productivity Plans, in response to the Government requirement. 

 
How does this proposal impact the three pillars of the Best City Ambition? 

☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Zero Carbon 

9. Being Our Best outlines the Council’s strategic response to the Best City Ambition.  
       

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

 

10. Being Our Best - our organisation plan 2024/25 was developed based on feedback from across 
the organisation since the first plan was agreed in June 2023 and has been developed through 
consultation with the Corporate Leadership Team, Chief Officers and the relevant Executive 
Board member.   

 

What are the resource implications? 

11. There are no specific resource implications at this stage. Any subsequent implications will be 
picked up as part of the regular budget planning, monitoring, and reporting cycle.  
 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?  

12. There are no risks directly associated with this report, although having a refreshed and updated 

organisational plan could result in better use of resources and also meets the Government 

requirement for Productivity Plans. The key risks that could impact upon delivery of the Best 

City Ambition and Being Our Best - our organisation plan, and details on how they are 

managed, are included in the Corporate Risk Management Annual Report, which is also due to 

be considered at Executive Board on 24 July.  

 

What are the legal implications? 

13. There are no specific legal implications arising from the Being Our Best – our organisation plan 
2024/25. Any that arise will be picked up as part of progressing the recommendations through 
the Council’s regular governance routes.  
  

Options, timescales and measuring success  

What other options were considered? 

14. This is an update report to scrutiny as such no other options were considered. 

  

Wards affected:  

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☒ No 

 

Page 105



How will success be measured? 

15. This is an update report to scrutiny as such no specific measures apply. However, further 

updates to scrutiny, potentially linked to the planned update in Spring 2025, offer an opportunity 

to monitor and check and challenge progress on the Being Our Best Plan. 

 

  What is the timetable and who will be responsible for implementation? 

16. The Director of Strategy and Resources will be responsible for the implementation of this 
updated organisation plan and the subsequent review, with an updated organisation plan being 
reported to Executive Board in Spring 2025.     
  

Appendices 

• Appendix 1: Being Our Best – our organisation plan 2024/25 Executive Board report. (To be 

published as supplementary item) 

• Appendix 2: Being Our Best – our organisation plan 2024/25. (To be published as 

supplementary item) 

 

Background papers 

• None 

Page 106



 
 

 

 

Brief summary 

 

Recommendations 

a) Members are requested to consider and discuss the Scrutiny Board’s work programme for 

the 2024/25 municipal year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Work Programme 

Date: 22 July 2024 

Report of: Head of Democratic Services 

Report to: Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 

Will the decision be open for call in? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information? ☐ Yes  ☒ No 

Report author: Rob Clayton 

Tel: 0113 378 8790 

The report sets out the draft 2024/25 work programme for the Scrutiny Board (Strategy & 

Resources) and reflects initial views from Board members at the June meeting.  

All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work programme for the 
municipal year. In doing so, the work programme should not be considered a fixed and rigid 
schedule, it should be recognised as a document that can be adapted and changed to reflect 
any new and emerging issues throughout the year. 
 
The Scrutiny Board Procedure Rules also state that, where appropriate, all terms of reference 
for work undertaken by Scrutiny Boards will include ‘to review how and to what effect 
consideration has been given to the impact of a service or policy on all equality areas, as set 
out in the Council’s Equality and Diversity Scheme’. 
 
Members will be invited to review and discuss the work programme at each public Scrutiny 
Board meeting that takes place during the 2024/25 municipal year.  

Page 107

Agenda Item 10



What is this report about?  

1 A draft work programme for the Strategy & Resources Scrutiny Board is presented at Appendix 

1 for consideration and discussion.  Reflected in the programme are known items of scrutiny 

activity, including performance and budget monitoring and identified Budget and Policy 

Framework items.  

 

2 The latest Executive Board minutes from the meeting held on 19 June 2024 are also provided 

at Appendix 2. The Scrutiny Board is asked to consider and note the Executive Board minutes, 

insofar as they relate to the remit of the Scrutiny Board; and consider any matter where specific 

scrutiny activity may also be warranted.  

 

3 Under the Sources of Work agenda item considered at the 17 June meeting of the Board initial 

views on work programming were put forward by Board Members and senior officers. Appendix 

1 to this report attempts to reflect that discussion. 

 

4 Work programming is an iterative process and board members can seek to add to the 

programme or suggest areas of interest as the year progresses. 

 

 

What impact will this proposal have? 

5 All Scrutiny Boards are required to determine and manage their own work programme for the 

municipal year. 

 

How does this proposal impact the three pillars of the Best City Ambition? 

☒ Health and Wellbeing  ☒ Inclusive Growth  ☒ Zero Carbon 

6 The terms of reference of the Scrutiny Boards promote a strategic and outward looking Scrutiny 

function that focuses on the best council objectives. 

 

What consultation and engagement has taken place?  

 

7 To enable Scrutiny to focus on strategic areas of priority, it is recognised that each Scrutiny 
Board needs to establish and maintain an effective, early dialogue with relevant Directors, 
senior officers and Executive Board Members.  
 

8 The Vision for Scrutiny also states that Scrutiny Boards should seek the advice of the Scrutiny 
officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member about available resources prior to agreeing 
items of work. 

 
 

What are the resource implications? 

9 Experience has shown that the Scrutiny process is more effective and adds greater value if the 

Board seeks to minimise the number of substantial inquiries running at one time.    

 

Wards affected:  

Have ward members been consulted? ☐ Yes    ☐ No 

 

Page 108



10 The Vision for Scrutiny, agreed by full Council also recognises that like all other Council 

functions, resources to support the Scrutiny function are under considerable pressure and that 

requests from Scrutiny Boards cannot always be met.   

 

11 Consequently, when establishing their work programmes Scrutiny Boards should: 

• Seek the advice of the Scrutiny officer, the relevant Director and Executive Member 

about available resources; 

• Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already having 

oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue; 

• Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add value and 

can be delivered within an agreed time frame. 

 

What are the key risks and how are they being managed?  

12 This report has no specific risk management implications. 
 

What are the legal implications? 

13 This report has no specific legal implications. 
  

Appendices 

• Appendix 1: Draft work programme 2024/25 

 

• Appendix 2: Minutes of the Executive Board meeting on 19 June 2024. 

 

Background papers 

• None 

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 

Work Schedule for 2024/25 Municipal Year 
 

 
 

June July August 

Meeting Agenda for 17 June 2024 at 10.30AM Meeting Agenda for 22 July 2024 at 10.30AM No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled. 

 

Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference / 
Sources of Work / Co-opted members 
reports (Development Briefings) 
 
Performance Report (Policy/Service Review / 
Performance Monitoring) 
 
Employee Mental Health and Well Being 
(Performance Monitoring) 

 
Financial and Treasury Management Outturn 2023/24 
/Financial Health Reporting 2024/25 (Performance 

Monitoring) 
 
Organisation Plan Refresh (Policy/Service Review)  
 
Digital Strategy Update (Performance Monitoring) 
 

 
 

Working Group Meetings 

 
 

  
 

Site Visits 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 111



Appendix 1 
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 

Work Schedule for 2024/25 Municipal Year 
 

 
 
 

September October November 

Meeting Agenda for 16 September 2024 at 
10.30AM 

Meeting Agenda for 14 October 2024 at 10.30AM No meeting 

 
Electoral Services Update – 2024 Election 
Review/Postal Voter Validation (Performance 

Monitoring) 
 
Financial Reporting 2024/25 (Performance 

Monitoring) 
 
Licensing Act – Gambling (pre-decision 

scrutiny) 
 
Joint Strategic Assessment (Policy/Service 

Review) 
 

 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (Performance 

Monitoring)  
 
Procurement Strategy (Policy/Service Review)  
 
Core Business Transformation (CBT) 
(Performance Monitoring)  
 
People Strategy (pre-decision scrutiny) 
 

 
 
 

Working Group Meetings 

   

Site Visits 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 112



Appendix 1 
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 

Work Schedule for 2024/25 Municipal Year 
 

 
 
 

December January February 

Meeting Agenda 9 December 2024 at 10.30AM Meeting Agenda for 13 January 2025 at 10.30AM Meeting Agenda for 17 February 2025 at 
10.30AM 

 
Information Governance – Performance 
Update (Performance Monitoring) 
 
Licensing Update (Performance Monitoring) 
(Possibly needs to be better scoped) 
 
Civic Enterprise Leeds Update 

 
Performance Report (Policy/Service Review / 
Performance Monitoring)  
 
Financial Reporting 2024/25 (Performance 

Monitoring) 
 
The Proposed Budget 2025/26 and Provisional 
Budgets for 2026/27 and 2027/28 (Pre-decision 

Scrutiny) 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion – Update 
(Policy/Service Review) 
 
Procurement Strategy (Performance Monitoring) 
 
 

Working Group Meetings 

Budget Working Group - TBC  
 

 

Site Visits 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 113



Appendix 1 
Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) 

Work Schedule for 2024/25 Municipal Year 
 

 
 
 

March April Notes 

Meeting Agenda for 17 March 2025 at 
10.30AM 

No Scrutiny Board meeting scheduled. Items to be scheduled 

 
Financial Reporting 2024/25 (Performance 

Monitoring) 
 
IDS Helpdesk (Performance Monitoring) 
 
Strategy and Resources Scrutiny Board End 
of Year Summary Statement 
 

  
 

Working Group Meetings 

 
 

  

Site Visits 

  
 

 

 
 

P
age 114



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 19TH JUNE, 2024 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J Lewis in the Chair 

 Councillors S Arif, D Coupar, H Hayden, 
A Lamb, J Lennox, J Pryor, M Rafique and 
F Venner 

 
APOLOGIES: Councillor M Harland 
 
 

1 Pre-Election Period of Heightened Sensitivity  
The Chair reminded the Board that as a result of the General Election being 
called for the 4 July, the meeting was being held during the pre-election 
period of heightened sensitivity. 
  
It was noted that whilst the purpose of the pre-election period was not to 
prevent the Council from carrying out its normal business, it was to prevent 
the business conducted by the Council being used, or being perceived as 
being used, to secure any electoral advantage.  
  
Therefore, Members were asked to treat the meeting as a normal Board 
meeting, but being mindful not to enter into debate that amounts to, or could 
reasonably be perceived to amount to electioneering. 
 

2 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
There was no information contained within the agenda which was designated 
as being exempt from publication. 
 

3 Late Items  
There were no late items of business submitted to the Board for 
consideration. 
 

4 Declaration of Interests  
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting. 
 

5 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 17th April 
2024 be approved as a correct record. 
 
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES 
 

6 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) - Education, Health 
and Care Plans (EHCPs) – Review Process – Update Report  
Further to Minute No. 83, 13th December 2023, the Director of Children and 
Families submitted a report setting out proposals regarding the ‘delivery 
stage’ of the new arrangements regarding Education, Health and Care Plan 
(EHCP) assessment and provision in Leeds. The report also presented the 

Page 115



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

Inquiry Report of the Children and Families Scrutiny Board into the provision 
of EHCP support for the Board’s consideration. 
 
The Executive Member introduced the report and in doing so, acknowledged 
that the Council currently was not delivering the level of service in this area 
that it wanted to. However, in response to this, it was highlighted that the 
steps outlined in the report, informed by the outcomes from the review, were 
being proposed to improve the timeliness by which EHCPs were delivered 
and improve the experience for children and their families. The significant 
increase in demand in this area was highlighted, which it was noted was a 
common experience for many other Authorities. The impact of such demand  
was emphasised, with staff being thanked for their continued efforts. It was 
noted that the proposed changes would help the Council achieve and 
maintain the improvements that were needed and that they would continue to 
be informed via the views of all relevant parties. As part of the proposals, 
external resource would be used to tackle the EHCP backlog. Thanks was 
also extended to the valued work of the Scrutiny Board in this area. 
 
The Board welcomed Councillor Dan Cohen to the meeting, as Chair of the 
Scrutiny Board Children and Families, who was in attendance to introduce the 
related Scrutiny Board inquiry report and its recommendations, as included at 
Appendix 2 to the submitted report. In doing so, Councillor Cohen thanked all 
parties who had contributed to the Scrutiny Board inquiry and resultant report. 
Detail was provided on the aims of the inquiry, the areas which the inquiry had 
focussed upon and the range of stakeholders who had engaged in the 
process. The Board’s attention was also drawn to several of the Scrutiny 
Board’s recommendations. Councillor Cohen acknowledged that whilst some 
performance had improved, there was still huge room for improvement. It was 
noted that the Scrutiny Board intended to robustly monitor performance and 
looked forward to significant improvements being made. 
 
Responding to a specific enquiry regarding the commissioning of the review 
work undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), the Board was advised 
of the cost of the work undertaken. In addition, it was noted that PwC had 
been commissioned on the basis that a full review was required, which 
needed an objective view by an organisation with specialist experience. Given 
the detail and scope of the review, it was noted that the Council could not 
have conducted the same level of review internally.  It was emphasised that 
the review had put the Council in a very good position to have a clear plan of 
implementation to realise its absolute commitment to achieve full compliance 
with statutory duties in this area and to ensure that the needs of children and 
families were met.   
 
A Member sought assurance around the approach that would be taken to 
ensure that the current backlog was cleared whilst also delivering 
improvements at pace in order to enable statutory requirements to be met. In 
response, further detail was provided, which included the provision of 
additional resource, together with the cross-Council and multi-agency 
approach being taken to deliver improvements in key areas such as 
digitalisation and the reduction of bureaucracy.  

Page 116



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

 
A concern was raised on the specific proposal to change the operating model 
regarding the provision of ‘Funding for Inclusion’ (FFI).  In response, further 
detail and context was provided on the reasons for the proposed change, its 
aims and how it was part of the Council’s approach to ensuring that statutory 
requirements were met. In this case it was noted that this proposal was to 
ensure that children and young people had access to a statutory assessment 
in relation to SEND. It was highlighted that significant changes had been 
experienced in the sector since the introduction of FFI, which was another 
factor for the proposals. Detail was also provided on the continued 
consultation and engagement with relevant partners; on the number of 
children and young people currently in mainstream schools on FFI packages; 
and the innovative approaches being considered to ensure early intervention 
in relation to children’s needs.    
 
Whilst supportive of the other recommendations, a Member raised further 
concerns on the proposals regarding FFI and suggested that further detail 
was needed prior to a decision being made on this specific element. It was 
also requested that such matters be considered further with the involvement 
of Scrutiny. In response, it was undertaken that officers would provide a 
further briefing to the Member in question in relation to FFI, and it was also 
undertaken that the Executive Member together with officers were happy to 
work with Scrutiny going forward on this matter, and on the wider issue of 
EHCP provision.  
 
In conclusion, it was highlighted that through these proposals, there was no 
suggestion that the Council would be putting less resource into supporting 
those with SEND, but that it would enable the Council to adapt its approach 
so that the significant increase in demand was met. It was also noted that 
where appropriate, representations would continue to be made seeking 
further resource.  
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the proposed changes to be made to the way in which EHCP 

processes are delivered in Leeds, as detailed within the submitted 
report, be agreed; 
 

(b) That the need to ensure that the views and experiences of children, 
young people, parents and carers are captured during the delivery of 
changes and improvements, be endorsed; 
 

(c) That the need to work in partnership with a range of stakeholders, 
especially schools and other specialist settings, to deliver 
improvements to EHCP arrangements across Leeds, be endorsed; 
 

(d) That in accordance with the established arrangements for reporting 
and commenting upon Scrutiny Board Inquiry reports, the concurrent 
Children and Families Scrutiny Board Inquiry report, as presented at 
Appendix 2 to the submitted report, be noted, together with the 
comments made during the Board’s consideration of this Inquiry report. 

Page 117



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

 
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Lamb 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions 
referred to within this minute) 
 

7 Little Owls Nurseries Review  
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which presented the 
findings from the review work undertaken into Little Owls nurseries provision 
to date, together with the associated consultation and engagement responses 
received. The report, in taking such findings into consideration, made a 
number of recommendations to the Board in relation to next steps. 
 
In introducing the report, the Executive Member provided an overview of the 
proposals which were to close 3 of the Little Owls settings, undertake an 
exploration of other options for the future delivery of childcare in a further 12 
settings, and for at least 9 Little Owls settings to remain in operation by the 
Council where most needed. The impact faced by those affected was 
acknowledged, however, the reasons for the proposals were highlighted, with 
reference being made to the significant financial challenges which continued 
to be faced. Details were also provided on the range of factors taken into 
consideration as part of the review.  
 
As part of the proposals, it was highlighted that guaranteed places were 
available for those children currently attending the 3 settings proposed for 
closure at other local Little Owls nurseries. It was also noted that there were 
sufficient vacancies in settings within the service to accommodate affected 
staff.   
 
Responding to a number of enquiries and concerns raised by a Member 
regarding the proposals, further information was provided on the following: 

 The range of consultation and engagement which had been 
undertaken with parents and carers as part of the review; 

 The information which was used to determine the cost per day for a 
place in a Little Owls setting;   

 The actions which had been taken to reduce the overspend position 
during 2023/24; 

 Further information was provided on the context within which the 
proposals were being made and the actions taken to date to reduce 
costs and to maximise efficiency; 

 Responding to an enquiry regarding the alternative options which had 
been considered, the Board received further detail on the methodology 
used during the review that had led to the proposals as presented in 
the report; 

 In responding to a question about the increase in fees that was needed 
to close the current overspend, it was highlighted that the Council 
looked to strike the correct balance to ensure that a sustainable service 
providing value was delivered, and which fulfilled the Council’s 
statutory duties around sufficiency of places, whilst also operating 
within the agreed budgeted position;  

Page 118



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

 It was reiterated that guaranteed places were available for those 
children currently attending the 3 settings proposed for closure at other 
local Little Owls nurseries, with Members receiving an overview of the 
responses received to that offer. 

 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That in general terms, the contents of the submitted report, be noted; 

 
(b) That it be noted that the Council will continue to directly deliver day 

care at the following Little Owls settings: 

 Chapeltown  Harehills  Middleton Laurel Bank 

 New Bewerley  Swarcliffe  Two Willows 

 Little London  Seacroft  Armley Moor 
 

(c) That the consultation and engagement responses in relation to the 
proposal, as detailed within the submitted report and appendices, be 
noted; and having had regard to those, the withdrawal from and/or 
closure of Little Owls Gipton North, Little Owls Chapel Allerton and 
Little Owls Kentmere, be approved; 
 

(d) That following resolution (c) above, where possible and noting ancillary 
use, those buildings be declared surplus to operational requirements 
following the closedown of Little Owls functions; 
 

(e) That the initial consultation and engagement responses in relation to 
the proposal to explore the potential amalgamation of some Little Owls 
settings and to explore potential and viable interest from other 
providers, as detailed within the submitted report and appendices, be 
noted; and that agreement be given to the undertaking of a ‘market 
sounding exercise’ to deliver additional nursery places to replace 
specific Council run settings at the following locations: 

 Shepherds Lane  City & Holbeck  Hunslet Rylestone 

 Meanwood  Parklands  Osmondthorpe 

 St Mary’s Hunslet  Quarry Mount  Rothwell 

 Hawksworth Wood  Bramley  Burley Park 
 
(f) That the subsequent ‘market sounding exercise’ in relation to the 

settings set out in resolution (e) above, be agreed, and that it be noted 
that those ‘market sounding exercises’ will commence immediately; 
 

(g) That it be noted that the Director of Children and Families may take 
further decisions in respect of the settings listed at resolution (e) above 
following the market sounding exercise for the twelve settings 
indicated, which would be as a direct consequence of this decision. 

 
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Lamb 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions 
referred to within this minute) 
 
 

Page 119



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

8 Children Looked After, Sufficiency Strategy  
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report presenting a draft 
Children Looked After Sufficiency Strategy which aimed to set out the 
Council’s approach towards meeting its Sufficiency Duty and the needs of 
children in its care. Further to this, the report noted that detailed three-year 
profiles and implementation plans would sit underneath the strategy and 
would be monitored monthly and updated annually. 
 
In presenting the report, the Executive Member highlighted the importance of 
this service area and the key benefits arising from the delivery of an effective 
sufficiency strategy. It was noted that the voices of children and young people 
with lived experience were highlighted within the strategy. The Council’s 
corporate parent role was also emphasised as a key consideration.  
 
The need for the strategy to deliver the best outcomes for children and young 
people was highlighted, whilst emphasis was also placed upon the key role 
that this service area played in terms of the Council’s management of its 
ongoing financial challenge.   
 
A Member raised an enquiry which sought reassurance that through the 
strategy the Council would deliver the changes which were needed at the 
pace required. In response, the Board received an overview of the aims and 
ambitions of the strategy, and the actions being taken to deliver it. Key 
aspects included the cross-Council approach being undertaken and the 
additional resource from within the directorate being utilised.  
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the proposed Children Looked After Sufficiency Strategy, as 

presented at Appendix 1 to the submitted report, be agreed, and that 
the comments raised by the Board during the consideration of this item, 
be noted; 
 

(b) That it be noted that this strategy document will be subject to regular 
review, and that any significant changes may mean that the Sufficiency 
Strategy is re-presented to Executive Board for endorsement. 

 
9 Update report – Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) on serious youth 

violence in Leeds  
The Director of Children and Families and the Director of Communities, 
Housing and Environment submitted a joint report providing an overview of 
the Joint Targeted Area Inspection (JTAI) undertaken into the response of 
Leeds’ multi-agency partnership of the Local Authority, Police, violence 
reduction partnership and health services to children affected by serious youth 
violence. The report noted that the inspection was undertaken in March 2024, 
with the resulting inspection report published on 16th May 2024. The report 
presented the findings in the published inspection report and the proposals in 
terms of next steps and actions. 
 
In presenting the report, the Executive Member provided an overview of the 
key elements of the inspection. The strengths of the service identified within 

Page 120



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

the inspection report were noted, with the improvements which had been 
made regarding multi-agency relationships being highlighted. However, it was 
emphasised that the Council was not complacent in this area and that an 
action plan was underway to look to further develop and improve the service.  
 
Responding to enquiries, the Board received further detail on the actions 
being taken to address the 3 areas for improvement which had been 
identified.  
 
Regarding the requirement for a plan to be compiled and submitted in 
response to the report’s findings, the Board noted that this was being 
produced in collaboration with key partners. In response to a Member’s 
enquiry regarding the democratic oversight of the plan, it was undertaken that 
the plan could be shared with the Scrutiny Chair when completed, and that 
the Leeds Safeguarding Children Partnership Executive would oversee the 
implementation of the plan, in line with expectations. 
 
Thanks was extended to all those involved in the delivery of support for young 
people in this complex area, including services across the Council and also in 
terms of the key role played by partner organisations. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the contents of the submitted update report, be noted; 

 
(b) That the findings in the published inspection report, as appended to the 

submitted cover report, be noted;   
 

(c) That it be noted that the Children and Families directorate accept the 
findings of the inspection and will address any areas for improvement 
for the Local Authority in partnership with Safer Leeds, as identified by 
the inspection team; 
 

(d) That it be noted that Leeds City Council is the principal authority and 
should prepare a written statement of proposed action responding to 
the findings outlined in the report, which should be a multi-agency 
response involving the individuals and agencies that the inspection 
report is addressed to. That it also be noted that the response should 
set out the actions for the partnership and, when appropriate, individual 
agencies, and that the local safeguarding partners should oversee the 
implementation of the action plan through their local multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements. 

 
10 Children's Transport Policy: Permission to Consult on Proposed 

Changes to Transport Assistance for Post-16 Learners with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)  
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which sought 
approval for the Council to undertake a period of consultation on a range of 
proposals regarding the future provision of transport assistance for post-16 
learners with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND). 
 

Page 121



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

In presenting the report, the Executive Member highlighted that should the 
proposal for consultation be agreed, the intention was to submit a further 
report to the Board in October 2024 presenting the consultation findings and 
any associated proposals. The context and factors which had led to the 
proposal to undertake consultation in relation to this service area were noted, 
and it was highlighted that any changes which were delivered would be 
phased in from September 2025 for new applications. 
 
Concern was raised by a Member regarding the recommendation within the 
report that the decisions from it be exempted from Call In. In response, it was 
highlighted that the proposed consultation was required to be undertaken 
during school term time and that the subsequent report due to be submitted in 
October outlining any proposals to change the service would be eligible for 
Call In. It was also highlighted that due to the level of transformation across 
the directorate, the work which had been undertaken to date on this matter 
and due to the capacity available, it had meant that this was the earliest 
opportunity to submit this report to the Board.  
 
A further concern was raised about the principles of the proposals, and the 
need to ensure that the requirements of young people needed to be prioritised 
ahead of the need to save money. 
 
Members discussed the benefits of independent travel training and the scale 
at which it was being delivered.  
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That in general terms, the contents of the submitted report, be noted; 

 
(b) That the plan for consultation to take place over a four-week period 

starting 24th June 2024 and closing on 21st July 2024 on a range of 
proposals for post-16 SEND transport assistance, be approved; 
 

(c) That it be agreed that the findings from the consultation be used in the 
preparation of a new post-16 SEND transport offer, with it being noted 
that it is currently planned for this to be presented to Executive Board 
for approval in October 2024; 
 

(d) That the resolutions from this report ((a) – (e)) be exempted from the 
Call In process for the reasons as set out in paragraphs 32 – 34 of the 
submitted report; 
 

(e) That it be noted that the officer responsible for the implementation of 
such matters is the Director of Children and Families. 

 
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor A Lamb 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions 
referred to within this minute) 
 
(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a 
decision may be declared as being exempt from the Call In process by the 

Page 122



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

decision taker if it is considered that the matter is urgent and any delay would 
seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the public’s interests. In line with this, the 
resolutions contained within this minute were exempted from the Call In 
process, as per resolution (d) above, and for the reasons as set out within 
sections 32 - 34 of the submitted report and as discussed during the meeting) 
 
LEADER'S PORTFOLIO 
 

11 Celebrating and Commemorating the life of Rob Burrow CBE  
The Chief Executive submitted a report which celebrated and commemorated 
the life of Rob Burrow CBE, who sadly died on 2nd June 2024 after suffering 
from Motor Neurone Disease (MND) since his diagnosis in late 2019. The 
report highlighted how much adoration and recognition had been shown for 
Rob and provided Executive Board with an opportunity to reflect upon his life 
and his achievements. 
 
In presenting the report, the Leader highlighted how the report set out the 
Council’s proposed approach to commemorating the life of Rob Burrow. It was 
noted that in January 2023 both Rob and Kevin Sinfield CBE had been made 
Honorary Freemen of the City of Leeds. This was in recognition of their 
contribution to Leeds in terms of their sporting achievements and also their 
charitable work with the MND Association and their support to the wider MND 
community.  
 
It was undertaken that the Council will work with Rob’s family, Leeds Rhinos 
and MND charities to ensure that a fitting memorial is established for Rob. 
 
Members echoed the comments made, highlighting how Rob transcended the 
world of sport and had a huge impact upon the city of Leeds and beyond. 
Members supported the wish to continue his legacy and commemorate and 
honour Rob, taking into account the wishes of his family.  
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That continued support be given to the celebration and 

commemoration of the life of Rob Burrow CBE and to his contribution 
to rugby league, the ongoing fight against MND and to showing the 
world how to live courageously and illustrating the meaning of true 
friendship; 
 

(b) That the work being undertaken to mark Rob’s life and legacy, be 
supported, via engagement with Leeds Rhinos and Rob Burrow CBE’s 
family in the most appropriate way in order to support Rob’s ambitions, 
which included work to build the Leeds MND Centre and finding a cure 
for MND. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

RESOURCES 
 

12 Financial Health Monitoring 2023/24 - Outturn Financial Year Ended 31st 
March 2024  
The Chief Officer, Financial Services submitted a report which presented an 
update on the financial performance of the Authority against the 2023/24 
Revenue and Capital budgets at the Outturn of the financial year. The report 
also recommended actions in relation to several areas including the flexible 
use of Capital Receipts, the creation of earmarked reserves and injections 
into the Capital Programme. 
 
In presenting the report the Executive Member provided an overview of the 
key points in which a balanced position for 2023/24 was being reported 
through the use of the £17.7m refund from the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority and also through use of part of the Merrion House reserve. It was 
also highlighted that directorates had delivered 77% of savings required, with 
all directorates being thanked for their contribution towards this. 
 
A Member raised enquiries regarding the reasons for the use of £10.25m 
Adults and Health reserves in order for the directorate to achieve a balanced 
budget in 2023/24 and the impact of that upon reserve levels. In response, the 
Board received further information with it being noted that this was due to 
significant increase in demand for specific services, which had now stabilised 
in some areas. Whilst it was acknowledged that this was a challenging 
position, further detail was provided on the actions that continued to be taken 
by the directorate in this area.    
 
In terms of the lessons which had been learned from the experience in Adults 
and Health directorate and whether this could be shared with Children and 
Families directorate, the Board received information regarding the cross-
directorate work which was being undertaken. Further detail was provided on 
the approach being taken in this area across the Council generally and within 
Children and Families directorate specifically.  
 
Responding to an enquiry, the Board received an update on the impact 
regarding the removal of the Maximum Assessed Charge (MAC) cap in 
relation to non-residential Adult Social Care, with Members noting the actions 
which were taken in the preparation and delivery of the policy in order to 
achieve a smooth transition.  
 
In response to an enquiry about the delivery of the strategy in place to 
manage and deliver the Children and Families directorate budget moving 
forward, assurance was provided that robust and appropriate plans were in 
place, together with the cross-Council approach to address the ongoing 
challenges. It was noted that this was however within the context of the 
significant issues being experienced nationally including major challenges 
regarding demand and demography.  
 
 
 

Page 124



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

RESOLVED –  
(a) That it be noted that at Outturn, the Authority’s General Fund revenue 

budget is reporting a balanced position after the application of 
reserves and one off measures; 
 

(b) That it be noted that during the year where an overspend was 
projected, directorates, including the Housing Revenue Account, were 
required to present action plans to mitigate their reported pressures, in 
line with the amended Revenue Principles agreed by Executive Board 
in February 2024, with it also being noted that savings actions 
identified are included within the submitted report; 

 
(c) That it be noted that known inflationary increases, including demand 

and demographic pressures in Social Care, known impacts of the 
rising cost of living, and the agreed 2023/24 pay award, have been 
incorporated into this reported financial position; 

 
(d) That it be noted that that at Outturn the Authority’s Housing Revenue 

Account is reporting a balanced position after a contribution of £0.9m 
to reserves; 

 
(e) That the updated planned use of flexible use of Capital Receipts, be 

approved as follows, following Full Council’s approval of the Strategy 
for the flexible use of Capital Receipts at the February 2023 Budget, 
as set out at paragraph 3.1 in Appendix 1 of the submitted report: 

 £1.52m Voluntary Leaver Scheme costs and flexible retirements; 

 £0.35m Strategy & Resources’ staff supporting transformational 
projects/ work; 

 £0.35m Communities’ staff supporting transformational projects/ 
work in climate change and Community Hubs; 
 

(f) That in accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, 
the creation of earmarked reserves, as detailed at Appendix 5 to the 
submitted report, be approved, and that their release be delegated to 
the Chief Officer, Financial Services; 
 

(g) That in accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, 
approval be given for the following injections into the Capital 
Programme, as detailed at Appendix 6A(iii) to the submitted report: 

 £8,029.4k of 24/25 High Needs Provision Capital Allocation 
(HNPCA) Grant; 

 £7,758.6k of additional funding injections to HRA Schemes; 

 £1,313.5k of external contributions for works on Highways 
schemes; 

 £1,000.0k of additional Highways Grant for the TCF City Centre 
Cycle Network scheme; 

 £110.5k of additional departmental borrowing for the Waste Depot 
scheme; and 

 £2,416.1k of other external contributions; 
 

Page 125



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

(h) That the additional Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme (CRIS) 
allocations to Wards and Community Committees for the period 
October 2023 to March 2024 of £0.2m, be noted; 
 

(i) That it be noted that the Chief Officer, Financial Services is responsible 
for the implementation of such matters following the conclusion of the 
Call In period. 

 
13 Treasury Management Outturn 2023/24  

The Chief Officer, Financial Services submitted a report which presented the 
Council’s Treasury Management position as at the Outturn for the 2023/24 
financial year. 
 
The Executive Member introduced the report, and paid tribute to the officers 
involved in the area of Treasury Management for the outcomes which had 
been achieved. The lower than forecasted borrowing levels were highlighted. 
 
An enquiry was raised which sought further information and context regarding 
the less than forecasted borrowing levels, which were a result of the Council 
being underspent on the Capital Programme. In response, the Board was 
provided with further information in relation to the underspend and noted that 
it was not an intentional strategy but that schemes had slipped into the next 
year, which would be for a range of reasons. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Treasury Management outturn position for 2023/24, 
as presented within the submitted report, be noted; with it also being noted 
that treasury activity has remained within the Treasury Management Strategy 
and Policy framework. 
 
ECONOMY, TRANSPORT AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 
 

14 Leeds Business Improvement District Ballot (2025 - 2030)  
The Director of City Development submitted a report which presented 
proposals regarding the Council’s role in operating the Leeds Business 
Improvement District (LeedsBID) ballot for a third term for the period 2025-
2030.  
 
The Executive Member introduced the report providing an overview of the key 
points and highlighting LeedsBID’s intention to increase the geographical area 
of the BID by extending it south of the river into the South Bank. It was noted 
that this would increase the number of businesses in the BID by 100. Also, an 
update on footfall figures for the city centre was provided. 
 
Clarification was provided that a further report would be submitted to the 
Board in September 2024 regarding LeedsBID’s Business Plan for 2025-2030 
and also in relation to the Council’s vote in the upcoming ballot. 
 
Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with further detail 
on LeedsBID’s consultation with stakeholders regarding the proposed 
geographical expansion of the BID area. 

Page 126



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 24th July, 2024 

 

 
Also, further detail was provided on the work which had been undertaken in 
the city centre by the BID to date, and the positive impact that had been noted 
both in terms of footfall in the city centre and also from an economic 
perspective.    
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That the arrangements for the Council to operate a ballot, as presented 

in the submitted report, and in accordance with the statutory role of the 
Local Authority as set out in the BID regulations 2004, be approved; 
 

(b) That the draft Statement of Services, as presented in Appendix 2 to the 
submitted report, be approved, and in doing so, the Board provides a 
commitment to continue to maintain provision of services within the 
LeedsBID area; 
 

(c) That the proposed Operating Agreement, as presented at Appendix 3 
to the submitted report, be approved; 
 

(d) That the stages and timescales, as outlined within the submitted report, 
which are required to implement the Board’s resolutions, be noted, with 
it also being noted that the Head of City Centre Management is 
responsible for the implementation of such matters; 
 

(e) That it be noted that a further report will be submitted to Executive 
Board in September 2024 containing LeedsBID’s Business Plan for 
2025-2030 and that will provide a recommendation for the Council’s 
vote in the upcoming ballot. That it also be noted that additional 
financial information will be provided at this time; 
 

(f) That LeedsBID’s intention to extend their geographical area into the 
South Bank of the city centre, be noted, with it also being noted that in 
line with BID regulations, this change requires a new ballot to be held 
rather than a renewal ballot. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE OF PUBLICATION:  FRIDAY, 21ST JUNE 2024 
 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN 
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS:  5.00PM, FRIDAY, 28TH JUNE 2024 
 

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes - 17 June 2024
	Minutes

	7 Financial Health Monitoring 2023/24 -  Outturn Financial Year Ended 31 March 2024 and Financial Health Monitoring 2024/25 - Quarter 1
	App 1 Outturn Fin Health Monitoring 2023-24
	FINAL EB Appendix 0 Outturn Financial Health cover report 
	Appendices 1 to 6 Outturn Financial Health report
	Appendix 1 FINAL EB Outturn Financial Health report
	Appendix 2 V2
	00 All Summary Sheet
	01 A&H Dashboard Template
	02 Children and Families Dashboard  
	02b DSG Dashboard 
	03 City Dev Dashboard
	04 CHE Dashboard
	04b HRA Dashboard
	05 Strategy and Resources Directorate Dashboard
	06 Strategic Dashboard

	Appendix 3 Outturn P12 2023-24  Overall BAPS
	Cabinet & Exec Board

	Appendix 4 Q4 Outturn 2023-24 Capital Receipts Flex
	FPG -& Cabinet Reporting

	Appendix 5 FINAL Cabinet RESERVES Outturn statement 23-24
	Appendix 6 23-24 EB Version Outturn Capital Programme Appendices



	8 Integrated Digital Service Update
	9 Being Our Best - Organisation Plan Refresh
	10 Work Programme
	Draft SR Work Programme 24-25 (002)
	App 2 - Printed mins 190624 Exec Board




